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Clerk Item
No.

Proposed By

Assigned To

Summary

109-20

LE

R

RESOLUTION NO.-2020

A RESOLUTION PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF A WARRANT DIRECTING
THE TREASURER OF THE COUNTY OF NASSAU TO PAY THE SUPERVISORS OF
THE SEVERAL TOWNS AND TO THE TREASURERS OF THE SEVERAL VILLAGES
AND CITIES WITHIN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU, THE SUMS AS APPORTIONED BY
THE NASSAU COUNTY LEGISLATURE BASED ON A REPORT FILED BY THE
COUNTY TREASURER AND THE COUNTY CLERK , SHOWING DEPOSITS FROM
MORTGAGE TAXES FOR THE QUARTER BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2020 THROUGH
MARCH 31, 2020; PURSUANT TO THE COUNTY GOVERNMENT LAW OF NASSAU
COUNTY AND THE NASSAU COUNTY ADMISNISTRATIVE CODE. 109-20(LE)

111-20

PW

RESOLUTION NO.-2020

A RESOLUTION MAKING CERTAIN DETERMINATIONS PURSUANT TO THE NEW
YORK STATE ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY REVIEW ACT AND AUTHORIZING
THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE ON BEHALF OF THE COUNTY OF NASSAU TO
EXECUTE A FIRST MODIFICATION OF LEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE
COUNTY OF NASSAU, AS TENANT, AND BC HOLDINGS OF NY, INC. (AS
SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST TO DIALYCEN LLC), AS LANDLORD, IN CONNECTION
WITH THE LEASING OF CERTAIN SPACE LOCATED AT 160 NORTH FRANKLIN
STREET, HEMPSTEAD, NEW YORK 11550, KNOWN AND DESIGNATED AS
SECTION 34, BLOCK 195, LOTS 33-34 ON THE LAND AND TAX MAP OF THE
COUNTY OF NASSAU FROM BC HOLDINGS OF NY, INC. FOR THE COUNTY OF
NASSAU. 111-20(PW)

112-20

PK

RESOLUTION NO.-2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE A
GRANT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF
OF THE DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, RECREATION AND MUSEUMS, AND THE
MUSEUM OF AMERICAN ARMOR. 112-20(PK)

113-20

PK

RESOLUTION NO.-2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE A
GRANT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF
OF THE DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, RECREATION AND MUSEUMS AND THE
FRIENDS OF CEDARMERE, INC. 113-20(PK)

RULES
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114-20

PK

R

RESOLUTION NO.-2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE A
GRANT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF
OF THE DEPARTMENT OF PARKS, RECREATION AND MUSEUMS, AND THE
LONG ISLAND CHILDREN’S MUSEUM. 114-20(PK)

A-3-20

PR

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES TO
AWARD AND EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF
NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF ASSESSMENT AND THE
DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, AND TYLER TECHNOLOGIES,
INC. A-3-20

A-26-20

PR

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES
AWARD AND EXECUTION OF A PURCHASE ORDER BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF
NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY OFFICE OF
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT, AND MILLENNIUM PRODUCTS GROUP, LLC.
A-26-20

E-52-20

HS

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE A
PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU,
ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES, AND THE
CEDARMORE CORPORATION. E-52-20

E-56-20

PD

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE AN
AMENDMENT TO A PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY
OF NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY POLICE
DEPARTMENT, AND CHANGE HEALTHCARE PRACTICE MANAGEMENT
SOLUTIONS, INC (FORMERLY MED3000, INC.) E-56-20

RULES
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E-61-20

PW

R

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE AN
AMENDMENT TO A PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY
OF NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF
PUBLIC WORKS, AND GANNETT FLEMING ENGINEERS AND ARCHITECTS, P.C.
E-61-20

E-63-20

PW

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE A
PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU,
ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC
WORKS AND H2M ARCHITECTS + ENGINEERS, DPC. E-63-20

E-64-20

PW

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE AN
AMENDMENT TO A PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY
OF NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF
PUBLIC WORKS AND NV5 NEW YORK — ENGINEERS, ARCHITECTS, LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECTS AND SURVEYORS. E-64-20

E-65-20

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE AN
AMENDMENT TO A PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY
OF NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION
TECHNOLOGY, AND LIRO GIS AND SURVEY, P.C. E-65-20

E-66-20

PW

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE A
PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU,
ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC
WORKS, AND GREENMAN-PEDERSON, INC. E-66-20

E-67-20

PB

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE A
PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU,
ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY PROBATION DEPARTMENT, AND
NASSAU COUNTY HEALTH CARE CORPORATION. E-67-20

RULES
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Clerk Item
No.

Proposed By

Assigned To

Summary

E-68-20

PB

R

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE A
PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU,
ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE PROBATION DEPARTMENT, AND LEADERSHIP
TRAINING INSTITUTE, INC. (“LTI”). E-68-20

E-69-20

PD

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE A
PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU,
ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY POLICE DEPARTMENT, AND
CHANGE HEALTHCARE TECHNOLOGY ENABLED SERVICES, LLC. E-69-20

THE FOLLOWING ITEMS MAY BE UNTABLED

B-3-20

PW

RESOLUTION NO. 2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO AWARD AND
EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF NASSAU ACTING ON
BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS AND
WELSBACH ELECTRIC CORP. OF L.I. B-3-20

E-35-20

SS

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE AN
AMENDMENT TO A PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY
OF NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF
SOCIAL SERVICES, AND BERKSHIRE FARM CENTER & SERVICES FOR YOUTH
(“BERKSHIRE”). E-35-20

E-53-20

RM

RESOLUTION NO. -2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY EXECUTIVE TO EXECUTE AN
AMENDMENT TO A PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COUNTY
OF NASSAU, ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE NASSAU COUNTY OFFICE OF RISK
MANAGEMENT, AND TRIAD GROUP, LLC. E-53-20

RULES




Nassau County
Office of Purchasing

Staff Summary A-03-2020

Subject: Software Licenses & Support (maintenance) for Date:
the assessment system (RQIT20000002) January 07, 2020
Department: Vendor Name:
Department of Shared Services, Office of Purchasing Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Department Head Name: Contract Number
Melissa Gallucci A-03-2020
ep rtm nt Head Signa Contract Manager Name
m 1 J(‘])()ﬂk %A/(LCC/L Timothy Funargo
Proposed Legislative Action | Internal Approvals
To Date | Approval | Info Other Date & Init, | Approval Date & [nit. | Approval
Assgn Comm Dept. Head B 1. |
Rules Comm _% Budget w#mmn/&’j&- County Atty. |
Full Leg Deputy CE. U /r County Exec.
L2 ‘ﬂd?l/’}w v
Narrative

Purpose: To authorize and award a purchase order for the annual software licenses, support and maintenance of the
assessment IAS/ADAPT system for the Department of Assessment and the Department of Information Technology.

Discussion: This is a sole source purchase. Tyler Technologies, Inc. is the proprietary owner/supplier of this software. This
purchase is necessary to maintain the current technology. This is a maintenance agreement for modules related to tax
billing, collections, delinquent tax, appeals management and EDMS interface. The period of this agreement runs from
January 01, 2020 to December 31, 2020.

g Punding; The maximum amount authorized under this purchase order shall be Six Hundred and Five Thousand
Dollars. ($605,000.00) from general funds

Recommendation; Department of Shared Services, Office of Purchasing recommends an award be given to Tyler
Technologies, Inc. as a sole source for this purchase order,
L s

04/22/2020

INSURANCE APPROVAL:




COUNTY OF NASSAU

INTER - DEPARTMENTAL MEMO

TO: CLERK OF THE COUNTY LEGISLATURE A-03-2020

FRéM: MELISSA GALLUCCT - COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES
DATE:  January 07, 2020

SUBJECT: RESOLUTION- THE DEPARTMENT OF ASSESSMENT AND THE DEPARTMENT OF
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY,

THIS RESOLUTION 18 RECOMMENDED BY THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES TO
AUTHORIZE AN AWARD AND TO EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER IN THE AMOUNT OF SIX
HUNDRED FIVE THOUSAND-DOLLARS ($605,000.) ON BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF
ASSESSMENT AND THE DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY TO TYLER
TECHNOLOGIES, INC. TO PROVIDE FOR ANNUAL SOFTWARE LICENSES, SUPPORT AND
MAINTENANCE OF THE IAS/ADAPT SYSTEM,

THE ABOVE DESCRIBED DOCUMENT ATTACHED HERETO IS FORWARDED FOR YOUR
REVIEW, APPROVAL AND SUBSEQUENT TRANSMITTAL TO THE RULES COMMITTEE

FOR INCLUSION IN ITS AGENDA, )
%EI..ISSA GALLUCCI

COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES

VB: gb
ENCL: (1) STAFF SUMMARY
(2) DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
(3) RESOLUTION
(4) BID SUMMARY
(5) BID PROPOSAL

(6) CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
(7) RECOMMENDATION OF AWARD
(8) POLITICAL CONTRIBUTION FORM




RULES RESOLUTION 2020

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COMMISSIONER OF SHARED SERVICES TO
AWARD AND EXECUTE A PURCHASE ORDER BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF
NASSAU ACTING ON BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF ASSESSMENT AND THE

DEPARTMENT OF INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, AND TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC,

WHEREAB, the Commissioner of Shared Services is representing to the Rules Committee that
the firm, Tyler Technologies, Inc, is a sole source provider and meets all specifications for the product

described in the said contract as determined by the Commissioner of Shared Services.

RESOLVED, that the Rules Committee of the Nassau County Legislature authorizes the
Commissioner of Shared Services, to award and execute the said Purchase Order with Tyler

Technologies, Inc,




COUNTY OF NASSAU
POLITICAL CAMPAIGN CONTRIBUTION DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Has the vendor or any corporate officers of the vendor provided campaign contributions pursuant to the New York
State Election Law in (a) the period beginning Apnl 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or (b), beginning
April 1, 2018, the period beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of this
d:sclosure to the campaign committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign
committees of any candidates for any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County
Clerk, the Comptroller, the District Attorney, or any County Legislator?

YES | | NO [ X ] Ifyes, to what campaign committee?

2. VERIFICATION: This section must be signed by a principal of the consultant, contractor or Vendor authorized as a
signatory of the firm for the purpose of executing Contracts.

The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing statements and they are, to
his/her knowledge, true and accurate,

The unders:aned funher certifies and affirms th_a_ll:;_e contributlon(s] to the campalqn COH’]mItt&_&S identified above were

remuneratlon

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Abigail Diaz [ABIGAIL.DIAZ@TYLERTECH.COM]

Dated: 11/15/2019 09:14:57 AM Vendor: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Title: Chief Legal Officer

Page 1 of 1 Rev. 3-2016




COUNTY OF NASSAU
LOBBYIST REGISTRATION AND DISCLOSURE FORM

1. Name, address and telephone number of lobbyist(s)/lobbying organization. The term "lobbyist” means any and every
person or organization retained, employed or designated by any client to influence - or promote a matter before -
Nassau County, its agencies, boards, commissions, department heads, legislators or committees, including but not
limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee and Planning Commission. Such matters include, but are not
limited to, requests for proposals, development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation,
procurements. The term "lobbyist" does not include any officer, director, trustee, employee, counsel or agent of the
County of Nassau, or State of New York, when discharging his or her official duties.

James F. Capalino & Associates, Inc.
233 Broadway, Suite 710

New York, NY 10279

212-616-5810

2. List whether and where the personforganization is registered as a lobbyist (e.g., Nassau County, New York State):

| Registered with New York State Joint Commission on Public Ethics and New York City Office of the City Clerk |

3. Name, address and telephone number of client(s) by whom, or on whose behalf, the lobbyist is retained, employed
or designated:

Tyler Technologies, Inc.
5101 Tennyson Parkway
Plano, TX 75024
800-772-2260 x4642

4. Describe lobbying activity conducted, or to be conducted, in Nassau County, and identify client(s) for each activity
listed. See the last page for a complete description of lobbying activities.

Tyler Technologies' Courts & Justice and Data & Insights divisions and developing relationships with government

Representation of Tyler Technologies in connection with achieving an innovative technology solutions portfolio with
agencies listed on Question 5 bselow.

5. The name of persons, organizations or governmental entities before whom the lobbyist expects to lobby:

New York State Unified Court System
New York City Office of the Comptroller
New York City Department of Information Technology & Telecommunications

Page 1 of 3 Rev. 3-2016




New York State Office of General Services
New York State Office of Technology

6. If such lobbyist is retained or employed pursuant to a written agreement of retainer or employment, you must attach
a copy of such document; and if agreement of retainer or employment is oral, attach a written statement of the
substance thereof. If the written agreement of retainer or employment does not contain a signed authorization from the
client by whom you have been authorized to lobby. separately attach such a written authorization from the client.

2 File(s) Attached

7. Has the lobbyist/lobbying organization or any of its corporate officers provided campaign contributions pursuant to
the New York State Election Law in (a) the period beginnirig April 1, 2016 and ending on the date of this disclosure, or
(b), beginning April 1, 2018, the period beginning two years prior to the date of this disclosure and ending on the date of
this disclosure, to the campaign committees of any of the following Nassau County elected officials or to the campaign
committees of any candidates for any of the following Nassau County elected offices: the County Executive, the County
Clerk, the Comptroller, the District Attorney, or any County Legislator?

YES | | NO [ X | Ifyes, to what campaign committee? If none, you must so state:

[ i _

I understand that copies of this form will be sent to the Nassau County Department of Information Technology ("IT") to
be posted on the County's website.

I also understand that upon termination of retainer, employment or designation | must give written notice to the County
Attorney within thirty (30) days of termination.

VERIFICATION: The undersigned affirms and so swears that he/she has read and understood the foregoing
statements and they are, to his/her knowledge, true and accurate.

The undersigned further certifies and affirms that the contribution(s) to the campaign committees listed above were
made freely and without duress. threat or any promise of a governmental benefit or in exchange for any benefit or
remuneration.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
_Abigail Diaz [ABIGAIL.DIAZ@TYLERTECH.COM]

Dated: 11/18/2019 10:11:18 AM Vendor: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Title: Chief Legal Officer

Page 2 of 3 Rev. 3-2016




The term lobbying shall mean any attempt to influence: any determination made by the Nassau County Legislature,
or any member thereof, with respect to the introduction, passage, defeat, or substance of any local legislation or
resolution; any determination by the County Executive to support, oppose, approve or disapprove any local legislation
or resolution, whether or not such legislation has been introduced in the County Legislature; any determination by an
elected County official or an officer or employee of the County with respect to the procurement of goods, services or
construction, including the preparation of contract specifications, including by not limited to the preparation of requests
for proposals, or solicitation, award or administration of a contract or with respect to the solicitation, award or
administration of a grant, loan, or agreement involving the disbursement of public monies; any determination made by
the County Executive, County Legislature, or by the County of Nassau, its agencies, boards, commissions department
heads or committees, including but not limited to the Open Space and Parks Advisory Committee, the Planning
Commission with respect to the zoning, use, development or improvement of real property subject to County regulation,
or any agencies, boards, commissions, department heads or committees with respect to requests for proposals,
bidding, procurement or contracting for services for the County; any determination made by an elected county official or
an officer or employee of the county with respect to the terms of the acquisition or disposition by the county of any
interest in real property, with respect to a license or permit for the use of real property of or by the county, or with
respect to a franchise, concession or revocable consent; the proposal, adoption, amendment or rejection by an agency
of any rule having the force and effect of law; the decision to hold, timing or outcome of any rate making proceeding
before an agency; the agenda or any determination of a board or commission; any determination regarding the
calendaring or scope of any legislature oversight hearing; the issuance, repeal, modification or substance of a County
Executive Order; or any determination made by an elected county official or an officer or employee of the county to
support or oppose any state or federal legislation, rule or regulation, including any determination made to support or
oppose that is contingent on any amendment of such legislation, rule or regulation, whether or not such legislation has
been formally introduced and whether or not such rule or regulation has been formally proposed.

The term "lobbying" or "lobbying activities” does not include: Persons engaged in drafting legislation, rules,
regulations or rates; persons advising clients and rendering opinions on proposed legislation, rules, regulations or rates,
where such professional services are not otherwise connected with legislative or executive action on such legisiation or
administrative action on such rules, regulations or rates; newspapers and other periodicals and radio and television
stations and owners and employees thereof, provided that their activities in connection with proposed legislation, rules,
regulations or rates are limited to the publication or broadcast of news items, editorials or other comment, or paid
advertisements; persons who participate as witnesses. attorneys or other representatives in public rule-making or rate-
making proceedings of a County agency, with respect to all participation by such persons which is part of the public
record thereof and all preparation by such persons for such participation; persons who attempt to influence a County
agency in an adjudicatory proceeding, as defined by § 102 of the New York State Administrative Procedure Act.

Page 3 of 3 Rev. 3-2016
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Capalino+Company

Governnent & Coniminity Relations Strategists

:2018 RETAINER AGREEMENT.

November 16, 2018

Erlc Cullinson

Tyler Technologies Inc.
5101 Tennyson Parkway.
Plano, TX 75024

Re: Government Relations/Lobbying Retainer Agreement; Tyler Technologies Inc.

Dear Mr. Cullinson:

Thie letter, when signed and returned to us (the "Agreement"), will serve as the retainer for James
F. Capalino & Associates, Inc. aka Capalino+Company (the “Consultant™) to represent Tyler
Technologies Inc. (the “Client") in connection with assisting the Client in achieving an innovative
technology solutions portfalio with the Client's product ‘Courts and Justice and Data and Insights’
and developing relationships with the govermment agencies and officials listed below.

Our finn's engagement under the Agreement includes representation before the New York State
Unifled Court System, the New York City Office of the Comptroller, the New York City Department
of Information Technology and Telecommuniostions, the New York Slate Office of General
Services and the New York State Office of Technology.

Services. Specifically, the Consultant will assist the Client with government and community
relations related to the above. The Consultant shall not engage in any business development or
other services without the advance written consent of Client. Should the services expand beyond
the scope of this Agreement, a separate agreement may he required and/or the fee may be
adjusted to he commensurate with the expanded scope.

Temm. The term of the Agreement shall commence on November 19, 2018 and continue through
December 31, 2019. The term of the Agreement may be mutually extended, in writing, through
the agreement of the parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Agreement may be terminaled
by either party upon five (5) days written notice to the other party.

Compensation. As compensation for its services the Consultant will receive a monthly retainer of
Seven Thousand Dollars ($7,000.00), ces will not commence unlil the first month’s grorate
retainer of Two Thousand Eiaht Hundred Dollars ($2,800.00) is. received. Subsequently, the
Consultant will submit a monthly invoice for its services to the Client and payment is due by the
1™ of each month. Regardless of the termination date, the minlmum compensation due for the
Agreement Is Twenty One Thousand Dollars ($21,000.00). In addition, the Client shall reimburse
the Consultant for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses Incurred by the Consultant in
connection with the provision of the services, including without limitation, all lobbying registration
fees, long distance telephone, facsimile, messenger, photocopying, travel, postage and other
reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses; provided, however that all expenditures In excess
of $200 must be approved in writing and in advance by Client. Such disbursements.will be billed
by the Consultant, at cost, on a monthly basls.

Legal Fees. Should it become appropriate, ‘either during or after the term of thls Agreement, for
the Consultant to engage the services of any attomey to represent its interest, for collection of
fees due pursuant to this Agreement or responding to Inquiries from governmental agencles to the

Client, or subpoenas or other judiclal process or proceedings, relating to thegervices hereunder, \ﬁbjﬁ ?,_&u/\
the Client shall, upon demand, reimburse Cansuitant for any such raasonablgcﬁm n X
% BN K P

oFF panteit

The Wealworth Building « 233 Broadway, Suite 710 v New York, NY 10279 » T: 212.616,5810 » F: 212,618.5830 « www.capaling,com
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Capalino+Company

Government & Comununity Relations Strategists

Acknowledgments. The Cllent acknowledges that the Consultant has not made any
representations conceming the potential success or fallure of the matiers to be undertaken by the
Consultant on the Client’s behalf.

The Client acknowledges and agrees that it will comply with all fedsral, state and locai‘law in its
daalings with the. Consultant and-the Censultant’s employees, including but not limited to laws
regarding harassment and discrimination, and that the failure fo comply with such laws may also
be grounds for Iinmediate termination of the Consultant's relationship with the Client. The
Consultant, in performing services hereunder, shall comply with all applicable laws, including but
not limited to all State and local ordinances pertaining to labbyist registration and ethics. The
Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold Client hammless from any thirdparty claims arising
out of or relating to the Constitant's breach of its obligations under this paragraph.

Proprietary Information. Any proprietary information regarding, but not limited to, both parties’
services and products will remain canfidential unless otherwise agread to by the Client and the
Consultant in writing. Consultant acknowledges that certain of Client's valuable, confidentia) and
proprietary information may aome into its possesslon. Accordingly, Consuitant agrees that all such
information fumished will remain the exciusive properly of Client, and Consultant agrees to hold
all information it oblains from or about Client in strictest confidence. Consultant also will not
communicate Client's information in any form to any third party without Client's prior written
consent. Without limiting the foregoing, the parties agree that the Confidentiality and Non-
Disclosure Agreemerit {the "NDA"} execuited by the parties is Incorporeted hersin by reference,

Entire Agreement; Modification. The Agreement completely and exclusively states the agreament
of the parties regarding its subject matter. it supersedes, and its terms govem, all prior proposals,
agreements or other communications between the parties, oral or written, regarding such subject
matter. The Agreement may be amended only by a written instrument signed by each of the parties
hereto.

Counterparts. The Agreement may be executed in counterparts, conveyed electronically or by
facsimile, each of which will be an original copy of the Agreement, with the same effect as if the
original signatures were upon the same instrument.

Lobbying Requirements. Pursuant to the requirements of the Naw York City Administrative Code,
information regarding our engagement under the Agreement, and a copy of the Agreement Hself,
will be registered with the Lobbying Bureau of the Office of the City Clerk of the City of New York
(the *Lobbying Bureau”).

in order for the Consuitant to begin lobbying on the Client's behalf, the Client is required to enroll
in the e-Lobbyist systemn of the Lobbying Bureau. Enroliment should be completed by the Client
within § days of the start dale above In order for the Cansultant to register the Client within the
timefrarne allowed by law. If the Consultant is unable to register the Client on time due to the
Client's late-anroliment, any late fees [ncurred by the Consultant will be reimbursed by the Cllent.
The Lobbying Bureau imposes a fine of $25 per day for each day the registration Is late,

As a registered [obbying cllent, the Client is required to file an Annual Report with the Lobbying
Bureau. The Annual Report must be filed on-line by January 15th for the previous year. The
Client's failure to comply with the New York City lobbying requirements will result in fines that are
the responsibility of the Client.

Addltionally; the Client may be registered as lobbylng cllent with the New York State Joint
Commisslon on Public Ethics. If so, the Client will be required to file semi-annual reports to the
State which must be submitted by July 15th of the current year for the January ta June period
AND by the 15th day of January for the previous year's July to December period. Failure to comply

The Woolworth Building - 233 Broadway, Sulte 710 » New Yark, NY 10278 « T: 212,618.5810 + F: 212.616.5330 + www.capaling. exm




W -
Capalino+Company
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with the New York State Joint Commission on Public Ethics' lobbying requirements will result in

fines that are the responsibility of the Client. The Consultant will give the Client all the information
necessary in order to comply-with the lobbying dlient requirements in a timely fashion.

If you ars in agreement with the above terms and conditions for the provision of the services,
please sign In the space below whereupon the Agreement shall becorme binding.

Sincerely,
James F. Capalino & Associates inc. _Tgter Technologies Inc.
By \""" I — - By: W?W
gﬁ:‘fsg:e"r:ﬂng Officer Name: A’b‘/’ %L-m%
Title: &QW&C! gsﬂ ﬁ%
Date: “/l“[l? : Date: !(_f( 7 {305

The Woolworth Building = 233 Broadway, Sulte 710 « ‘New York, NY 10278 » T: 212.616.6810 » F: 212.616.5830 + www.capalino.com
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New York State Joint Commission on Public Ethics
540 Broadway
Albany, NY 12207

New York City Office of the City Clerk
Labbying Bureau

141 Worth Street
New York, NY 10013

Please be advised that the Agreement between James F. Capalino & Associates, Inc. and Tyler
Technologies Inc. dated November 16, 2018 has been amended as follows:

The Client name listed on the retainer is amended from “Tyler Technologies Inc.” to
*Tyler Technologles, Inc”

All other terms of the Agreement remain in full force and effect,

Sincerely,

' James F. Capalino & Associates, Inc, Tvler Technologies. Inc.

By: _ J""—"—_ E:;:‘—‘--_---‘b——‘~ By: ﬂ“"'{—v( Fasrird .
'ér':;;sg:ergﬁng Officer Name: _ M 2a. L. r‘??ave/-!‘
Tite: _Oir e edor of Lefa.( At s
Date: ”]} 25’” ¢F Date: ___[( (ﬂ? 5{ {8

The Wonlworth Building » 233 Broadway, Suite 710 * New York, NY 10279 * T: 212,616.5810 « F; 212.616.5830 » www.capalino,com




PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent
(10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to
answer any question, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the
qQuestionnaire.

COMPLETE THI T RE CAREFULLY AND COMPLETELY. FAILURE TO SUBMIT A COMPLETE

QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE
IT WILL NO ED FOR AWAR

1. Principal Name: H. Lynn Moore, Jr.

Date of birth: 09/20/1967
Home address: 5634 Purdue Avenue

City: Dalias State/Province/Territory: TX Zip/Postal Code: 75209
Country: us

Business Address: 5101 Tennyson Parkway

City: Plano State/Province/Territory: _TX Zip/Postal Code: 75024
Country us -

Telephone: (972) 713-3770

Other present address(es):
City:
Country:
Telephone:

~___ State/Province/Territory: Zip/Postal Code:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each {check all applicable)
President 01/01/2017 Treasurer
Chairman of Board Shareholder
Chief Exec. Officer 05/09/2018 Secretary 10/01/2000
Chief Financial Officer Partner
Vice President 10/01/2000
(Other)
Type Description Start Date
Other Executive Vice President 02/01/2008
Other General Counsel 09/01/1998
3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES ] X | NO | If Yes, provide details.
I_H. Lynn Moore, Jr. holds less than a 10% interest. Piease see attached document. —[

1 File{s) Uploaded:

4, Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of
contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES | |NO [ X ]Iers, provide details.
I
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5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization
other than the one submitting the questionnaire?

YES [ |NO [ X ] If Yes, provide details.
| .

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past
3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES | |NO [ X ]I Yes, provide details.

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arcse automatically, by operation of law, or as a
result of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you
need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5
in which you have been a principal owner or officer:
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES :’ NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any cantract, and/or had any contracts
cancelled for cause?
YES [ | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

C. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES :I NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

[

d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business'’s abillity to bid or propose on
contract?

YES | | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.
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8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or
been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?
YES | | NO X | If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to
all questions check "Yes". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and aftached it to the
questionnaire.)

9.
a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES | |NO | X |lIfyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
L
b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES | NO | X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
I
C. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES Iil NO [ X ] Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
[ o
d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime,
an element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of
business? Y
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.

f. In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related
to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed
in response to Question 57

YES [ INO [ X ]Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

- |

In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or arganization listed in response

to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES 1 NO | X | Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional
license held?

YES | NO ] X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

|

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES [ NO [ X ] Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

]

Page 4 of 5 Rev. 3-2016
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I, | H. Lynn Moore, Jr. _ | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

I, fH. Lynn Moore, Jr. | , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circurnstances occurring
after the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and helief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional
inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
H. Lynn Moore, Jr. [LYNN.MOORE@TYLERTECH.COM]

President and CEO

Title

11/14/2019 09:37:40 AM

"Date

Page 50of 5 Rev. 3-2016
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RINCIPAL QUESTIONN

| RM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent
(10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to
answer any question, make as many photocapies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the

questionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS IRE CAREFULLY AND PLET ITA
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE
AND IT WILL NOT EDF
1. Principal Name: John S, Marr, Jr.
Date of birth: 03/07/1960 -
Home address: 5 Orchard Lane
City: Falmouth State/Province/Territory: _ME Zip/Postal Code: 04105 ]
Country: us o
Business Address: One Tyler Drive
City: Yarmouth State/Province/Territory: ME Zip/Postal Code: 04096
Country us

Telephone: _(207) 772-2260

Other present address(es):

City:

Country;

State/Province/Territory:

Zip/Postal Code:

Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2, Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)
President 07/01/2004 Treasurer
Chairman of Board 01/01/2017 Shareholder
Chief Exec. Officer 07/01/2004 Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Partner
Vice President
(Other)
Type Description Start Date
Other Chief Operating Officer 07/01/2003
Other Executive Chairman of the Board 05/09/2018
Other President of Munis 01/01/1994
Other Director, Board of Directors 05/01/2002
3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES [ X |NO | |

If Yes, provide details.

John Marr Jr. owns less than a 10% interest. Only 1.79% of Tyler Technologies Inc.'s shares are held by
| insiders. Please see attached document.

1 File(s) Uploaded:

| X |Iers, provide details.

Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of
contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES | | NO
L

Page 1 of 5
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5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization
other than the one submitting the questionnaire?

YES [ X |NO | If Yes, provide details.
Handy Boat (Boat Yard and Restaurant)

215 Foreside Road

Falmouth, ME 04105

Co-Owner with wife, Rebecca Marr

b. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past
3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES | | NO [X ] If Yes, provide details.
I — | |

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a
result of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you
need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past (5} years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5
in which you have been a principal owner or officer;
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

C — ]

b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, andfor had any contracts
cancelled for cause?
YES |:] NO | X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

| — |

C. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES | | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.
I |
d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business's ability to bid or propose on
contract?
YES [:] NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
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8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or
been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?
YES | ] NO | | If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to
all questions check "Yes If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the
questionnaire.)

9.
a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
Yyes [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
_taken.
[ I
b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
! . o |
c. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES |—_y—| NO [ X | Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken. o
I ]
d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime,
an element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of
business? Y
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
L |
e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
[ ]
f. In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you
been the subject of a criminal investigaticn and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related
to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed
in response to Question 57

YES | |NO [ X ] Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

J

In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response

to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES | | NO X If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

—

In the past 6 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional
license held?

YES [ |NO [ X | Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.
[

—

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicabie federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not [imited to water and sewer charges?
YES | | NO ]_ X [ If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

|

Page 4 of 5 Rev. 3-2016
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I, | John S. Marr, Jr. ) | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

I, [ John S. Marr, Jr. ] , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring
after the submission of this form, and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional
inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Name of submitting business

Electronically sighed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
John S. Marr, Jr. [JOHN.MARRJR@TYLERTECH.COM|

Executive Chairman of the Board

Title

11/26/2019 11:49:07 AM

Date
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PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent
(10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to
answer any gquestion, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the
guestionnaire.

PLETE THIS QUESTIONNAIRE CAREFULL Y T MI OMPLETE
T AIRE MAY MEAN T POSAL WI i N-RE
I N DF R

1. Principal Name: _Mark Hawkins o

Date of birth: 07/23/1975
Home address: 2125 Stags Leap

City: Celina State/Province/Territory: TX___ Zip/Postal Code: 75009
Country: us e

Business Address: 5101 Tennyson Parkway B

City: Plano State/Province/Territory: TX Zip/Postal Code: 75024
Country Us

Telephone: (972) 713-3770

Other present address(es):

City: State/Pravince/Territory: Zip/Postal Code:
Country:
Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)
President Treasurer
Chairman of Board Shareholder
Chief Exec. Officer ____ Secretary
Chief Financial Officer o _ Partner o B
Vice President
(Other)
[Type Descripon Start Date
Other Senior Vice President of Operations, Appraisal | 08/01/2015
& Tax Division
Other President, Appraisal & Tax Division 02/18/2019 |
3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES [ X |NO 1 If Yes, provide details.
Mark Hawkins owns less than a 10% interest. Only 1.79% of Tyler Technologies, Inc.'s shares are held by
insiders. Please see attached document.

1 File(s) Uploaded:

4, Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of
contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES | |NO [ X ] If Yes, provide details.

I |
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5. Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization
other than the one submitting the questionnaire?

I_YES [ NO [ X |IfYes, provide details.

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past
3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES | ] NO [ X ] IfYes, provide details. ) -
| |

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a
result of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you
need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5
in which you have been a principal owner or officer:
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES [ ] NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
| _ |
b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts

cancelled for cause?
YES | | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

C. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards?
YES [ |NO [ X ] ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.
I ]
d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business's ability to bid or propose on
contract?
YES [ |NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and carrective action
taken.
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8. Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or
been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?
YES [ |NO [ X ] If'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to
all questions check "Yes". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the
questionnaire.)

9.
a. Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES NO ] X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
I
b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
[ . _
c. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES | NO | X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
I R
d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime,
an element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of
business? Y _
YES | NO [ X_] If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
e. In the past § years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES | | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
I
f. In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

[ -
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10,

1.

12.

13.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related
to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed
in response to Question 57

YES ] | NO | X | Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In addition to the information provided, in the past 5 years has any business or organization listed in response

to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation and/or any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES [ | NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

]

In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional
license held?

YES | | NO | X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

.

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES | |NO [ X | Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

I
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[, [ Mark Hawkins | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

1, | Mark Hawkins ] , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring
after the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional
inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Mark Hawkins [MARK.HAWKINS@TYLERTECH.COM]

President, Appraisal & Tax Division

Title

11/25/2019 03:10:52 PM

Date
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PRINCIPAL QUESTIONNAIRE FORM

All questions on these questionnaires must be answered by all officers and any individuals who hold a ten percent
(10%) or greater ownership interest in the proposer. Answers typewritten or printed in ink. If you need more space to
answer any question, make as many photocopies of the appropriate page(s) as necessary and attach them to the
questionnaire.

COMPLETE THIS QUEST! LY AND COMPLETELY. FAI AC
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY MEAN THAT YOUR BID OR PROPOSAL WILL BE REJECTED AS NON-RESPONSIVE
AND IT W B D RD

1. Principal Name: Bryan Proctor

Date of birth: 05/17/1976

Home address: 1021 Marywood Drive

City: Royal Qak State/Province/Territory: Ml Zip/Postal Code: 48067
Country: us

Business Address: 840 West Long Lake Road _ )
City: _Troy State/Province/Territory: MI Zip/Postal Code: 48098

Country uUsS

Telephone: 2482691000

Other present address(es).
City: State/Province/Territory: Zip/Postal Code:
Country:

Telephone:

List of other addresses and telephone numbers attached

2. Positions held in submitting business and starting date of each (check all applicable)
President Treasurer
Chairman of Board Shareholder
Chief Exec. Officer Secretary
Chief Financial Officer Partner
Vice President o
(Other)
Type Description Start Date
Other President, Public Safety Division 09/09/2019

3. Do you have an equity interest in the business submitting the questionnaire?
YES | X | NO If Yes, provide details.

Bryan Proctor owns less than a 10% interest. Only 1.79% of Tyler Technologies, Inc.'s shares are held by
insiders. Please see attached document.

1 File(s) Uploaded:

4, Are there any outstanding loans, guarantees or any other form of security or lease or any other type of
contribution made in whole or in part between you and the business submitting the questionnaire?

YES | | NO [ X | If Yes, provide details.
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5, Within the past 3 years, have you been a principal owner or officer of any business or notfor-profit organization
other than the one submitting the questionnaire?

YES | | NO [ X | If Yes, provide details.

6. Has any governmental entity awarded any contracts to a business or organization listed in Section 5 in the past
3 years while you were a principal owner or officer?

YES | |NO I X If Yes, provide details.
I _ |

NOTE: An affirmative answer is required below whether the sanction arose automatically, by operation of law, or as a
result of any action taken by a government agency. Provide a detailed response to all questions checked "YES". If you
need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the questionnaire.

7. In the past (5) years, have you and/or any affiliated businesses or not-for-profit organizations listed in Section 5
in which you have been a principal owner or officer:
a. Been debarred by any government agency from entering into contracts with that agency?
YES |:] NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken,
I |
b. Been declared in default and/or terminated for cause on any contract, and/or had any contracts

cancelled for cause?
YES [ |NO [ X | Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.

C. Been denied the award of a contract and/or the opportunity to bid on a contract, including, but not
limited to, failure to meet pre-qualification standards?

YES [:l NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action

taken.
I |
d. Been suspended by any government agency from entering into any contract with it; and/or is any action
pending that could formally debar or otherwise affect such business's ability to bid or propose on
contract?
YES [ | NO [ X ] Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken,

[ ] 1]
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8.

Have any of the businesses or organizations listed in response to Question 5 filed a bankruptcy petition and/or
been the subject of involuntary bankruptcy proceedings during the past 7 years, and/or for any portion of the
last 7 year period, been in a state of bankruptcy as a result of bankruptcy proceedings initiated more than 7
years ago and/or is any such business now the subject of any pending bankruptcy proceedings, whenever
initiated?

YES [ _|NO If 'Yes', provide details for each such instance. (Provide a detailed response to
all questions check "Yes". If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attached it to the

uestionnaire.) I
_guestionnal |

a, Is there any felony charge pending against you?
YES NO | X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
| |
b. Is there any misdemeanor charge pending against you?
YES NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken. , o
L I _ |
c. Is there any administrative charge pending against you?
YES NO | X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken. )
L |
d. In the past 10 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony, or of any other crime,
an element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of
business? Y
YES | | NO | X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
|
e. In the past 5 years, have you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES | NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken. .
I |
f. In the past 5 years, have you been found in violation of any administrative or statutory charges?
YES | NO If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action
taken.
[ J
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10.

11.

12.

13.

In addition to the information provided in response to the previous questions, in the past 5 years, have you
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency and/or the subject of an investigation where such investigation was related
to activities performed at, for, or on behalf of the submitting business entity and/or an affiliated business listed
in response to Question 5?

YES | | NO X__| If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

[ , . ]

In addition to the information provided, in the past § years has any business or crganization listed in response

to Question 5, been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation andfor any other
type of investigation by any government agency, including but not [imited to federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies while you were a principa! owner or officer?

YES | | NO X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

In the past 5 years, have you or this business, or any other affiliated business listed in response to Question 5
had any sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional
license held?

YES [ |NO [ X ]Ifyes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

l -

For the past 5 tax years, have you failed to file any required tax returns or fatled to pay any applicable federal,
state or local taxes or other assessed charges, inciuding but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES [ | NO [ X | If yes, provide an explanation of the circumstances and corrective action taken.

I 1
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I, [ Bryan Proctor - | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities non-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

, { Bryan Proctor | , hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances occurring
after the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge,
information and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional
inducement to enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Tyler Technologies, Inc.

" Name of submitting business

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:

Bryan Proctor [BRYAN.PROCTOR@TYLERTECH.COM]

President, Public Safety Division

Title

11/21/2018 09:18:15 AM

Date
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Business History Form

The contract shall be awarded to the responsible proposer who, at the discretion of the County, taking into
consideration the reliability of the proposer and the capacity of the proposer to perform the services required by the
County, offers the best value to the County and who will best promote the public interest.

In addition to the submission of proposals, each proposer shall complete and submit this questionnaire. The
questionnaire shall be filled out by the owner of a sole proprietorship or by an authorized representative of the firm,
corporation or partnership submitting the Proposal,

NOTE: All questions require a response, even if response is "none" or "not-applicable.” No blanks.

(USE ADDITIONAL SHEETS IF NECESSARY TO FULLY ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS).

Date: 11/15/2019
1) Proposer's Legal Name: _Tyler Technologies, Inc. -
2) Address of Place of Business: 5101 Tennyson Parkway
City: Plano State/Province/Territory: TX  Zip/Postal Code: 75024
Country: - - o .

3) Mailing Address (if different).

City: State/Province/Territory: _____ Zip/Postal Code: -
Country:

Phone: - o -

Does the business own or rent its facilities? Own if other, please provide details:

4) Dun and Bradstreet number: 041089293

5) Federal I.D. Number: 752303920

6) The proposeris a: _Corporation (Describe)

7) Does this business share office space, staff, or equipment expenses with any other business?
YES | | NO [ X | K yes, please provide details:

8) Does this business control one or more other businesses?
YES | X [NO | | If yes, please provide details:
rTerr Technologies A&T Services, LLC (Delaware LLC) - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Socrata, Inc. - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Micropact Holdings, Inc. - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Tyler Technologies Australia PTY LTD - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Tyler Foundation - non-profit charitable organization funded by Tyler Technologies, Inc.
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9) Does this business have one or more affiliates, and/or is it a subsidiary of, or controlled by, any other business?
YES | X |NO | | If yes, please provide detalls:

Tyler Technologies A&T Services, LLC (Delaware LLC) - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.
Socrata, Inc. - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Micropact Holdings, Inc. - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Technologies Australia PTY LTD - wholly owned subsidiary of Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Foundation - non-profit charitable organization funded by Tyler Technologies, Inc.

10) Has the proposer ever had a bond or surety cancelled or forfeited, or a contract with Nassau County or any
other government entity terminated?
YES | X | NO | | If yes, state the name of bonding agency, (if a bond), date, amount of bond
and reason for such cancellation or forfeiture: or details regarding the termination (if a contract).

| Please see attached file titled Tyler Technologies Terminations.

1 File(s) Uploaded:

11) Has fhe proposer, during the past seven years, been declared bankrupt?
YES | INO [ X ]ifyes, state date, court jurisdiction, amount of liabilities and amount of assets

12)  In the past five years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business,
been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or local
prosecuting or investigative agency? And/or, in the past 5 years, have any owner and/or officer of any affiliated
business been the subject of a criminal investigation and/or a civil anti-trust investigation by any federal, state or
local prosecuting or investigative agency, where such investigation was related to activities performed at, for, or
on behalf of an affiliated business.

YES | NO | X | Ifyes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

13) Inthe past 5 years, has this business and/or any of its owners and/or officers and/or any affiliated business
been the subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and
local regulatory agencies? And/or, in the past 5 years, has any owner and/or officer of an affiliated business
been the subject of an investigation by any government agency, including but not limited to federal, state and
local regulatory agencies, for matters pertaining to that individual’s position at or relationship to an affiliated
business.

YES | NO X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

14}  Has any current or former director, owner or officer or managerial employee of this business had, either before
or during such person's employment, or since such employment if the charges pertained to events that
allegedly occurred during the time of employment by the submitting business, and allegedly related to the
conduct of that business:

a) Any felony charge pending?
YES | | NO | X | Ifyes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.
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b) Any misdemeanor charge pending?
YES | NO | X | Ifyes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

¢) In the past 10 years, you been convicted, after trial or by plea, of any felony andfor any other crime, an
element of which relates to truthfulness or the underlying facts of which related to the conduct of business?
YES | | NO [ X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

d) In the past 5 years, been convicted, after trial or by plea, of a misdemeanor?
YES NO | X | Ifyes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

e) In the past 5 years, been found in violation of any administrative, statutory, or regulatory provisions?
YES NO [ X | Ifyes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

J

15) In the past (5) years, has this business or any of its owners or officers, or any other affiliated business had any
sanction imposed as a result of judicial or administrative proceedings with respect to any professional license
held?

YES NO [ X | If yes, provide details for each such investigation, an explanation of the
circumstances and corrective action taken.

16) For the past (5) tax years, has this business failed tc file any required tax returns or failed to pay any applicable
federal, state or local taxes or other assessed charges, including but not limited to water and sewer charges?
YES | | NO | X | Ifyes, provide details for each such year. Provide a detailed response to all
questions checked YES'. If you need more space, photocopy the appropriate page and attach it to the
questionnaire.

17  Conflict of Interest:
a) Please disclose any conflicts of interest as outlined below. NOTE: If no conflicts exist, please expressly
state "No conflict exists."
(i) Any material financial retationships that your firm or any firm employee has that may create a conflict
of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.

| No conflict exists.

(i) Any family relationship that any employee of your firm has with any County public servant that may
create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau
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County,
| No conflict exists.

(iii} Any other matter that your firm belleves may create a conflict of interest or the appearance of a
conflict of interest in acting on behalf of Nassau County.
| No conflict exists. |

b) Please describe any procedures your firm has, or would adopt, to assure the County that a conflict of
interest would not exist for your firm in the future.
[ Please see attached Tyler Technologies' Code of Business Canduct and Ethics.

1 File(s} Uploaded:

A. include a resume or detailed description of the Proposer's professional qualifications, demonstrating extensive
experience in your profession. Any prior similar experiences, and the results of these experiences, must be
identified.

Have you previously uploaded the below information under in the Document Vault?
YES | |NO [ X ]

[s the proposer an individual?
YES | | NO [ X | should the proposer be other than an individual, the Proposal MUST include:

i) Date of formation;
| 03/14/1990 |

i) Name, addresses, and position of all persons having a financial interest in the company, including
shareholders, members, general or limited partner. If none, explain.

il
No individuals with a financial interest in the company have been attached..
1 File(s) Uploaded:
i) Name, address and position of all officers and directors of the company. If none, explain.
I ]
No officers and directors from this company have been attached.
1 File(s) Uploaded:
iv) _State of incorporation (if applicable); -
(e — |
v) _The number of employees in the firm;
| 5291 1 |
vi) _Annual revenue of firm; _ ____
2055089 |
vii} _Summary of relevant accomplishments B _
| Piease see attached file titled Tyler Technologies Accomplishments. |
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2 File{s) Uploaded:
viii)  Copies of all state and local licenses and permits.
1 File(s) Uploaded:

B. Indicate number of years in business.
| 29 ]

C. Provide any other information which would be appropriate and helpfu! in determining the Proposer's capacity
and reliability to perform these services.

| Please see attached 2018 Annual Report, |

1 File(s) Uploaded:

D. Provide names and addresses for no fewer than three references for whom the Proposer has provided similar
services or who are qualified to evaluate the Proposer's capability to perform this work.

Company Fairfax County, Virginia

Contact Person Mr. Howard Goodie, Director Real Estate Division

Address Department of Tax Administration, 1200 Government Center Parkway 357

City Fairfax ___ State/Province/Territory VA

Country o .
Telephone (703) 3244803

Fax # {703) 3244935

E-Mail Address howard.goodie@fairfaxcounty.gov

Company Clermont County, Ohio

Contact Person Ms. Linda Fraley, Auditor

Address 101 East Main Street o
City Batavia State/ProvincefTerritory  OH
Country

Telephone (513) 732-7150

Fax # (513) 732-7226

E-Mail Address _Ifraley@clermontcountyohio.gov

Company Leon County, Florida

Contact Person Ms. Kathy Doolin, Assistant Property Appraiser -
Address Courthouse Annex, 315 South Calhoun Street

City Tallahassee State/Province/Territory  FL
Country

Telephone (850) 488-6102

Fax # (850) 922-7238

E-Mail Address _kdoolin@leonpa.org
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Lo Abigail Diaz - | , hereby acknowledge that a materially false statement
willfully or fraudulently made in connection with this form may result in rendering the submitting business entity and/or
any affiliated entities hon-responsible, and, in addition, may subject me to criminal charges.

I, | Abigail Diaz |, hereby certify that | have read and understand all the
items contained in this form; that | supplied full and complete answers to each item therein to the best of my
knowledge, information and belief; that | will notify the County in writing of any change in circumstances accurring after
the submission of this form; and that all information supplied by me is true to the best of my knowledge, information
and belief. | understand that the County will rely on the information supplied in this form as additional inducement to
enter into a contract with the submitting business entity.

CERTIFICATION

A MATERIALLY FALSE STATEMENT WILLFULLY OR FRAUDULENTLY MADE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
QUESTIONNAIRE MAY RESULT IN RENDERING THE SUBMITTING BUSINESS ENTITY NOT RESPONSIBLE
WITH RESPECT TO THE PRESENT BID OR FUTURE BIDS, AND, IN ADDITION, MAY SUBJECT THE PERSON
MAKING THE FALSE STATEMENT TO CRIMINAL CHARGES.

Narme of submitting business: Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Electronically signed and certified at the date and time indicated by:
Abigail Diaz [ABIGAIL.DIAZ@TYLERTECH.COM]

Chief Legal Officer

Title
11/15/2019 11:26:54 AM

Date

Page 6 of 6 Rev. 3-2016




On average, Tyler Technologies adds eleven (11) new clients each week and has a ninety-eight percent
(98%) client retention rate,

Tyler Technologies' Appraisal & Tax Division has in the past five (5) years had one (1) Appraisal & Tax
Division software client opt to terminate its relationship with Tyler Technologies for reasons other than
non-appropriation or non-renewal. That decision was mutually agreed to by Tyler Technologies without
either party admitting liability. That client, and the year in which the termination took effect is:

o 2014
o Adams County, NE {Orion) - Adams County had multiple contracts with Tyler. In 2014,
the County pursued termination under the contractual “termination for cause”
provision. Tyler did not concede that a for-cause termination was appropriate, but
agreed to the termination. The County remains a Tyler customer on other Orion
modules.

In the past five {5) years, five (5) New World Public Safety clients have opted to terminate their
relationship with Tyler for reasons other than non-appropriation or non-renewal. That decision was
mutually agreed to by Tyler without either party admitting liability. Those clients, and the year in which
the termination took effect, are:

s 2016
o Great Falls, MT (remains an EnerGov & NWERP Customer)
o O’Fallon, IL {remains a Tyler Customer on other software)
e 2019
o Clayton Count, GA (Odyssey, SoftCode, Eagle and NWPS; remains a Brazos, e-Filing,
Munis and ART Client}
o Anthony, NM (NWPS only; remains an LGD Customer)
o Sacramento Regional Public Safety Communications Center, CA




Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
of
Tyler Technologies, Inc.

Tyler Technologies, Inc. (“Tyler”) expects all officers, directors, and employees to exercise the
highest degree of professional business ethics in all actions they undertake on behalf of Tyler,
Accordingly, Tyler expects its officers, directors, and employees to act at all times in accordance
with the policies outlined herein, These policies apply to all officers, directors, and employees,
including, without limitation, Tyler’s principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer, and all persons performing similar functions.

Any employee who has questions regarding these policies should contact their HR
representative or Tyler’s chief human resources officer. An employee should immediately
report any violations of these policies to Tyler’s chief human resources officer. The policies in
this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics will be strictly enforced. Tyler will take appropriate
disciplinary action with respect to those involved in any violations of these policies, including,
where appropriate, dismissal. Tyler will not retaliate against an employee for reporting
violations. This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is not intended to affect the status of any
employee or to enhance or diminish any employee’s contract rights or rights under otherwise
applicable law,

Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns

If any employee has any concerns about any accounting, auditing, internal audit controls, or
related matter, they are encouraged to bring the matter to the attention of Tyler’s audit
committee chairperson. The audit committee is composed of three (3) or more members of
Tyler's board of directors and assists the board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility to Tyler's
stockholders, potential stockholders, the investment community, and others relating to Tyler’s
financial statements, financial reporting, and processes. The audit committee chairperson can
be contacted in any of the following ways:

1. Byphone at (866) 376-4128

2. By Internet at http://www.openboard.info/tyl

3. By mail at Tyler Technologies, Inc., Board of Directors, Audit Committee Chairperson,
5101 Tennyson Parkway, Plano, TX 75024.

Reports regarding accounting, auditing, or related matters will be kept strictly confidential. In
addition, the employee or other person raising the issue is under no obligation to reveal their
identity in connection with the reporting process. Please reference Tyler's Whistleblower
Policy for additional information, including how to maintain anonymity in reporting,
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Introduction and Purpose
This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is designed to deter wrongdoing and promote the
following:

¢ Honest and ethical conduct, including ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of
interest between personal and professional relationships;

e Avoidance of conflicts of interest, including disclosure to the appropriate person
identified herein of any material transaction or relationship that reasonably could be
expected to give rise to such a conflict;

o Full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that
Tyler files with, or submits to, the Securities and Exchange Commission and in other
public communications by Tyler;

» Compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules, and regulations;

e Promptinternal reporting to the appropriate person identified herein of any violations
of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; and

¢ Accountability for adherence to the policies contained in this Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics.

General Principles for Business Conduct
» Tyler and its employee shall comply with all applicable legal requirements of any
federal, state, local, or foreign jurisdiction where Tyler conducts business.
* The use of any Tyler assets for any unlawful or improper purpose is strictly prohibited.
* No undisclosed fund or asset shall be established or maintained for any purpose.

No false or misleading entries shall be made for any reason in Tyler’'s books, records, or other
financial documents, or in any materials prepared for or submitted to Tyler’s accountants or
independent auditors, and no employee shall engage in any arrangement that results in such
prohibited act. In addition, all employees dealing with or providing information or
documentation to Tyler’s accountants or independent auditors must provide complete and
accurate information, and must immediately report any request, suggestion, or threat that they
do otherwise to the chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined above under
“Anonymous Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

lust as Tyler expects all employees to speak honestly to clients, potential clients, and vendors,
Tyler also expects all employees to display the same integrity in anything they write, whether
for internal or external use. Therefore, all internal records, memoranda, and other documents
must be accurate, complete, and truthful and must be maintained in that condition without any
alteration, falsification, omission, or other change that would mislead someone reviewing the
record about its original contents or meaning. Any employee who is asked or directed to
engage in such prohibited conduct should immediately report it to their HR representative or
Tyler’s chief human resources officer, or if it concerns questionable accounting or auditing
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matters, to the chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined above under “Anonymous
Reporting of Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

Retaliation against any employee as a result of their bringing forward any questions, concerns,
or complaints about accounting or auditing matters, recording of information, record retention,
or any other matter concerning the honesty and integrity of Tyler’s operations or financial
reporting is strictly prohibited. Similarly, retaliation is prohibited against any employee who
provides accurate information to any law enforcement agency about the commission of any
state or federal offense. Any employee who feels that they have been retaliated against or
threatened with retaliation for these reasons should immediately report it to Tyler’s chief
human resources officer, or if it concerns questionable accounting or auditing matters, to the
chairperson of the Tyler audit committee, as outlined above under “Anonymous Reporting of
Accounting or Auditing Concerns.”

No payment on behalf of Tyler shall be approved without adequate supporting documentation
or made with the intention or understanding that any part of such payment is to be used for
any purpose other than as described by the documentation supporting the payment.

No Tyler confidential information shall be used or revealed within or outside of Tyler without
proper authorization and purpose.

The use of Tyler employees, materials, or equipment for personal purposes is strictly
prohibited, unless specifically authorized.

Compliance with established interna! control procedures is required at all times.

Political Activities and Contributions

Tyler will not make any contribution to or for any political party, committee, or candidate for
any public office. Any employee requested by anather employee to contribute Tyler funds to a
political party, committee, or candidate for public office should decline to do so and promptly
notify their human resources representative or Tyler’s chief human resources officer of the
details of any such request.

Payments to Government Officials and Personnel

Tyler’s relationships with governmental agencies and their personnel in any federal, state, local,
or foreign jurisdiction where Tyler conducts business shall be conducted so that full disclosure
of the conduct will not impugn or jeopardize Tyler's integrity or reputation, Accordingly,
payments to government personnel, including gifts of substantial value or lavish entertainment,
is strictly prohibited, whether the payment is made from personal funds or assets or those of
Tyler, and whether made directly or indirectly through consultants, advisors, suppliers, clients,
or other third parties.

Use of Agents and Others to Assist in Obtaining and Performing Contracts
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From time to time, Tyler may elect to use special consultants, distributors, representatives, and
agents to assist in obtaining or performing contracts. These representatives must be bona fide
professional individuals or organizations, they must render bona fide services, and their
compensation must be limited to a reasonable fee for their services. A representative may not
be employed by Tyler if they are connected directly or indirectly to the prospective client or to
an official or agent of a prospective client.

Conflicts of Interest

Tyler expects the undivided loyalty of its employees in the conduct of business. It is important
that employees be free from any financial interests or other relationships that might conflict
with the best interests of Tyler. Accordingly, each employee shall avoid any investment or other
interest in any business that would conflict with the proper performance of their duties or
responsibilities for Tyler, or which might interfere with their independence of judgment with
respect to the transactions between Tyler and such other business.

While it is impossible to enumerate all situations in which possible conflicts might arise, the
following are some examples:

e To give or receive gifts of more than token value that are in any way connected with the
business relationship;

e To lend or borrow money or other assets from individuals or concerns that do business
with or compete against Tyler, except banks and other financial institutions;

¢ To serve as an officer, director, employee, or consultant of, or receive any income from
any enterprise doing business with or competing against Tyler, or seeking to do so, or to
own an interest in or engage in the management of an arganization providing services
or products to Tyler, or to which Tyler sells, or with which Tyler competes, except when
such interest {1) comprises publicly traded securities listed on a national securities
exchange, NASDAQ, or the OTC margin list and (2) is not in excess of 5% of the securities
of such company;

* To accept compensation from outsiders for services for which the employee is being
paid by Tyler;

* To speculate or deal in materials, equipment, supplies, products, lands, leases, or
property purchased or sold by Tyler, or for which negotiations to purchase, acquire, or
sell are pending or may reasonably be anticipated, or to receive (other than from Tyler)
any compensation, bonus, or commission in connection with any transaction relating to
Tyler's business;

* To knowingly cause, directly or indirectly, Tyler to enter into a business transaction Wlth
a close relative of a Tyler employee or business enterprise of such relative;

¢ To knowingly buy or sell for the employee’s own account or the account of a relative of
a Tyler employee any security or other interest which Tyler may be considering buying
or selling, or has decided to buy or sell, until Tyler’s decision has been completely
executed and publicly announced; and/or
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e To transmit any knowledge of any consideration or decisions of any information that
might be prejudicial to the interests of Tyler to any person, except as may be necessary
for the proper discharge of the employee’s responsibilities on behalf of Tyler.

If an employee finds that they have, or are considering the assumption of, a financial interest or
outside relationship that might involve a conflict of interest, or if the employee has any doubt
as to the proper application of this policy, they should promptly make all facts known to Tyler’s
chief human resources officer and refrain from any exercise of responsibility in any manner that
might reasonably be considered to be affected by such adverse interest.

Protection of Confidential or Proprietary information

Tyler’s confidential and proprietary information is vital to its current operations and future
success. Each employee shall use reasonable care to protect or otherwise prevent the
unauthorized disclosure of such information. In no event shall confidential information be
disclosed or revealed within or outside Tyler without proper authorization or a permitted
purpose, If an employee is uncertain whether certain information should be treated as
confidential, the employee should presume that such information is confidential and not
disclose it without confirmation that there is proper authorization or a permitted purpose.

By way of example, confidential or proprietary information includes information relating to
Tyler’s business methods, business plans, research, development, inventions, databases,
systems, systems designs, technology, intellectual property, know-how, management, business
development, operations, products, services, pricing strategies, client sources, employee
records, terms and conditions of arrangements of any business or clients, client lists, methods
of competing, financial statements, financial projections, financing methods, and other
proptietary information.

Prohibition Against Insider Trading

Insider trading is the trading of Tyler stock while in possession of material “inside” or nonpublic
information. This includes the purchase or sale of Tyler stock an the open market through a
stockbroker of your choice or through an online brokerage account, the exercise of stock
options and corresponding sale of the underlying stock, the sale of stock acquired through
Tyler's Employee Stock Purchase Plan (following the applicable holding periods), or the short
sale of Tyler stock. The prohibition against trading other than during the trading window also
encompasses the fulfillment of “limit orders” placed with a broker, and the brokers with whom
any such limit order is placed must be so instructed at the time it is p/aced. The prohibition does
not, however, include the purchase of stock under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan pursuant
to previously authorized payroll deductions,

In addition to the prohibition against trading, it is also a violatlon of the federal securities laws
to disclose {or tip) material nonpublic information to another person who subsequently uses

that information to their profit.

What is “material nonpublic information?”
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In general, information is “material” if its disclosure to the public would affect an investor’s
decision to purchase or sell Tyler stock. It is difficult to describe all the types of material
nonpublic information a Tyler employee may possess that could cause problems with trading or
tipping others to trade Tyler stock. Some examples of material nonpublic information about
Tyler include information or knowledge about the following events:

o Tyler's quarterly or annual earnings or other important financial information;

e Changes in previously disclosed financial information, including earnings estimates;

e Tyler has suffered, or is about to suffer, extraordinary losses or costs;

e Tyler has realized, or is about to realize, extraordinary earnings;

e Tyler is making changes in previously disclosed financial information;

e Tyler has entered into, or is about to enter into, an important cantract with a client, or
that such a contract has been terminated or is about to be terminated;

e A merger, acquisition, or takeover;

* Acquisition or sale of a company, a division, or a significant amount of assets;

» Tyler plans to declare stock splits, stock dividends, or cash dividends;

e Tyler becomes a party to major litigation;

e Tyler is making significant changes in management;

¢ Tyler plans to make significant changes in operations; and/or

e Tyler has achieved a milestone.

In most cases, employees should presume that information concerning any of these events is
material. If an employee has any questions about what information is material, or whether the
information has been disclosed to the public, they should contact Tyler’s chief legal officer.

General Trading Limitations
All employees, officers, and directors must comply with the following restrictions:

1. They may not buy or sell Tyler stock during the period beginning on the first business
day after the end of each fiscal quarter through the close of trading on the second full
business day after release of the quarter’s operating results to the public. This blackout
period is intended to remove any appearance that you may have traded based on
material nonpublic information concerning the financial resuits.

2. If, during times other than the blackout period referred to above, they possess material
information (good or bad) that is unknown to the general public {in other words,
information that they have not read in the newspaper, Tyler’s press releases, or annual
or quarterly reports, or seen publicly displayed on the bulletin boards around Tyler’s
facilities), then they are prohibited from buying or selling Tyler stock until after the close
of trading on the second full business day after such material information has been
released to the public. '

3. They are prohibited from sharing material nonpublic information with others {friends,
family, stock brokers, strangers) that buy or sell our stock or recommending that they
trade or hold Tyler stock based on the material nonpublic information or at any time
when the employee, officer, or director possesses material nonpublic information.
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4, They may not give material nonpublic information 1o others, even if they are not buying
or selling Tyler stock, without Tyler’s permission. In other words, they may not give this
information except where it is required in the performance of duties as an employee,
officer, or director of Tyler and they have permission to do so.

These restrictions also apply to family members and others living in the household of the
employee, officer, or director.

These general trading limitations are based upon U.S, securities laws. Compliance with these
general rules should mean compliance with applicable U.S. laws, as well as the regulations of
the New York Stock Exchange.

Property Rights

During and subsequent to employment by Tyler, an employee must disclose to Tyler all ideas,
concepts, inventions, improvements, and discoveries, including those related to software, and
any and all writings including those related to software, regardless of the media that are
conceived, made, or reduced to practice by the employee, provided that such ideas, concepts,
inventions, improvements, and discoveries arise from or relate to work done for or on behalf of
Tyler, relate to Tyler’s business, invalve the employee’s use of Tyler equipment, facilities, or
time, or arise out of any information received regarding Tyler’s business. It is each employee’s
responsibility to fully disclose to Tyler as promptly as available all information known or
possessed by the employee concerning these property rights. Where appropriate, ideas or
guestions should be directed to Tyler’s chief legal officer for patent, copyright, trademark, or
trade secret protection,
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Tyler Technologies' Appraisal & Tax Division provides systems and software that automate the appraisal
and assessment of real and personal property, including record keeping, mass appraisal, inquiry and
protest tracking, appraisal and tax roll generation, tax statement processing and electronic state-level
reporting. These systems are image and video-enabled to facilitate the storage of and access to the
many property-related documents and for the online storage of digital photographs of properties for
use in defending values in protest situations. Other related tax applications are available for agencies
that bill and collect taxes, including cities, counties, school tax offices, and special taxing and collection
agencies, These systems support billing, collections, lock box operations, mortgage company electronic
payments, and various reporting requirements.

Tyler Technologies' Public Safety Division provides public safety software that is a fully unified and
comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911/computer aided dispatch
("CAD”), records management, mobile computing, corrections management, Web-based information
sharing and decision support. The modules are fully integrated, utilizing a common database and
providing full functionality between modules, reducing data entry. The software provides fast, efficient

dispatching, and quick access to records, reports and actionable information from an agency’s database.

Please also see attached 2018 Annual Report.
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TYLER TECHNOLOGIES ANBUAL REPORT 2018

To our fellow shareholders

A MESSAGE FROM PRESIDENT & CEO LYNN MQORE IR.

Tyler experlenced another year af double-digh growth and sirong financlal results, wilh 2018
being hotable as a year with a high level of stralegic lnvestment in acqulsitions, research
and develor and stock rep! Our steady growth continues Lo validate our long-
term strategy of providing best-in—¢lass softwara solutions [or the publlc sector backed by
investments thal solidify and expand our markel leadership,

1Wlai's revenue topasd 5900 million tar e Aist tirma, white the {fourth guarte feprasarled ou- 23th
consesullve quarter of doubla-digll erowlh, GAA® tevenue rase 112 parcent to 235 miilon, while
nen=GAAR revenue Incressed ILE paicent 20 $%40 milllon. GAAP ael tacame for the year was 147
million, er $3.68 per dlialed share, down 13 percanl. The decling was primarly due ko the one-Ume
Lax beneit assoctated with the Tax Culs and fobs Act that was cceogrlzed (n the fourth quarler af 2012
Hen—CAAR net Income f2¢ tho year was $133 milkn, of 54 80 per diluied share, Up 24 § parcert. Even
as we nerensed our R3D spend by 337 petcent, cash provided frem operatlons 3rew 27.8 percant over
2017 o faach a naw high af $250 militor, whila diee cash low prew 45 9 peicent We ended the year with
arecord high bazklog of 5123 billem, up 17 percent,

Our win rates werc shong across our selutlon
sultes, wilh many of the year's most slgnficant
deals compased of muliiple Tyler sclutiens or
exlsting clieriz ceepeéning thelr Tyizr retalordia,
Amcng hasa warg Lubbock County, Texas, with
a St militene multh-sulle conteact Including our
ERP, puslic salety, and caunts & fustiea salutions;
Lowdoun Ceunty, YIrgiila, a long-time client who
added EnasGev™ civke services solulions for 57
M0lon; and Anchaorago, Alaska, Uparading iLs lax
tem to the fasWorda Integialed CAMA and lax
Xlltng and coilactlans solulten tar SXE imillton,

doubip-digitgrowth R&D spand by aperatlons

Comprehensive solutlons,
comprahensive restlts

Tylar s approach to Jellvaring soflware continues
10 distingulsh us fiom compatitois by aifaring
cliants the cholce for accessing solutlons e
the way thal mzkes lhe rrast sense for them,
waclher lhough on-prem'sos, softwara s a
servics, or hyorkd arrangamants, In 2018, qur
softwaic ravenuc was splll between license
and malnienance reverives of $473 millon and
subscription ravanue of 5221 midkan,

Thal sald, wo ontinue to sce a long-term shift
1o the cloud Ty ‘he puble secter, albell at &
sloayer paco Lhan Whe pri seclor. Tne coud
leprasents owr faslast-growlng ravere sirearm,
with subscriplionrevenuas Inzragsing 26.1 percent
over 2017, and wa'ra niow achloved a aeeater Han
20 percent growlh In subscriplion 1evenue Ir, 47
ol\ka past 52 quarters, For the year, subscilption:
macie up dipaicent of lotal coalract value far new
sollwers amangenents,

£lthough the gradual shift to mare subscriplion
antangemerls creales a near term headwind
to reverde growth, It provides a lsna-terrn
opperlurdty for higher revenues over the life of
3 ¢llenl relabiorshin, I adoition, our bookings
growth In 2018 ¥as prassured by oy Intentlonal
reduclicn of the Inttfal \erm for most of our new
softyaln sUbectpllon conlracts, as ths wolghled
avarage term of naw softwars agraemerts was 1.9
yanig In 2018, down [rom 5.2 yeara 'n 2012

TYLER (ECHENDLOOIES ANNUAL REPORT 2018

We contlnue ta see a lung-
tonm shifL 1o the eloud by
Lhe public sectar, albelt
ata slowes pace than the
private sector,

Software Revenues
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Tovenu
Subscrlptlan
favonUs
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TY¥LER TECHNOLOWGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Investing n the future

Oui balance shaot has never been healthler, as we finlshed thie year with
5232 miilton in cash and Inveslmenls and 231z dedl, even afler Fivesting
& total of $328 militon In cash for asquisttlors and lack repurchases.
Thanks to our Franchl stangth, Tyler remains ideally positloned to make
a vatlaty of Javestmants daslignad o deliver fulure geowth and long-term
shaezholder valoe,

Ve remaln diligent [n p:oactively seeking out slrateake acquisitvars of market
leaders o broaden cur ouf pesltlon, anc
expand ot addressanle matkat, As wa approach a bRllen dol.ars In annuat
ravenJes, our larget of double-digh revende powlh becames Increasingly
challenging, and <onlinded achiererent of our tacgets depends on
healthy growlh supplememed by siralegle acauisilons Ve cempleted five
acqulsltions during 2018, tighilghted by the additioh of Seceala, Inc., tor $550
miitan In cash — our second larges! acqulsition on record — aleng wirth four
rruch smaller acquisilions thal slrengthen cur producl o¥erlngs

Lasi year was also a year of clevated Internal Invesimant, with our R0
spend Increating 337 percent to 562.2 million. These product develapment
effans $pan oL product sulter 33 we add a numbaor of now faatuses and
appllcalion: 1hat will iurihe: soildily aur marksl leadei ship, white respardirg
1o the ever-changlng needs of our chlents,

We als0 ulliized ow balame sheel Y2 resume our stock buyback acuvily,
sepuichasing approximalely 781,000 sharss in 2015 for an agge2gsle purthase
grice of appraximately $150 millien, This oxzeeded the amaunt spent on
busbacks in the prior six yews combined and reflecls our cenfdmnes In the
carrpny's future,

Total Growth

3935 mf]iion 2048 RAAP sveuey

1]

TLI¥, i

TYLER TECHNILOGIES ANNUAL REPDAT 2018

LeadIng experlence

In My, Jehn Marr assumed the 1ole o execulive chalimian of the boatd, while
| was appolited chisl execulive sficet. My added raspor:ibllities conlinue
the lisnsithan of day-lo-day eperalional overstght that began In January
2017 with my appolninienl as presksant. Skaza st e, my mla has grown
Ir. working wih operalloral groups, division icadeishlp, ard ali aspezls of
Tcr agemtlons.

As axacullre chatman, Johr: conlitues ko be sctively ivoved In the company's
managomert, ehgagitd with Tyler's [cada:shlp Learn, as welt ag Investors and
cllenls. These naw roles are a natJral exler esulting fram I3 yoars of
strong wi 4 partnership,

Looking ahead

Titls year's suncess was Lha result of the commitment Tyler mads 20 years
ago 12 singulaily focus on the neads of e publie seclol Through tmayt
hwestments, fiscal d'scipline, eat products aiid peaple, and unpzrallalad
clisnt servize, wa conlinue Lo dr misslon ef empawering Whe pespla
whose: I while canlinuously th 13 markellezdaship,
All o 114 &t Tyler [ook lomward 1o Working tegether to make this vear anly the
beginning of much graatar succass

8, Ly Mocre jr.
Ereshiont & Chief Executive Cfficer

March 20, 2019

Thiovgh smarl
Investments, flscal
disclpline, great
products and peogle,
andunparaliefed cllent
sarvlcs, wo continge
1o fultifl oar missien of
empoweriny the people
who ssrve he public,
Whila contincously
sUrengihaning our
market leadershlp,
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$221 million @ $147 million
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in Review : ' @ $193 million
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2018 Year in Review

Tyleristhelarges! sattware compary 1 the nallon solaly
focused on the pubdie sector. ‘We hava implemented
more than 21,090 Instalations In mare than 10,000
Iozal government. agencles, schocls, and ctrer public
agandzations {o help managa feyerie, ensuic public
safely, daliver juslice, administe! finances, marage
school trareporiallon, and eiable the thousands of
olfe: tasks Jo: which the puklk secior ks resgonsible,
Healthy commanlties reiy an local govarment, and
‘Tler nelps local gove:ament tz wark smoothty

In 2012, we announced oui Connected Commuritles
vision far empcwering seamless connetlens between
clizens and goverrment, connecling dala acioss
gecgraphlc beundules asd procostes between
agantlas. By ¥oiRlng 10 cennect apollcatiens and
dala across multiple deparimenis and furisdistions,
we seck 1o improve the way iecdl govommenle sarys
the’s constil incraase employ il and
halghten citize)s engaparment.

In 2018, wie made progress In bringlrg our Connecred
Comrruritles vislon cloger ic realily. Thanks t¢ our
Ahiogle adoy : ] i, At b g
focus on client success, we Falped kxal governments
tecurns more data-diiven and batter connactad while
¢realing slgnificant shatehalder value

About Tyler Technolagles
4,600+ | 30+ \ 42
Empligiaas Offiee: Podictsultes

8 IR .....4,-./

Revenua by
Solution Area

TYLER TECHNQIOGIES ANNCAL REPORT 2pi8

*eTO800

ERP/FINANCIAL 41%

ZOURTS & )VATIE 15%
FUBLIC SAFETY 1%
APPRAISAL & TAX 19%

CIVIC SERVICES 4%

N {2 scliooLa 1y

CAND & OFFICIAL RECORES %
DATA 5 INSIGHTS 2%

9
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Accelerating innovation

through acquisitions

The fulure of a community will be delermined, ih pary, by the way it
uses data to power and improve its servicas, The inore |l can bring data
logelhar, the bettar it can understand the story the data is trying to lell,

using the data to make smarter decislons and drive deslred outcomes.,

To turther maet the public sector's growing need
lor cornertad data, we mads five acaulsstions,
faur o whith provide naiive ciood applizations
Each uses dala In difereni ways to help the
publk: sector Improve pedormancs, prolact
cltizeps, galn valuable Insights, ars extend
cllizen "L ‘While this yoar d
a helghtzned level of M&A aclivity for Tyler, we
continue to seck ncquisiton opporiunlites, as
our streng financlal position glves us the akllity 1o
ael wher, we find companles that At aur stzalegis
vislon ai teasonadle yatualiens,

In Apill, we acquired Sealile-based Socrala,
Inc. for $1S¢ mllllan In cash, rapresenting
cur second-largast acqguisition urdl belng
surpassed by MIzloPact I February 2013,
Scesala &8 the Industry leader In open data and
dala-as-a-tendca  solstlons for  government,
providing  cloud-based data  Integration,
visualzallon, analysls, and reporling folulions,
With this acquisiion, Tste: crealed a naw Data
& Insights Civistan That wi work across all Tylor
sclullons so thal our broad Faotprtnt of lkents
can make dala discoverable, acticnabie, and
meaningful. The data shatlng and analytical
capablittios of the Socrala® plalform wll olay
a key iole in azceleiating and advancing ol

Cornected Communities vislon In the years
anaad, Our comblned offerings aza enabling
public sector leadars te Usc dala s Improve
progeam outcermes at fhe Zity, coumy, and state
leynls, in additon ja Lhe prominert leders] clierts
sarved by the Liata & inaighls team.

in the ime sinco wo acqulied Socrala, 1he tam
"as bean hard at work aunching new mioducts
and Inicgrating ts technoloiy lnto Taer's
ather solutions to help cllents gol move cut
of data. For example, Lhe Socrala Connacted
Govammenl Clod™ to's 2litents col ecl dala frem
diffarent departments o
a single source of tuslness Intelligence, white
Open Financa'™ nlegrales with Tyler's fArancial
solutong Lo hap citizens understand haw thelr
gcvarament ks ¢olfacling and spendlng ravenues.

In April, wa acqulred eybersgeurity lirm Ssga Data
Saashy LLC, whose urlque c/barsecurity sendces
are velng used to furlher protect our dlents
Invasimants In Tyier solutians, Sage’s Ablscevey™
glwes us the apility to help Lhe publdc seclor
mandte data securly luwer Bt abeaeully
threals grow In scepe ard sophlsticatlon. Prior
Lo tha acquisltion, wa were greatly impressed by
Sagoe atonc 6!t custamers, Since scqulring Sage,

$178 million

2018 acqulsltion Investmants

we have succassiully ol.eted a naw ybalsecurty
offering with several publle sectee clients and
=xpecl o begn o expand I\s usage thioughou!
our cllant basc i, 2018,

In Augus:, we acyulred CaseloadPRO, whose
comprehenslve proballon case maragement
sysiem 1s Relig used io help strengthen Tyler
Alllance - our sulte of applcalions cennecling
publle safaty and jusice precossos from dispatch
through dlspositan, The pradisc!, now knewr &
Tyior Supardston™ hslps proballon and cthaor
[udkcial dzpartmerls efficizntly lrack and manage
proballoners and paroleas, fillag an fmpeitant
gap In aw partiofio.

In Ozlaber, wo azquired McbleEyos, Whosa
solutien lor fire suppresslon and fira greventicn
steengthens cur public salely Bnd civie cervicos
sofutkens. MoblleZyes™ |5 used by fire prevantinn
agencles, bulldingdepartments. and sprinkler and
aiarm conlractors ta podaim custom Inspectians,

Sage Sata Jacurlty (Sarh)
CasalosdPRD (August)
HobifeEyos {Ostaber)

Seansdloe iYcambar}

TYLER TECHNCLOGIES ANNUAL AEPORT 2018

Socrata (Aprll)

Tret cantinnred qequisiton actidly irte 2019 with:
(e Yoboayy 2015 peulsltionn of Wizt il 0 Reating
e v mrtaliead rertoy wrien L <ot manageeat

M borainess yactty mardppmert dgpilatlom fw gvemment,
i Hefivie, 4 prawing Revker o Cltria engagament appieations

froduce profassional repotts, and aulckly
communicale firdings Lo the Cght consziluenls

In December, ‘we acqultsd Scenedac, whose
solJtian enakles mobile-powered, fold reporting
lor faw en‘orcomery agencles lhvaugh the fieid
<aprg of dala, electronk nolas, and multimed(a
(rom smaslphenes, taklels, wearablos, and task-
speclic apps, slong with secure storage snd
access to and f:om (hacleud.

Wi contnue lo use our onyolng whilespaca
analysls ta guld2 owr edartles for o¥panding our
product offerirgs and giowng eur addrassal
macket, eltner through Inlemal pradet develop-
imentatarts of by acquiing best-In-breed predycls
Lt complement ang siiengihen existng cliadrgs
Trour potticlo, We Lhen further ie2st n these
buelresscs to Inlegrate thalr proddats with cur
exleling scluitors whita leversaing o sales team
and cllen! biase,
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Supporting the
people who support
our communities

S0 much of what makes a cammunity 1un
smeotfily 15 the work of public administration,
Thesz are (ne peeple and depaitments that
kelp build, finance, manage (esources, and
anmvide clvie serylcas to our commurites,
Qur products act as the apemimg syetems for
(ocal government, wilh solutlons ke Munis®
menaging caze functions ke financlal, luman
resources, and procuremieal: FimGov™ manszing
lard use, bHus™ess, and regulaiory protessas:
and JasWerld managing property valuatkens and
Lax vollecllens. As an example, thls year mose
ihan 1,309 cllents used Munls lo acrk smadler
whille better smving Lhal: constiluents.

£.3 millien

Usecs of 1ylor 0-sarvleox ts Submit yayments, apply
{is pariis, ftle court Scumants, of peifen alhor
oabinz finstlons,

2
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New products,
new opportunities

Our co'e €RP appllzanons contlnue ta proylde
the feundatlon for our success, accouning for
0are than 4D pocent of cur revenue, The sironglh
ot these more malure products elves us tho
Rexbility to nurttie our REU invostments and
glve Lhem the tlme rended to grow. This year
we spapt more thar 363 mifion — 3 34 percant
Incraasa over 2017 — on projocts sganning
across our verticals. While our R&D spending
nas contrlbuied to snort-term prossure en ou
marglas In Yha past lwo yead:, Lhis 1ecor= lovel of
Javestment alowed Ls 1o [utther cdovalop the naw
leaturas and applicalions neceseary o rematn a
leader across our verilcals while exlencing nto
naw mitkets. At with sut acguittions, much
of our RBD reflects our lpng-tarm focus on
the tloud and cennexling Tyler peeducts meve
closely together.

$83 million wenss

WL merene e AT

Natable project
[aunches in
2018 Included:

TYLER TECHHOLUGIES ARNJAL REPORT 2018

Tyler EAM

Launzhed In Apll, cur enleip assal man-
agenient (EAM) sclttion provides publks secler
orzanizatlohs a complsle view of ILs assets trem
procutement to malrtenanca to rethament,
Teler E&tA™ 15 Lha only EAM systern avallable to
<lay ihai Integates searmlzs=ly with our caterprss
1escuice planning (=RF), con
utiily bitiing custor
and Icident manazernent
the overa! vaise of & comm
Tyle: products,

s Invesiment L

Socrata Connected

Govemnment Cloud

n May, wa l[aunched the Socrara Cennedted
it Cloud ta gve i workers.

a singa seurce ol trLsied dala n2y can use 1o
Sweaturo and apalita paiotanse saon poliss
departtnenis and pragrams, including financial,
<IVie seryices, and pualic saiety soluticns.

Traversa Multi-District Model

tn uly, we anriouaced the Mult-Dlsiricd Model
vevsten ol our posular transportation inzragemarnt
softwara, enabling (arge student trznsportallon
sendce provbdoce 26 oper2tiors fo?
all o thefr losations or ceplors wilthin o 2pp.

New World Enterprise
Recards for Public Safety

Alsa In july, we aZded s browsai-basaa racards
maragement sclulion (o our New World pubilic
safely solllon, enabling puslic safzly sdcrsles
G capilite, process, =nalyze, and acl on In-
lermztton quickly. Enterprise Racorde shares
~uisslon-cikical dala between aoplication:
fully integrated 'woi kfow.

New World ShieldForce

Launcned In Cztabey, Lhls moblle-fist application
glvas first respondérs, cemmand staff, and paliol
officats access Lo real-lime, mistlen~cltkeal om-
puter-alged disgath (CALY dala at lhe scene
et s sintartchion s, leblels, ard wdlches
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Today's investments drive
long-term growth

Unlike some other technokogy compahties, our acquisitions and
RAD Investments are locused on our long-term succass, Because of
the time required to jully incorporata investments Into our partfollo,
along wilh 4 sales and RFP process lor the publle tector that can
lake months ot even years, many invesiments we make taday may
nol generals a return for several years, While we look lorward o
celebrating the success of this year's fnvestments In future repons,
we should also take the opportunily to appreciale past Jnvestments
that began to bear irult In 2018,

« Sinze the acyguleltlon ¢f Exacullme in mid-2016, eferls have been
focused ar improving Inleeratien with the Tyler pottfollc Yo provide a
more compreheaslve alfering to cllants, In 2018, 30 percent of 2 vew
Munls Human Cagital Management™ agrecmenis Included ExecuTlmel®

acqulied n 2017, cur onling dispute resolufion colultor Madila® want
Uva wilk an implerneniallon that represended s firsl ktegrallon with the
Odysssy® court casamaragemenl system, In Apdl, Ttark Counly, Mevada,
added Media Lo ghve lls dilzens and couils an allarnallve apllon far
campleling dhorce Gredlation. requirements. Mare than 50 zercent of
MYaznts usad the Madria selution as a parl ol a pllol projeet, with halt of
lhase uslag Madria ail Ihe vay thrcugh the final mediallan prozess. This
spad up the resolutlon of these cases while allawing lhe couits’ medlators
16 spend rmoze Ume lactillaling mote complex of zoatentlous casaes. The
success ol this pilet led to a declston for mandalery Use In 2019,

New World CrewForca® axd shleldEarce™ 2re Tyler's (atesl meblia-first
applicatians designed and doveleped for 2 and law enforcement. Each
areduct birgs the power of cemputer-alded dispateh (CAD) Infoimation
le Une hand': of firsL respondars v(a smarphonas, Lablels, and walshes,
since belrg released I the spring of 2017 and Jall of 2018, respactively,
more han 2,500 Individual usar llcenses have been sold for CrewForce
and ShiedFoice,

Launehed In 2017, aur casa records portal 1e:Soazeh® provides alloineys,
fJudges, and conslituants 3 more efficient way lo azcoss Impoertant case
records and documncnts at 2y time and on any Jeylee, Thls year, the
reiScarch solullon was added by the states cf Texas, New Mexlco, and
Gaargla, j2ining Lhe Inltal laurch by couits In flneks,

20 T

148% Incraase
I RS expense
from 2014 10 2618

2006 _
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Building products
and relationships
in equal measure

Our Bnanclal success Is directly connected
to the aperational success of the lacal
governments across (he country and around
the world that rely on our products, Our 98
percent <llent retention rate speaks to the
value of both cur produc s and our expertise,

Nat anly do aur clienls stay, bul they ¢ aiten a
souiteor growth, New bushass lrequently cotiies
lrem crass-scll or add-on salez opporluaiilas,
whita many clienls are ueass of mare than ore
Tyler salutich,

Time and 3galr, weve found thzl a clent who
husts Us Lo manage ote piocess, such as ind
accounting, 't dispatch, srzcheol lrareporallon,
Is mora kaly 2o bust us with anothar, like cludent
, spprafsals, or ¢ourt case managament,
spentng the door for future giowtn. As we
contince te mave closaly Int2grat= odr products
ana provida compicherslve teols far maraglig
and analyzing cllent data, our clients wilt have
mere Incgntive Lo conlinue te Invest with Tyler
and add slner Tvler salutions o theli 1echnology
posticlls, Expardlng ou :aidllonshipa wilh aur
oxkllag clonls and increasyg lne numbar of
mulllctoduct clents teprasent 5 major gicwth
oppertunlly 1n the caming years as we colluue
10 build cu: aur zemmar, digilal infrasiuctue.

YYLER TECHN

LOGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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Protecting communities by
connecting data and processes

To alp keep our communltics safe, our caurts aad public safety solutlens are used by udges,
proseculzrs, Jal(s, policaand Fre: a s, and praballon afficals Lo share Jala, minimi
arrots, allminale redundanclos, and previda clizens with grautel access Lo Jizstice, Svan I s just for &
speeding llckat. For exawple, t1is vear we Implementad oL Odyssay Zase Managar™ softsace at Los
Angeles Traffik Court for 850 Lsers al 20 lozations — one of oUs latgest go-lives aver,




Improving our connection

to our clients

In additian to investing |n strategic acqulsitions, new products, and
creating a common foundatlon lor our soluticns, we continuaily
fnvesl In ather areas of our business that can help us better serve our

curreril and prospective cllents,

This year our user-drivan supoort portal, Tyler
Comnunlly, gms to more than 55,000 menbers
as usets 1om juisdlclions aceess North Amonca
giowdsourced bast practices and solullons. Tyler
Wikenity, ol celimve edocalion and bakiing Lol
added 1104 new mad iles of conlent L help users
Improve ski1s and fearn about new features, white
Ir. November we aspanded the Socrata Cata
Academy to leach government leaders and dala
spocialists how te gain itsights from: data 1o afiect
change In thelr communitles.

Aiong wilh aur cllant suppert plalform, we made
2 slgnlficent investnient this year in owr extainat
suppart and outicach platform through the

development and launch of a now corporato
webslte, The nesy ske iaips curen’ and Lrospecilve
clicnts and Investors navigate the Hia moes easty,
accessing conters thal ks celevant o thel Interests

Each yoar we ceinforca client canneclions Whrough
cur annual Tyler Comnest user conferece, ard
In 2018 we met In 3oston, With 54 educational
Yracks and moie than 1020 Ualnlrg dasses ovel a
Uee-day perloc, cllenls engaged Ia discussiong
<n a numbey of Industry tepks, such as citizen
1 privacy and security,  sol 3
and data analys)s, The 2618 conferance hosted
more han 4,660 clients Jram all 50 states and
DL, as wel, a¢ 5k Canadlan provinces,

1 M Tylor C li yiot Uahvoasity anlh
41600 sng;:::tzenldanw | 557179 urn%fggm . ‘ 147)755 Rﬁ&g‘nz'mlﬁ??am

20

$1.1 million

Iyies taundallun
shiaritabie camrihutians
avor tha past fysrs
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Community is always
a smart investment

Our to local itles extends far beyond our
preducts, Ona in avery \hree Tylor employses werked in (he public
sector belore Jolnlng our leam, Our passton fay public service not
ohly Intorms the work we do for out cllents, but Inspires us to invest
back Into the community whenever posslible,

Tiler emplovees generousiy contrituted thel Ume and manay (his year tn
nonprafl’ organkrations 1 the commurilles where we
to sur employees, challlles were able Yo food i
educatlon jar

U've and woik Tharks
e hungsy, lund STEM
chlidren, suppod famitles 1 need, and more. 7 addition,
Fouridation provided funding far oigantzatlers xcross Lhe
country Lo Improva heallh, human sersizes. and techaclogy educallor.

Due to pyluml disasters, 2018 was an especially chailenghez your lor many
of the cllen!s we serve, We watked wilh aundicds of communilies Jacing
buricanes, witdfires, tamadeas, Nosding, and othar disasters te ensure
9y had the data and suppor: needed lo cocidlnate services, Inlorm
constivents, ard save Ives For example, sur engineess developed a real

flme mag showlig the lacations of omergency shellers and cther troa
.2dging In response io Huricars Mickasi, which devastated fargn portions
af lhe soitheastarn Urited Skates, whil> cur disaster recovery team ansuped
slricken commumilios were able 16 access thelr dala ever when gsveirment
offices wete damaged or declivyed
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Empowering insight from
outside the jurisdiction

Our 92%a & [nsfehts solutlans are Integrated across our seiutlon arens to empOwer
cemimunities with a single source for fihuaclal, performance, and humar data An
examgle of (he polentlal of connected data ¢an be sean with the recant sdooten of the
Socrata Connecled Gover M Cloud by the lllan p 20 G

(MTC} In San Srandsce, Calllomia, The MTC wil: 8o able Lo dellver data frov more than
00 [uitsdktions atound the Bay Area Inlo 3 singie, self-sarice website thal emplayses

and rezldenls can Use to aralyze (e Impact of tarsportallsr, on afoidable housing,
<limale zhange, and mcre.

Tyler brings data together from across departments
fora true picture of the community,

— At s
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New 12am members
added 1n 2013

11.8%irstesw owr 017
TSNS,

Building the team that
builds our business

in addltlon e namlng Lynn Moore Jr. as CEQ and John Marr Jr, as
executive chalrman of the board, anather notable change to our
leadership team was the additlon of Kelley Shimansky as our new
chlef human resources officer. Kellsy assumed the role from 8ob
Sansone, who retited after 23 years with Tyler,

Pait of Kelley’s milssksn will be continuing Lo provide the best envirenment
Iy our pecgle Lo seve our dierts, In a highy compelillve fob market, our
talenled leam members contirie to sco Tyler as a lop cmpicyeq Whn an
average empicyee lenre of more than 7.8 years, This lepuremeans oir clients
connue to be seryed by expartenced geclesslonals who are famllar wilh
raeoting \he chaliengos of the pubtc sector.

Ly Mosru k. and e Mart .

Findirg and altraciiag lalenled ergloress Is &
<hallenge fof & campany In today's ccoromy,
andwhile nadliferenl wawors bard to atiact
Rreat pezple to powey Tvler's zonUnucd success.
As always, akey part ot our reeplting slealegy isto
prowlde grent banefits sad a top wok avdronmart.
This year, Ty.er was agaln recoghlzed on = liple
“Bost Places to Work” Usls, 1n additlon lo being
named Yo Forbes’ "Best Employers for Yomen”
ar.d “Best Employers lor Diversity™ ifss o rebust

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES ANNUAL REPORY 2018

inlemehlp progiam he'ps us souice \alen! lrom
tep schools Tn imarkels actost the caunly, while
Improved TAfDOT BARE ©h U0 NEw wWitilits
mares L nasiet than ever for job seskers 1o explove
open poshiens, Flrally, our empicyec refenal
prog:arn helps ue kendldy cancliales who Wil be
comgatible witr. cur ire ard passion fa¢ setving
the prellc sector &e 5 esul of aur efforls, wa ware
able Lo graw oLr worlkdarca by 1] percenl )n 2018,
addinz maie har: 260 new laam mambes,

From (1 v ight Qre! Bizen, dhignil Blaz, Riew Yomihe Jotn Mt i,
K. Moary . Drian bilh, St rie feplm, beif S1ean, Ramantiu Lraaly,
Brett Gale, Buny Setisstlan, Ay Teed, Keliey Sheanity, bract Ggahum,
icksel Santh, Matt Bt evir, Rt
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Working to make schools work smarter

Because of thek respensibliity tor the sately and success of our children, scheol districts luen to Tyier
to help manage the day-lo-day peds ¢f students and the acyits who supac them, One examele of
aur onlirusd Innavation tn this aren Is the 81 acw leatures and snhancemenls we adaed o Tyler 518
Studenl 160! 507 as the Integra‘lon of Dopular eamning managerient systens iive Gocgle Classicom™
and Carwas™ In dolng sa, wa ve cleated e lndeudry's mest pewarful moblle-zapable poilsl for making
dala rmor2 actesstbie and (ransparent fos alsti<ls, teachers, siudenls, and parents,

5,000 46 1,189,469

Sehao! deslriats wsding Tyser gchas] 1.2, steies ond & Canarlan Swilenis 4erved by Alstricas
soidlons for Macivlo, tRanspanstlen, Provlacas w1t districes using Tobar nishag Tytar 15 for sivdand
ond sludanUnformailon syzeins 10 manage sludent i hormath i

Ty'er helps teachers. agmirisiraters.
and students use data to make the
mast out of every scheo! day
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Connection makes a community

Datadibian innisvalion fuas the abiley 1o [unapmentally Changn 1 Wiy bur Zimmuniies wiick, bt gnly
¢ patsie haw the' support and  hodk they ot Ie arales, Underdand, mnd det o thi dala’ Prrnk
u{.o- leaders; thal emp and thelr o Intract with nformaticn b a wway tht
FEes Strte, Hedikos i .rAIk.-" e s mases LR kit W'  fitud 1o e the company I W

and \rr l.re\rw« haree Ir\r\ur ¢ r\-hﬂrlﬁ 1o tok I‘w‘ ..'wlm(-v'| 200 Wik s in 20‘8 '|i \u‘u..u
(oPtrbition Lo the follhdalian lor greabes slevess to coame.

. Financial
Inlormatwnl
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Reconcillation of GAAP to NON-GAAP Financial Measures (Unaudited)

2414 29 Gl s il
Fiscane)Fathon of son CLAAP t'o! revenues T |
AR faa! teseones WhwT sM0e $159,50 591,022 $492,101
Hen CARP ddiusdments; i |
Add: Witdtwt of aoqudsitlon-aled ceferrad e L8 B W it -

I {11}

i LI
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Stock Market Data

QU cortmon etk s iaded ob the New Yorx Stock Evziiange under tha symbol *I'Y1." AL December 3, 2018, wa had apgiovinately 1,262
stachbiolgors of nucerd. tost of oUrsleckiaiders hold Yielr shares Y streelname; theraflme, theia ara subslantially wiore Ukn 3,262 taneticly)
owneis of our cominzn slock,

The follawing table shews. for the caleadar pededs Indicared, the h'gh and iaw <ales prca par srare of Ul commen stack as iaponted 63 the
New Yok Siock Exchange,

B
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Third Quarier LR HUAL

Fotrkh Guader iz 8812
A i Gasdn :

Seeond Quuter

Thid Quanee

Feacth Quadey

We ¢id act pay any cesh dividends 1a 2008 oy 2017, Our bank credR agteement contalas fastitedinns on he paymant of cash dvidends,
We Inland ta retatn aainings bar wse by the cperatlan and expanston ¢ our busit2ss ard do not antfipale paying a cash dlidend In the
toreaeeable fub.re,
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Selected Financlal Data
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Flnancial Canditlon and Resolts of Operations

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In akTikan 0 historlcal In'mmation, thls Annual Repai coplalns fomward-leokng state nents. The fopaia-losking staterenis ale made
In reftance upan vate hatkor provislang of the Pdvata Secisdles Litlgation Refaim Act of 1995, The damid-laoting slelaiminty are rslect
to cerialnrlshs ol necerlainties that cewdd cause acuad fetlls to difer metalally fromn thosa sefletnd fn the forwad Ligkig statements,
Jeaders ars caut'enaz nel iu place UnUUR r2./arce on 1hese lorvarg luoblag statgruats, which 1c=cl managennts oplrkos valy as of e
date hercof, Ve undentake ro sbilzatian e revise of publizly releaselhe results of axy cevizors (2 hase forward-loobIng slalenerts, Readars
shoald carefily ravlmw the iisk factors descibed in dociaments we file lam bme Lo “tme 4ith the Seauriliae ard Exchande Commissine

‘Wheaused 'ihis Anzua! Rapo, the viosds "belleves,” “ex eds ! “anecpales] forestes *(CIRcasts,  ssilnales”
“may” Wik “sheuld” "prelacts) mighl,' "cod” cracha shrsiag waids or phrases [SXGHH
sietements that descdbs oue bustness stiategy, sutlaok, cbiactves, phans, neallens of gaxis also are [orwaed-lookiag sleleirants,

QVERVIEW
Goneral

We proryiche Injegrated “nicmation mansgemaed selutons and se:ices ior M pIE saetor, with 2 Mot o lo2al gowNaTants, We develop
and kil 2 Benad e of sa’anace pencticts 2ud services 10 address Ihe 1T teds o <ty countian, sehaols ard effwe 23l pavecrment
entities, In addion, we provide piofassanal IT serdces ta our clients, kel dlag saftware and hatdware ilaliaticn, data ccavesien, reining
and fof certaln ciienis, product madifica fons, along with conliniing malntenance and supert [ ¢ fents Using ouir syslems /e alse pre
subscrpton-based seivicss such as Soflware 35 3 service (3aaS*), which primarily utitze (ke Tyler ortvate ead, and weslinn'c document
filing sotutions (Me-Afing™, which simellly the firg and macsgerment of cour relaled docurwnts, Revenuas for e-Aling are detived lram
esnsaction fees and, in some 2ases, xed fes amangements We also provida proparty appraiel J<lrg sarAces for Wi Junnedizik

CuIr produtls generaly sutomale seven majo: funciional areas: (1) fnarcal managemenl and pcicatios, (2) csuris andfusties, Hpsbtie safaty
{4} picpedy appralsal sad La, (5) piandlg, regfatory and qaliicenance (6) land &1d vliai reenids management and (/) duta anc irelghls, We
capor ol 1asults fn twe sepments, The Enterpise Saftware ("ES'"S sagmam ovovldes municlpal ard coualy gavernments and schools with
wlr«am systorms and to Mot Iheir techiolugy nuu:h far ) i “'w<k-c'ﬂu"mmomm nas:

wonti 2 d keslico
Dt ekt wirbalcs. The Appiatial and Tax (PAF segmant pridcas :vﬂems ard soﬂw«w hat aulamate ahe app&lh\l vl aurmr«sl ul
o and parsunal propeity as wall as propsily appaalssl aulsaixdng se vkas for logil governments and mving adaoriles Prepeny agpsmlanl
outsourdng sendces Incidle: the chyskaal [xspediton of commeicial and ies(dential sropentios; deia eolaciion and rmcas.lng, Lemoutes
analysisfos prapedy vitailoa; prepaianan of tax solfs; communky edscatlang aid amllraikn b

O tolai empioyen eaUrtin¢reased Yo 4.525 at Dacember 3 2015, (1nim 4,069 at Gecenbar 39, 2017,

For tha v morkha sncdesd Decomber 31, 2018, fatd veauas Incnuud'll! rwpam:a the pilor year, Oigank wbeam prowewirt ¥ Jor
Ihe bwe'vin irehs Baded factmber 11, 208, cawpared Lo the p fram e ! v for
he tweive months ended Jacambsr 31, 2016,

Subsciialions isvenus grew 28% fe: 1ha tyolve moners endad december 3), 2018, du lo a grodual shit lowad eloud hased, softwae as a
senite bustiess, as well as conlinued stong growin In our e-fllng revenyes fror courts ana the addidon of mew subs<plion ravenues fiom
the on af Sotiala. C revenue Incieased 20% 'o; (e twekze monkhs ended Decembet 31, 2018

Oui backlog i Decembe; 3, 206 was SI25 bison, a 2% Inciesas from lzst year,
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Recem Acquisitions

00 Decenibar 7,204, we acqulmd certadn assets and Inlellpctual prperly of ScenaDec, Inc.{"Sceneboc), a company that orovides moblle-
fust. soltwore-as-a-ceivice (S2a5) fald reperting far law enforcernent agencios. The tobal purchase prica was 8 pofoximalsty 86 2 milllon, of
whikeh §5.4 miflon was pald 'n cash and appraximately 5759000 acciued ‘01 aaiidre capital heldback, Ad of Ceceante: 31, 208, the purchase
pice alocationior Scexbiecis antyei complate, The pl estixates of falr valt d al Ihe acep date for Intang’ble assats,
recelyalies and defaried revarvis and related defiahd [and 3 ara subfict b chidign a7 velurhem 2 finatized,

On Oclaber [, 2018, we atquired att of the equhy IMerests ¢! TradeMasier, Inc. dba MobllsEyes ("Mobliefyes?), a company (hat develeps
softwaie 1o kmprove public safely by supporling fre prevenllon and sappression, eiergancy response, and structurat safety, The total
puichase price was approxitnstely $5.3 mililon In ¢ash,

On August 3], 2018, we acquites| all af the assalz of CaseipadPRO, L P, ("Cas#cad?sa"), a companty Lhilt provides a fgRy [eaturea praballon
[EATY CVELENIE ) n, The quichase price of $9.1 mélien was patd 1+ cash,

On Apdl 36, 2318, we acqulsed ali of the caplal stock of $cesata, Ing TSocrta™, a womzany that oravides span dasa and dada-ns-a-service
safutions Including claud-bated data kdeg:allcn, vhoalzalen, anakysls, and repotting solutfons ‘o fedaral, state and lacal gavarmment
agencles, [he puichasa pr'ce, ne! o cash seequed nf 512 milion, was §147.6 milllon In 2ash

Un Apnt 39, 201, we azaulied all of Ihe equity mterests of 3age Da%a Scattiily, LLC ("Sage”) a cybrisccinly carpany o4ciing a suite of
seivices thl suppo:ls an enllze cybersecurity Ifocydle, Including pragiam develooment, edusation and tilning, tethnical tesiing, advisoty
sepdees, ard diga’ forensles. The tatal purchase pilca was $1.6 mllian pald i cash.

A 0! December 31, 2018, Lhe purchast mike allacatlans for Sape, Socrala, CateloadPro, ana Mobl.eByes as complate,

The operating 2sults of alf 2009 acqubltions are 1nzbaded wilh tha epejatisg r2sulls o! the Enterprse Sofiwal= segment slaca thelr date of
acayisitlon Hevemses bam Socata Inciuded i Tyler's resu 3s of Spevations lotebed appoxmately $13.9 wUkon aed the nel foss was S5
million for INe Lwelve meatks ended Decembur 3, 2C18, The Impadd of the Sage, Cacel0adPRO. MablleEyes and Sceneloc acaensidans,
Indvidualty ard In the aggiegats, en our opetating cesulls, assets and labildes 1 not mateqtal

Qur balance sheet as of Decembey 1, 2018, iehacts the allocation of aa puichase piice to Lhe agsets sequlced based on thelt fir vaiue al (he
date af each acquisiion. The falr value af Lhe assets and Tabifitles acquired ars based on valuatlons using Level lll, unobse vabla inputs thet
ain supparted by itle o: no market activity and (hat are signifieant 12 |he falr value of tis assels of labllltes,

'Ha manltor and snalyze several kay parforaiaacs lndicaters In grder to mandgs our business and evakiata aun financ'al and operating
porformance. Fhese indleetars incutla the followlng:

Revenues —¥fa dudve our revenues drom frve pilmary sources; sal of coftware Ueenses and reyallles; subselption-based anangs nents
soliviar servkes; malalenance; and appratal ke % and £ rtianIng revET Wk 4
oot 5% i MR The WSS Slenly drar o wdgdeg i

ey hasltional soflware amangaments 1o our 5a3S Todef are s Apiificart divar 16 i bssiness, rogethel wan new sollwara license sales
and naltenant2 rte hiereases, in addilon, e akn monlter ot custemer base and chirm as wa histarically have expe-lencad vary low
cuslomer lurnover. Duling 2013, basad onosir aumber of customers, eaover was approximeiely 2%,

<ost of Revenuas md Oross Margns — Our pimary Cost component Is pmisennel expeqses In corredbn with pioviding softwae

vased servicas, 0 3% SWpoaIT, and appralsal sewvices to cur clenls, We can Improve grots
naegins by comrelling headceunt an refated costs and by exoancing our levenue base, especkilly fom those praducls and services thal
praduce incremanta’ feventie with minimal Fieemenidl cost, such a5 software lizenses and royalites, subscriptian-based sanices, and
markeaanse and support, Qur appratsal predecis are aytlical In nature, and we oftes emplay appralsal peisannel ona shoi-leim Sask to
colnelda Wik the Efe of 2 profect, s of Decamber 3), 201%, our lotal empayae court Incieasad 1o 4 325 from 4,069 al December 3% 2014,

Seling, General and Adminlstrative {SGA") Experrses — Tfie primary com: £ 5GLA o ; ey [
salatas and hala-bated axpensq, maikgiing axpansa, rant ad pofessicnd fres, Skt comarkier
tye cally Mytluate with d genenilg incrsases o the et pizs of o

Other administiatva expenses tend to gw ata slower rate than :evenues
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Liquidtty and Cash Flows -+ The mkmay diiver of nur cach flows I nol Sacome Uses uf caslunctice acardsllions, capilal Investroe;:ls
pmpe:ly and equipment and dsaetionary puicharws of leasuy zeck. QT weiking (aplldl needs are fakly stala ¢ sighnul the year
with tha dgrificant componanis of cash aeiftovs boing zaymenl of personnel expenses sl by 2ash Inlows represeniing codeclion af
accourds reeeivable and eath vicdlpls from ¢lienls n sdvance of sevoro Do carmed, 11 reseal yea's, we ave also recehved signiicant
anwpunds £f cash frem employees sxeicistog dock apdons and conbuting ta our Sirployee Stock Sufchase Pian,

Balanca Shest — Cazh, accounts re<elvable and ays sales svistanding and dalesred reveave bakinces ara important Iadicalors cf
cur buslaess.

doption af New Revenue Accounting Standard

On Januazy . 2018, we adoptad A5U Ne. 2014-09, using the lull ieikospediive mathad c! bransidon, which requlied that the nev standala
e applled Lo all padads pieseved. The impacts of adoption wi ieflesiec in tha fnanclel isfarmation heren For sddRisnal delsils, see
Note T "summary of S'gadficanl Accolinling Paliies” to our consclidnted Anaadia: stalemenls In this tepati.

Mecent Acounting Guidance nat yel Adopled
Leases. Oy Febyilary 25, L0IE, the FASS kauved its ney lease eccouallng guidence (1 ASU No, 2016-02, Loages {TTagk 842°), Unde: (ke new
" et By sl v }

o, letamen w8 e et 5 R i

v Alease IablEy, whizh fs alasiee’s okllgaton o nake {sase paymients aitsing from B |sase, measuted eq a clscounsed pesls; and
o Afght-ol-use assal, which 16 an assel Ihal rpiesents e letsee's fight to Use, or contral Lhe Use of, & spaciied assel fof the (9388 ta:m

Tople 842 Is effective fos Facal years beglanirig alles Docembrer 35, 2018, including intetlm pertods tharedn, Ex;ly applicadon is pe:mi:tad for
all businass endtlas Lpor issuance. Ugon adcplicn, ent:Zes wil. be requiiad tawsse a moc'ed relrotpestive Ancioach Wils an oplion Lo use
<eilsln gractical axpedients, We expact to adap! ASU 2015-02 when eifective, Using L Uans"iion rathod thal alows us 1o faldally apply
the auikance at khe adupliot dale of january [, 7019, and recognize 3 < tecftect achsstment to the opening baladze of retalnes
#alidivgs I 2he pzrlod of adopliza. e axpect 1o use div pIckage of praciGll expadicl s that alluws us 1o nal reassass: () feasn Zlassificalion
lor asy exphed or @x'stirg leases and Il dlizct co34g for gny explred or eniting leases. We expect ASU 20°6-92 will impact oy

d Fnanckl acd relaled dlgsle! We 2ie caranliy evatuating Lhe mteit of the inpact and expect thal most of aur
[2ase commitiments Wil be sublect Lo tne updaled guldance and racognired ss lease llabililes an d right-of-i)34 assets on aur onsolidated
belanice theats upon adapilan, Based on our cuitent parifal's of leases, we osifmate 2 range of $15.5 million t §178 &fllca of [ease assels
and llab I he fecagnltad on cw balares sheal, prtmanly ralaling to office Laciljes

utlock

The lacal soveinment software market condnues ta ba active, and ou- backlog ac Decembe: 31, 2012 rezched 5125 biflian, a 2% 1nsmase fiom
lastyeas We apist o conlinue o achleve zolid gowth in ravenye and earnings. With cur sweng Bnancts] pottlion and cash Tow, we Blsn to
continue o make slenficant In pioduct lopment to biatter Sasion us e cortnu2 10 expana our compellitve position In the
public sectar safivara mariat aver he lang term.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMAYES

Qur disausslen and analysis of finanrchal candtion snd resulis of op lsbaved fnanetal it e baer prepaces
In aceardance with accorting princlples ganerelly 2ccente: In the United Slales ('GALSY, The prapatation of thesa firanclal staterants
Tequliesus by make astimales and p:dgments thal sfect the reparted smouals of assels and liabitins a; lhe date of e financh svatemanls,
the repeited amaunts of 19vEAUES, (0319} remnues and expenses dudag tha repaiting perod, and related discio: f sanlnganclas Yre
Notes o the Fl:andlal Stalements inciuded a5 part of tig Anrual Reponi deseiibe our ignlhcanr accounting pollzies used I the praparaifan
b Pl vutwmants, St fama ratiedd fo weh estlimains and seumerions indade e kppTaadun of e ereg'tss tokad
<opletion mehodi of sfsmul moogaiion, estimaled standaiome iy gdis £U55F far dnilh cetonsance obipatioes, 1he uivng
areandand dEmaed viah o of Incangi e amais, natish of thire-taved a3 ipanis o
ealakins Ve bade cof oudinades oa hitod ot afpariencs ane on vailini ofbdr aterrgrons thet wa be Jom i be eavanshis Lrde; O
clicumstances, tha results nl which len the bas e making juegmenls aboul the carrying vaities of asie(s and ilabaldes (hal ara not 1saclly
apparenLitem other saices, Aclal resulls may difer from thase astaralas undor diffeien asarmpliong o condilons
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We brileve the fellewdng ritieal accounhing poucies require slanifcan! [edgmants sid oslimales wied In tha proparalton of euf Pranc'al
slatenenis,

Revenue Recogniion. W earn evanve fiom scftware [Kenses, royall
customer suppart ("PCS” 01 ‘malrdenanca’), haidwace, and aopralsal sal
produrts af sertlzes to customesinan amaunt thatreflecly the corsidera:
Wit dalryming ¥ L3 g Vg

subscilplioa-basea seices, software senices, past-rantade
g, Fevaue s recepnliad vpon kansfz of canirol of pramised
W expaeiioraceive Inexchage for those produclser services.

v Iderdfication of tha (o1 ladt, er¢optiacts. with a customer

+ |derafiaton of the blgations In the cantiact

Deleinlnal'on of the ‘ramsaction arkce

Aliseatfon of the (ransa<lion arkee 1 tha peiforrasce abligations In tha contiact
Recogallon of 1evente when, or a3, wa 53l'sly a performarce oblgatla-

Most ¢f our so'tviare agargemants wilh customers cantain mullpe penamance shilgalless Ihat @nge om so'twate lcansse, nstallziion,
g and consulting la saflveare moo fication and customizatlon to mest spaclfic customer nesds (sevices), hosllng, ana FCS, For hese
ronLrdds, we acceunit for Indlvidual peifarmianze oblipaticns s2pacately when they a-e Gstlnet, We eviluale whether separate paiforrance
oblizaliens can be distinct o7 should be accauricd for as one paiformance abFpation, kirpgerents \hal nciude saltwace seMcas, siuch as
talndng or Insladation, are evdiated 1o ddeimine whelhet thosa sentzas ara highly slaideperdent ar nhly It2rrelaied o 1he produet's
luncticnall s, Many of aur vllware ammngeinenls invo've “sfi-the-she’t® sothwae, We reccgnlze the ievenue alkeable to “off-the-shell’
sollwaig deaness and spacifad upg@adorat a palalin ime wher cunyol o the soltware cense ranaegs 1o the custemer, upiess the soltwala
Is nol sonslderes distinet Wa conslded of-Uie-shell softyaie (o be d stinct when it can be addad b an astangomant wilh minci changes 'n
the undeildng tode, It c2n be used 2y the <ustamer fof Ihe coslomer’s puipose wpan Instafialfan, and romatning seivices such as Ualaing ace.
Rct ¢ 34 dert or giYy itvaelaled te the prevucl’s funationsilty,

raratanginenls Uial lviolse signifizant. i L2 of the soltwam, o vhazn soltware setvices are otherwlse
i e eqg tme oy lo-campledon, W AR Il
usiAg labar heurs h.w-d as it best dapfcts the unm’nv of u:ntral to Ihe customar which occuis as s [ncly costs on our canbiacls Thesa

2y jequire s to revlse Lolal cost pstimares. Amounits recogrked
| revenue are ltula(e using Ihe progress-to—camplalion messttement after padng effect to any changes In our cost astimales Cha~gos
4o tolal estinated contracl casls, [f aay, are eecorded in (he period thay are detanninad. Esdmaled loszas on uncompletad copliacts are
recarded In the perlod in which we hist Selanrine thal a loss s apoarznt. When seftwars senices are disbnct, the fee allocable to the service
aleman lc racopized ovef (ha dme we peslort the szivices and 15 biled on a time and materal basls.

Subsclplon-hased s9rvices samsisLo; Sodvediom Saas whizhy 2elly Utir ¢8 the Tyter pi

fllng tansaclions. Reverv'e frop subssription-based serdces Is gentsally tecognized cvet Ums on a ralable bas's over the conliaet 130,
beglnning on tie date thai eur secvies 15 made avallable o the cusromier, For Zaas apangemients, wa evaludte whelher the cslomsr s
(he zontrachual dghl to Lake posiesyion of aur software at any lima dudng the hoshng cardod without slgnifitant genty ard wha'har the
customer ar feastaly malntakn the sufiwaze ea the custoner's hadware o2 enter Inte ancther ai sgement vith a thlrd-parly 1o hast the
sofiware, Wa altacate conlazt valse 1o each pefoimance okligation of tha auangement 1hal qualhes for trzalment as a d's!inct eamenrt
bascd on 21tmated SSP. ‘When It is betermined that saftware Is dlsiac and the customer jas ihe abilly L tate contio! of the softvare, we
Incognlze revenie 2l'orable 1o the sofwam Hicense fee whenacess to the softwaie llcense s made avallsble lo the (uslomer. We iecogalze
nosling serricns ralab'y ovar the lerm &f the atranzement, whlch range from ene ko tenyeals bl 3'q typlaally for a portod &f iz o to o yeals
For sofiwaia 1erdces assodiited with certaln Saal arrangements, wa have concluded thet the sedres ace not alslinel, and we recogaies ihe
1avarue ilzily over Iha tematalag canlacwil pailod chce we have provided the cystomar access (a ine ¢oftware, We recard amounts that
have beea (nvoized Inaccounls iecelvable and In delered evarve of reveruss, depening on whather (he revenue resopn(tion ¢iterda have
besp mer,

The naneacllan cilze Is alk 1 the s e 1 ¢ obliadly aielative 3SP basls, We determine Ine SS€ based an our oveial;
askcing oblecilves, (aXiag irtn con: \Geliﬂoﬂ 2kt condilonz and olhai Jacte’s, Incldisng the value ¢f our contracls, the apptications sold,
custeme: demogiaphics, and e numaer and types of users wlhin zad contracts We Csa a renge of atnounls Lo astimale SEP when we seli
each ol Ihe praducis and senvices saparatzly and need (o datermine yhelner Ihera ks a discaunt lo be allccated bised on tne rellive 5P
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ol the various produzis and seivices, In Instances wireie 559 k not direcly chiervable, such ag 7 e do nal sl the product or seivke
scparaiely, we delemmine SZP Lsing the sxpacled cosi-plus mangis appiosch. Aevenoe |s reccgnized retof atowincas for sales adlusiments
and doy taxes Lolleried from customens, which are subsequarly renlttad 1o ga remmantal qulhoalfes,

Typkealy, the s
<coaskdetion eatsts, we irchack trotr esilmares additlonalreverue for vartable consld
he armunt can de esdmared ral'ably andd s «ealizailon Is probable,

cluza of our arangeTents does nol giva :lse 12 vadshie constderatlor. Howey

!n 1hose irslances whereby yeriable
whe? wi belia re we have an enforcaable fghl,

We malntait stcwances fer doublir azccuns, which afe prowided at the ¥ime Wine revenue ¥ recognlzed, Since Mos: of our customars 3t
domest: goverr Tenia; antltes, we rarely locue  loss resuliies | omthe loabillty of 3 customer e make required paymends, Events or changes
In dreumstances (hat Indicate that the canrying amaunt far iee allowances for dounid ancaunts ray require leviston nchde, but are nal
JImiled ta, delartiaion of 4 customer'’s firandal tondition, fal Lt "0 MARage our catlomsr's axpectabansieparding a B2opa bi e saivises
(o be oslivered, end deferis of efedrs in now vers9ns of ankarcenenls of ouy safiware pisdaty, Tre alowance for doubtiul azcounts jefiects
0u( besl estifmata of piobable (ceses Inheient 1 the sxauris receivakle balance, We dataimine the dlaware hased ar inown taisled
accours, hlsicrea’ expentence, 2n.d ather curraptly avalladle estdence.

In consecri wkh c21aln of our zonbacts, we have recordad relentiens 'acelvable or unbifled recelabies consisling 8f¢esls and astimated
Arohtin exzess of llags a3 ol W4 beiasce shaet date. Many of Ihe soaliels Woich give rise to uabiled weelvables ala given ba ance shee’
date are sublect 16 blngs I the suheegrent acecunling perod. We 1edew Unblles recalrabies and reiajed centract rislors (e apsue
we are Juslewed In recogritirg revence pror ke Blling tha 2usiomer and that We have oblaclive svicence which aliows Uz o recegalze such
(gmous, In addlitfos, w2 have a slzable amount of defened cevenue, which ®prasents olilinas 1 excess of revenua cyned Tne Makbity of
ihls Hablilly constsls of Ings forwhich paymeni made Inadyanca and tha :even. & s ralaby eamea aver tha matitepatca
paded, generally sne year. Ve alsa '\a\e Hzteimed severce far those contears [0 which we tecelve & depast and |f & condRifans ‘n which
{6 ecord @venue fc: Iha servite or picduct have nat bean met, On a pededic basle, we 1evlew &y customer the detal, compe.ienis ol et
da‘anied ravenvq i¢ ansule our azcoUring 1gmalns anpiopiiale,

Inlangible Assets and Goodwill, Cur business azn.sldans welsaly 1esult i Lhe ereation of gordvill ard cther [nlanglbla ass 2t balances, ana
these Inlances afeet o arcnl and being ul b peil ol wneiizalen: sxpense, as well as expenss wie coulld pessibly oo ds & 1zault
af an Impalenen ¢! The cast of acqulier compzn'es ks alinzalcd Lo idenbiliah’y Wagde ind inlanyible assels based on asimaled
{aii velue, vAth the ex eced le gondwil Accordingly, we haye a sigrificant bafanca of aaqulsllion date Inlangible asels, including
soilwaie, custamer szlated Irdzaglbles, Lzde nane, leates and goodwill These Inlanglble agselz (ather Inan gondwill) ase oz d ovar
thel! estiomaled usalu: ves, Sentiy have noinlangiole assols wilh Indefinite fvas oihval than gasdwill,

\Whan testuig goadwill for impairmant cuantlativety, we disl compare the fir valve of each rapartnig unit Wil ils <otrying amounl, If I
<caliylag ameat of 2 12poiting unil exzeeds (s 19l value, 2 s2cand step ¥s erlairmed Lo measure te amount ol polercisl mpaliment, In
the secoad step, wa compaie (e Imp'led tair vabse of fepaitiag Unit oodwil wlih the ¢arnng ameuic of the espot<g unll’s goodwill K ke
<airylng amournt of reportng Ll gadvwill exteeds the lmailed falt valie of that goadwii, an lmpaimess l6gs 4 tecagzed, The fah values

ealulaled in our ! l2sts are usirg iscos cash low models [nvolying several assumptiona The ass:
ae used a'e Dasedl upen #hat wa bellava 3 hypolhatial marketpiaca panlchany would Use b esimaclag falr value. 'Wa bese
wabsilsve 1o be brel that dictabla and Inhereitiy ucartala, We eyaluaie ¢ essoneblanass

a1 he @Rlr value tal'ulamns of our cepotting unlts by compariag the total al the fair va'ue of all o} sut repeiting um'ls ke our Lotal maike!,
2aprabzalan Qurannta goodvdll Impaiiment analysts, which we peformed quantitatively durng Ihe sacend quare: of 2618, d'd not es. K
In animpalimzal chacge. Duslng 2012, we did not lderdiy any Wgge-dng eveints thal weuld iequire an update tc aur anrual impalrment eview.

Alllntangfbie assels (olher than goodwill are reviewed (o1 Iinpaliment w* erevar events or changes Ia dicLmstances indicaze thac o
amounl of an asiat may not ba ecovarable, Recovevabilly of otiet Inlang Yle assats
@ estimaled undiscatnted fubure cath Pows. The assessneilt a? te<ovarabriity of of Ihe asimatad usefui We far amothizalior. aupeses
will Le atfected If Ihe Hraing &t the amraunl o! estimatud (Llure opwiating ensh Noks is nat achievadl Suth inditalors M Inclce, ameng
elinis 3 significant Jegling J erpected Ritte Fiows; a sustihsd, sigo'fisant accline i stack prer wid inakel <epinlizatiun; a sigfican
atdverse chunge In legat facions or tn the busfness chmate; unzalltipated compelillon; and reducttons ia grawih wtez, In acd®lan, prococts,
101 ez, o7 techneloglzs develyper by othais may reide) on? 2ellmaia products obsalels of non-competitive Any advaise changs in
hese factors could have a slgalfteant Impacl en the sacoveeadilly § goodvad or o*herinangibls assels.
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Share-Based Compensalion Wz have a stockincendve planihat proviies forihe 4rant of slock options, iestricted s'ccrualls ard serfcrmance
slock ualis to key smployees, directors and non emplaqes corouliants, e esdnate tha fa vaive of share-%ased awards on the date of
panl Sharo-bated compensalion expense fnciidss the astmaled eFacts of fofelures, which wil be adpstod ovo: the 1adsle servies
perod b he extenl aciual lodfelluses differ ar ave expected < alffer Irom such eslimaics Charnges in cstimalod foifs
the perkid of change and will 2lsa impzcl (he amount of 2xpensa ta be recogalzed in fulwa perads, Fuifelura rate assamptions are geilved
fioan Rlstolfeai cata

vie Er(lma(esto’l'przevu ;n(uym Ihe dale of granl based o~ tha Nstoreal volatilty of our “sHi i ootton e ls detoy Tined
uslng thewelj d the s2a<k optar pecled to Dased prlmarty anthe opltons' wesdng tesms, iemalning
contracizal I and Lthe emp loyess' expected exescdse haced an Sktorical patieins. Getermising the spproprizle fal-wslye mods) and
caleulsting the falr value of hare-hased award: at he grant date raquires concldenabie judgme-, Incuding estimad-g stock priza velatity,
expecedopion fife and faieilure rates,

AMALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER

The fellswing d'srusston comparas (e Mslorleal recuke of epe:atlons 0n a bags 2nnsistentwllh GAA7 (a7 thayear 2pdad Dacomber 31, 2018,
2017 and 206,

Paoyriaqe cl T Bveroes

W01 aLy
Yers Endel Dptuster ), AsMjuited
Raverng
Saftmird Aevass and rayaties 15% 1A%
Sabwrizlbay 205 [LH
SaHars servicss 2.5 28
Malnlenimn Qs 422
Apprahal sesvicas 30 18
Harbwsmant lbir 2 1
) L b wes
Operallag erpansal:
Corhe! whwirt Bomnen, v and seqikeed sefwne w 13
Gasl o[ sofiare sarviess, malaten s0ce and satscriplions 43 454
Colpl appisisal 1arvices i9 22
Coul of hardware and ofhér b 1
Selling, grwial and adwla'slea it exgensas 209 iz
Rasasrch an! combpmnt opsse 56 £
oo d et i “wte s g is u
pring bieeon [EX] [[E]}
Dt bt fmamnarh art l W3
Tz e b i none Lo s [[T]
gt lan ook} ooy an 15
e bvssom [ [T
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Revenues

On Apli 20, 2215, we a:qulred Socmla, a compary b prosids opsn dala and da'a-as—a-sevize selullons for fadsrl, siate ad aca.
governmenl agencles inclideg cloud-based dalu Intsgialien visualizatior, analys's and spoming so'utiens The lodowiag 1akk dendt;
feverre fol Sacrels for the pedads peseniad 15 of Decambar 3, 2013, wh'en k& Incudad @ e sonsalidaled slatoments of fzome;

Reveavss:
Saftwale litensss and oyactiay
Suaspleny
Soflware wvieos
Mairisnanes
Apeatid etvices
b ud e

Bl ewran

Or Dacembser ¥, 2018, we acquired {nc 2 coirpzny that pravide s mcbila-fics:, selwars sas~a~ send e (Saas) field reporlng for aw
en‘ortemant aaemlas On Dctober i, 2018, we a v compary thas 1 loimprove publc salety by
dre W rmiponse, ind gl safity, On Augest 2, 203, we scquived CannlsadPRO, & eaeapany tMal
pdes aurlmu.ed wuamn LA management syini Cn Ap!il 30, BOIN, we also 3zadied Sage, 4 oybbtircurty somgan ofering a
suite of sevices thal tUppors ar. enthe cybersecuily ltetycle. The fMpact of these acqut < an ooy operating resulls k pal comlaerz:l
fiatesia), ‘ratividually and Yor the 3ggragate, and (s rot Iacluded in the fable atove, The “esilis of these acap tons-ate Inckeded wkh the
opaiatingiesulls af iha ES segmen; fiam trelr dates of arauls'Con For campazalive puipsses, we have predded sxplaaations for congas 1
opantons te excluide raculls of rpaalions tar thase azquislinis nstipg the exdusion.

Tt ware hcenses and rovathes.
The foliowing @able sefs farih a comparson of au* software fconses and royslGes revenue lor Lhe years ended December 3k
Cheg

s LS 1 %
b g ] A1 Ml

— —
o $man $347 o
w LA Ly H

Rl ety lems atd tralied et 0. L 33

Sefrvare fcanse and tayalltes Ievenve grew 8% compared 1o Ihe por year, The majoity of this 5iowih Was Que ¢o an activa markeiphize
as he iesult of geraraliy positiva lacal gevarnment exonom'c condidons, ac weli s our hereasinzly stong compettiva postion, which we
attribute in par to our kvestnient In product develepmey recen; years. An Increase In the muirber of la'ger conkacls refated 1o our
eianning, iegubtesy and maliterarce safutions and publle safety salttians a so contifoulzd |o the srowth I+ fcese revenye,

Mihozh ke i oF new et 1 J tuaill 16 quarler aha year
tayedi, we BXpedd aur ¢ igI-lne software hcense growth rale ta ba negalioly Impaciea by & 2icaing l\.'mlel o custamiens ehoosing cuy
subscrlption-hused apilors, rathel than purchadrg the software ueder 4 traditional pepatual soltwere 1conse arangament. Subscigtion-
hasad anangaments meuk iy lowa? softwara ke revenye In the Inlila year 2s < mpared 1 oeipetucl sotware license anangertents byl
gemiate highac cvemilsevanue ovarihe team of lne contrect, Dur new cliert Tibk |n 2018 wiks Appiomataly 47% selaciing papanial ssitaare
lIcenss arangemants and apsgmeamalol 5% saleling Uszrpllan-hes td Branges wnls comndu adhiani miz W 21917 ol appresimalesy
53% szlecilng pevpatual sefbwage Brecse aranpainiras and mp o edmately 41V seieciing subleptian-fated a1
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Subscriplions.
The frriowiog table scls fonn a of ow 3 Tof the years ended Dacember Jl:
e
a1 01?7 L]

{hin parandil iy kit
4] $l&830 $ 440 2%
M | L:2] plt %

T bl v HAE] 1 L 1]
— e

Subsalption-based rayence puimanky conilsts of revanue derived fiom 001 5aaS anangenests, which generally utize the TWer prfvate
elad, As part o' o wubscripion-based senvicds, we also praviae electmale dacumend fillng so utions {“e-Ming?) (hat siroplity the Afing.
and managemenl. of <l relaled docusmerds for couils and taw offices. E-Fling revenue Is desved {tom Iraxsaclion Iees and fed
ee amngements.

Fxciurtng (he jeseilz of acquisiions, subsedpikin-Dasey ravemes Intiedsed 21% compazad ie 2017, New 53a5 cliends as st clleats
who cowvarted to cur Stas model provided (he majoslly o the sulzseripliun revenue 'nerease, I 2018, we added 4K2 new Sans clents ans
97 axisliag Henls vleclad o ropvan Lo cur Saes madel. Alss, o=filig servives conl1buled ‘y $8 2 inlllon of the subseddl
iavenu Incre25a it 2018, The increase In e-ing rrvaniqo Is altibulsd 1o new o+ filing sBants, a3 wall a6 increasad vuiumes as e rasult of
sevesst exlsing <lleqrs manating o+ fing. Tha nccuisllion of Socarla, which pima, By has  subscrpilon rave:ese madal dlo <entdipied Lo
5 a4 TR

Soltware sevvklu.

The followiig 1able 5225 forth a companson of nur software serylcas revenue for the yesis ended Decamber 3
Ctimga
T
13 eraiae il
-1 (k3
Mt 7
Taba] waltwiot ViR foRr 3

Softwara sendces revenue priziily consists of giofesslonal seevices bllkad In conaci(on with Imolemant'ng our software, converllng claat
data, tralring cleat parsonnz, tuslom deyclopment actMites and consuliing, New cliznts who purchase o praprieqary soffwars licenses
genacaly aiso contract with us 1o pievide fo) the related safiware smivices, Exlslng <liects akea pededicaliy puchase additlonal traltling,
copsulting a4d minor progremining semvicas. Excluding the sesuits af acqulsiilans, soltware serdces revenue grew 3% comparad (o e pror
year per'od. This growdh 13 due 10 2 higha: level of row software sa'es, thraugh bath cur licensa and subscriallon modeis
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Maini#nance B
Thiz follosrng wble 565 forth & compartion of ous malntenancy revanie for the yesss ended December 3k

Chwgr
W 1017 ) %
17 e sands” I ARoE
ES $301.701 %
& 14l L
Sl nueleed xd (hemin s [ .Eﬂ: Ezu ke

We gion{de malnlenante sad 4uppos senices for ot seltware pincdicts and certa'n thid -daity saltviate, Maanance feverue giew /%
euimpared to the pior year Malntenznce aad support cavenue incieased malnly due ta geowlh fn out Installed customer basr iom naw
sotiware Ucense sales as well as annua! matatenance fale Increases,

Appraisal services.
The follzwlog lable sels foith a camearivan of our appralsal sendces reverite for the veris eaded Decembe: 3t
Ghanpe
—
008 211 } %

Q. txayendsh A Mind
B’ — LR —%
a fciree win iy

ﬁhi‘iznhulnﬁhum ¥ it marm s

appiatsil seivices revemse deceessed 13% compared Lo the priar ear primailly due to the succaseful complation of several lage
tevalcatlon projeces i k201, The appralsal servizes business 1s somewhal cyclical and ditren In pan by stattoiy ravatvation rystes 'a
verlous stelos
Cotlof Revenues ad Gross Marins
Thia la lawing table sete fofth i compartson of ine key compenenls of it <ast of reveaues for the yeats epded Decerber 3

Chanpe
wis

I} i Byonds)

Soflwars [ikenses and myafier 4%

Aeyired woftmara 5

SaMware weriees, malaterarte ared sudialphons u

Appealsal sevvicos 112

Vihaan isitse 2
2%

ol cerd ol e
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The lollowl~¢ lable sets !o:th & comparison of glass margln percentage by raveaus type for the years ended Dacember 15

i 017 Chorge
[20ss margln peicertags M Mg
Settwace Ieemes, mystias and aequived solwane 1.0% 043
Software saevices, painiendncs and subsetiations [ 0.2
Appialial wnders EIX] [04)
Nasdatare s olber Ba 18
ol prons megh 5% 08%

Soltware tkenses, rayalts and acquired soflware. Cost of soflward fcanses, royallles and arcadred schwaie s pimady compilsed of
amartizatian sxsence fof scquired seltware and thkd-pacty sslware costs. We o 0L Rave ally d9vct €515 455 0tacenl WWlth vy
gross maighn Izrease of 0 3¥ It due (o highet sallware icense yevarues offset by an ineraase Iy Amvaetzation sezents Tor Joiune 2 tullirue
altrlbuted ta new zcqulskians compteled In 2045,

Soltware services, malnlenance and subceripiions, Cast of software services, malatepranca and subscdptions pamartlly consists of persannel
costs ralated to inslalatlon of qur seftwaa, convanlon of dlend data, valning <I'ent parpnael and supper: acthitfas and valaus olhar
services such s cwstom ¢lient development and oa-going apetation of Saod and o-fling armangtments. | 2018, the saftware services,
malntenance avd subscrpions @oss marpin decreased 0% compired e the prist year. Sxtluding emplayees added thiouzgh acaulstdons,
our Implementation arnd support staf has grown by 57 zmoloyess since December 31, 2077 as wa accelenied Hiring to easwre that we are
well-poshlonsd to déliver our cuirant backiog anc aew idon of acquisigon-eiated deferred assockted
with subscAptons and malitenahce also resulled Inower gross magins.

Appratial sevvices. Appralzal sendces teverUe compised appravimately 2.3% of lola! revanye. The applajsk servces [oss maigia dacreazed
0.4% compared to 20%7 dve 0 (hg redurton in Ngher margin projects substantlally compiete by eady 2017 and fower valime of ieventes 4
vy enmhen aodead b3 oo ladesly feed cetrn

cur2ols reased by 0.5% compared 10 2007 Ou: overall gindac: dloaddlo
to aur slafl ana lowar i l sericas, alieat by o H)

Salling, Genweal andd Administrative Expensas

Selling genesal and admiaisitalve {"5GAA"} dapansts conslsl edmaily of satartes, employse benrfils, ray=i share-hased comprasalon
expense, commissions and ehted overhasd cosis for adminishailye and sales sad maikeling employees, as well &, piofessicnaf feos, iade
shaw aciivilley, schmitislag sosts and other markating (ofatud costs. Tho follow'ng dzbla sets 'o:th a comparsan al oy SGRA mpencos fof the
‘pears eiced Lecemder 34

Chamys
e = H %
M thempade} As Mlusted
e —— AT,
Glllng, peend and riatbilnnlie npetien Mu 4175314 § 0169 1%

S84 as a percantaga of revenue was 22.2% in 2018 zamaaned 1o 20,8% In 2017, SGAA mxpense ircreasad app onnalely 18% compated
ta the puie: veer petlod. In 2018, our operating resuks include 331 miflon of 5G3A expenves ks 3azrala from the dale of acqulsitien. The
rerralning SG&A expense Increase Is malnly dua to comoansaticn costielated to Incieased stak levels, Righer stack compensation experse
and [ncreased commisslon expense 35 a result of highet sales, Excluding employees addad with ecculsitfens, we have aaded 47 employess
mainly lo our sales and Anance Luams since Decamber J), 2017, in addidon, aui 2018 stack compacsatin exoense 1asa $I12 milllon. malnly
due lofacroavas i aur $1agk price over the jast few years
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Rassarch and Devalopment Expanta

Rasearchand nan| axpsn Iy of sakalgs, ¢y reialad eveihead costs ssaaclated With naw piodcl
ierelaament. The Inflowing wble tets fenh 2 compatson af ou: cesearch ard declogment wepans2 do: the ye

:s anded Dazember 3z
Chi gt
a1 4 %
11 St
Resedich aid ceveiopwen mpense 13 41534 W%

Pasearch and devaiepment axpens? incieased 34% In 2018 comparsd L6 the prio: yaar padod, makily dus ¢ 2 rumberaf raw Tyler paaduct
daveiapmant ‘nicatives across or product sultes, inciucing (nceeassd investraents In meearch and developmel &t 1acsally acqulied
huslnestes Te suppait these inltialtves, cut rasaarch and developmant slafl has glown by 153 siate Dacambar 31, 20§,

Amortization of Customer and Trads Name Intangibles

hequisition Intangibles a1e compilsed of (ha axcess of the pu:chare pikee over the falrva'ue of net fangltde 2ssals acquired dhat s allocated
¥ acyulied sofiwad, jeases and Quslomer and tidde rame Intanglbles, 1he ramalning axcess puichase crice [s allazaimo Lo gondwl ¢ Lhal is
201 subjedt to amoitization, Amanilalion dxgense related 1o xequhed $5Rvaue kz Included with zostof reyeauss, wile aromzation expanse
of custemer and tade name Intaagbies & recoided as sgeratlag expense. The asiimated usaiut llves of bioth custamer ana (rada rama
fotanglblas ranga fiom fa to 25 years The follewing Lzbla sats feth A compasison uf amarlizalion of custemer aadl lad e nanks incrdhles
{orthe years ended Dacember 3%

Shangy
——e
U [ 3 19
[ At Adjustr
Amotlicatin of enlomes an I1ace mame riangiies 3 $3al $24% 1%
Amotaaticn of customar and rade nama Inlangibles Increased dur t the kguct of INangibrs «IIh goveral acyulsltans

In 200 and 2018,

Esllnated anual amonizallon expense relatlg to wstome and uade name acqulsilion ktaapleks. excuding acquirzd softwaie for which
the amortizelion expense Is lecctded as <ost of 12¥elas, for e next fiva Yeas |5 as Pllows i Lywssnds)

oy $1e488
207 13350
2021 15292
02 JIRTHS
20 s
Thesesfier 5418

Amotizallon cxpanse ralading to 1cGliad [wases wil ba recorded 25 a reductian o hardware and <lher Ikvenie anG Is expacted to ba
$372,000 102013, $3D,G0D i 2020, F312,000 | 2021, 53i2,00 1 2622, $312,050 14 2023 and 5723000 tevealiar,
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Other
Tha tollowing table =e2s terth & P " olhey Incom pessel net for ik w ded Dace whar 3l:

Chaage
§ In toosands] 2 3 %
Other fncons, et $599 280 L]
Cthar¥ lsad ol nterest exp: ol ge ardalhesfees aseaciited wilh si tevehing cledll agreenient ns well as nte rest

Ircome from Invested sash Other Inzome, nel, ingreased conipared 1o the grier periad du to Indteased intn:est kome frany signlficantly
h'gher tevek; f cash and lavestmens wsvlling from cash genatalid in the last year, We had ne diebs In ke csienl pesfod, as wa repald ait
hotrowlngs under {he kevoivng line of cradilm Jawary 2002,

lvigers Tak Proviilon (Beos i
Tha {olkowing tabie sels feith it W gttt the i Dacerbar 3n
Chur
an 20 1
A I Jhousand A1 Mjudled
Tretmd 1as pewisivn denvdly 16,115 $1eEn (284)%
Elfesiive Incom Wi sale G%

The lncrease la the income bix provislon in 2018 15 primaziy dua b e ene-dme G banefil o $76 0 millicn 435 adpted) recognized In the
feurth quacter of 20'7 resulling irom the remeasuienient of defered 1ax agsels and Pabllitles assockated wih flie aretiment of (he Tax 4zl
which educed Ihe slutulory U.s, federal corpoiate Income lax fale from 355 (0 21%, The Increase < somewlial offsel by the decraaso In
shatulery ULS. theftsl compieat Ingoond D rate for 2008 o sdclllide, Tre thacic gpd) wore sk In 208 Az
<ormpaed b0 1% pritr pericd Sloci opbion sxtichie adhity in 2070 ! exeiclsd
Sty iy 2OV gpaperated S0 mellan e bue baspdly

Tae Increase In dhe eifective fncomre (ax rate In 20°8 comparea ta 2637 §s also prmariy attribulable o the gn2-lime lax benei: assoclaled
with tha TaxAct recognlzad 11 2017 and the datrensa in axcess 1ax benefits related lo stock aption exeicises fazlized, offsel by the decrense
In staiwiory U5, lederui comarale income dax ratg for 2038, Excluding the Impacs of she Taa Acl and the ¢xcess lan benefits, out [nedme 1ax
providon and effective 1ax cale in 2018 would have Eozn $42 6 militon and 22 4% and in 2617, wouid have bean SEQ5 1lllion (as adiusted) and
17.0%, respaciively

The effactive kicoms tak rtes In bolh 2038 and 2017 difiejed fzom he stalulory Unlled States federal corporate lnvome lax tate of 21% and

35%, respectively, due to stala fncoma Lawes, the zesearch tax erédit, non-dedy shae-based ¢ expense, disqualftng
Incentive slock oplen dispos'tions, and othey nen-dedueible business evpenses, andin 2017 he domesile praduclion ackivitios deduzton,
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2017 Compared to 2016

Revariues
Software llcences and royalties,
Tae [shiawing table sels fath a comporzonof aus sefware licenses and eyalthzs .evenue [o1 ths years ended Cecember 31

hangs
——
017 0é L] =
(bt s Mt
43 $138 ment —x%
ur L e “

i Do uvd i e I 1a70 %
SiTa s Foane 10 cplliag evttdi o incveaded T comp Iha prlog year, The | s2 In softwara ilcenses and myzltiss I5 altibuted
to addllions Lo cur implerrentation eiall, which moeeasedd 0u: capacity ta deliver basitog.

Althauz! themlco! \s b bsc liceay et

Y a
10 Yids, we oxpact air lonpai-term softwae tceinse growth raie lo be negatively Impactec by B growky aamser of costcrmars thasting our
suescripon-kased optois, @ihar dhan purchasing the seitware Under & tdional perpetual sel'wa:e lkense atangerment. Subzciiglion
ased amangements resuit In iower software ficense ievedaie In the lall y2ar as comparad (0 perpetual toftwnle Icense aiengemants
S peracate higher avaral nivarda o th e ol Lbe casiiiel Ou? i Rant mix In 2007 wat approkimatily 53% sel2evng pevplisl
scfteriw Scense anangenmarts sevd bppemesale’y A% srlediag subsciptiin-beted anengamentt compdind 10 2 dient miy In 301 af
approxImately H8% sefecing eipaiual solviare lkcense asargements and ly 3% selecting subsca; tased anasgamorts,

Subscriptions.
The tollcwing 1ahie 1els [o1th & compar

1ol oulf subscriptions evemse for he years endied Dacember 21

—
b i ] %
{19 oz anfy| 43 Mpted
£ $Is7 $156469 122412 5]
i im 2, [i]
Tota) sabaarig o (roenr L 140 [EET] 2i%

Subserietion-based reveike vilmailly conglsts of revenue ceilsed fiom 0w Saas ar'angemants, which gerera ly udlze the Yyla private
cloud As <t of our wiserlptlon-based se vices. we alsa pravide zlectionic degurs 3¢olullons (“e-filing") that simol fy the filing
and maragsrnt of court related doaiments lor counls and liw afficas. Eing 1evenus Ts darvad from. kansaclion lees and fxsd [ee
Siratgerents,

Substription-based jeverare [ncieased 21% cantpared 1o 2015, New Saas dlents a¢ wal' s mxksdng clieals whe 0ivarled to ou: S2a5 model
provkled the meloty of tha subscilntions raveius ncrease. i 201, we avdad 374 new Saas dlients 2nd 88 exisilog d'enis ekected Lc coavart
Yo our 5445 mode, The ava age canitact slze 0 2017 wera 64%and 44% Slgher than 2015 for new clients and cllems converiing Lo our Ssa$
medel, razpectivaly Also, a-ling cerdzes contdouted g nely S48 milllor o the reverue lncrease ' 2017 Thalncrease
In e-Allng ravemes |s attnbiitad ta new s-&lrg cllnts, 23 wel. as Inerzased volumes as the result of several exd1log clenls mandating e-filng
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Software services,
The loliowlag 1ab%e seds forlh a compason of our sollware sawvlces iavenye foc the years entied Dacertser 31,

Changs
—
817 gl 1 %
3t [bousand} o Adpilsd
o $161,25 $l5i922 $558 %
ur nr LM n
L] LLHE 5%

Seral iR et (ot 3 [

Softwae serviiss rzvewss prmary canslsts of professioral services bllled 1 casnection wilh Implemant'ag sUr soltwars, coverting lfent
data, taking cient pecsornel, custon development aciivitles and consulting New wlerds whe purchase our progelary softwaie ficenses
peneally also contract with us (o provide for the related software sevices. Evietng cilents alsa pedodically puschase additionsl train'ag,

onsulllng and enor progzamming services. Sofiware sandces taerua grew 5% compared to the arar year pertod. This gowih Is part
due le additons da our Implemeatation and support staff, which Inceased ol capaelty ko deliver bacilog and partally due 10 completing
tacopalion of a majory of (he acquisiiion rslated defeirad seqvicq sasante thal was fafi valued at rates below Tylar's avaiaga serdes 1atw in
prlot padeds,

Maintenance,
The folkwing table seis forh 4 comoaitsen of our malnlensance ievinue for tha yaurs anded Decentber 3t

Charge
o 28 ) *
1§ I st} At A
£ ;m o ey S 0
M sy 1 1§
alns et e [T [ 2%

We pravide matnienancs and uppoit services for our software poducls end cemaln thiig-paity soltware. Maintenance reveniie
grewy 12% comprared to the pilos year, Malntenance and support 1evenus Increased maldy di (o growth In ous [astal’=d cuslames base froch
new sofiware license satas as weil 5 annual maintenance rale Inceeases, [n addition, the lncrease i padially di2 1o comp'ating recoartilon
of & majodly ot Lhe acqisRion-salatad dofatrad mall thal was 'afr yalsed at rates bakw Tylar's averga malntanance raledn

pifor pefods.

Apprajsal sarvices,

The follswlng table 1613 forth & compatlyon of our appialsal services revenue for e yeais endad Dacember 31

Chanpe

8 1n tiowsards) %
—%
&)
L3
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In 3017, appiabal seivices ravanve decreased 5% comparad ta the Filar year prmary cua to the suacessiul compiation af sevesal lige
revalvadon profects nr'd 2012 The appraisar sexlees isiass | suinswhat eycliai and driven 1n part by statulesy revaluation cycles In
varlous etales,

COSY OF REVENUES AND GROSS MARGINS.
Ihe followng 2abta sets forth a conparlson of tha key eamposenle of oUi cost of tevenyes fo; the yeass ended December 31

Shinm

o e Py alr Hi 3 *
Soflwina lewazis and wyatfien 1332 I3%
fegu'ied settwara L5k N4
Sofoware ceviees, mainisaanes and wbvIpIong $£1]] 1
Aritatnal setvices 2% i
Earfwie o 1A% U

et oas1 4 Ereny ETE L %
The fliowing tatle sets fo:th 3 comparson of gross margin percentage by reverua type lorthe years ended December 3

20 015 Chat

Grny ma:gfu petcem e As Msted
Softwara lense, mystlies axd eseulred sofware 6% 635% Lin
Seltwacs tarvioes, malnignsnce and whecrplions e 451 (X1
hapeisd ] secioes U2 ws @
Hardmars aric olbwr ®e 3 .8
Dreral quoss Anghn 425% 3% ui%

Soltware licenses, royaties and acqdred software, o4t b sofwaie Brences, 1oyalties and acgulred soltware 1 primadly compdsed at
amoilization expsnse for acqulied soltwais and thhd-paty softvaut cosie We do nal have any direct casts assaciatnd with royalilss. The
dross marpia Wnccease of L% Is due to higher InTaimental margles oh saftwaie cense rmvanues, In par due to «dghLy lower amortizailon
expense lo acquled sottware tesulling liom acguititions,

Soltware setvices, mi]»lenﬂnce and subwipu:ns. Cost of sofiware sarvices, malatensnce and subscrplivns pimally constyts of personnsl
costs rak i cllencdaia, leainfng cllent pei<onnel and suppon activides and vadlous ol~ec services
sich a¢ cusiom it developmantmd on-a¢ing eperaiion of $aas and -fling aranpements. 11 20T, the 1cHwWare sevices, relnlenane
20d subicrptions 8ross malgin Inzreased 0.5% compared Lo the prio” vear, D Implementatton and support stalf geaw by 220 emplayees n
2017. Manry of thy citiens cccutted ta early 1o mid-2017 and ats [l Wa ¥ 2017, Costs lated o nalaterance and vadous
e'her seryices $C 29 3335 and e fling yploaly grow 3t tiowrer 1aty i i Imnsge Inthe n of suppo:s ard
malnlenarce staff and ecenoimles of scale. Rerkiced zacopnition of acqulstion-ralated defermed revanue assecisied wilh 26ftware sarvicas
and malaterance ablizations complated In prior peilods aluo resulad in higher gross marplrs,

Appralsal serdces, bopalsal services 1evanue campiised approximaiely 3 0% of Ll revealie, The appeskzal services gross ntargin decrissedd
27% compared 42 2016 due t the ieducion I higher margin profects substant amglate by ey 2017 and kaver volume of revarues In
tha cuiranl pardcd to cover relatisaly fixed cosls

Our 10)7 dtendad gross marsin shghtly increacad 0.2% compacad ta 20'6. Our cyeiall ciass ma sl was poutively impacked by & proGact m'x
thatIncluded moze highac-margl eeusng eveauas lrom sibserlptions and matilensnce 37wl Improvad margin 0~ leveaues from softaara
Beenses offsat by Ihe lower-mangn ievarkies Jiorr. ap pralsal 3aMcds as dasedbad abaya,
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Selling, General and Admintstrative Eupenses
The Joliswing table sels lotti-a cemparisen of selling, general and adminlstrative oxperses i the yeas endad December 3l
Ghanpe
7 A6 ] *
1§ In hcaseads) A Miutisd

Selitng, geoeia) and o dratalyiralive expenvas 05514 185,076 Slosze b1

SOBA BS a percontage of revenua was 20.9% 1t 2017 comapared ta 2.7% In 2018, 565A e¥pense huretsed azproximvitely 7% malny due lo
compensation <asls relaled toncraased nafleve's, mailtir W highar stock expense. We added 28 SGA employees,
malnly to o 3ales and finanes leams i 2017 ln additivn, o 2017 sloek campensation expense rose 34 7 otllllan, matnly dus to incjeases
in o stock price over the (ast few years,

Research sd Davelopiranl Eipetrie
The fodewing tabls sets forth a rompadson ol our resea-th and development expense fo+ the yeats anded December 3k

Change
¥ o) o 2L 4 %
Researst 114 devsepmocul xprase 032 $an1s S0 1)
e fand 5, oy of et 49 wiopman] of new products and ies from, whsh wa

do nol cLirerlly gensiala 'avenwe. as wel, a5 coels elated ta the eneoing developmant aforls for Mizosoft Dynamics AX Dur conlracsat
rasaarch and development mmllms«t (6 devatop pubic serer functionality fac Microsoft Dynamves AX was amended tn March 2016,
which redieed e i {hraugh March 2018, Howayer, wa continue te provide sustalned englnee;lng and
technical aupport Fai dhe oubllc sector funcllonallly within Dynamcs AX, Licenss aad malntenance iyaltes fer 2ll applikable domssdc and
Intarpatiaral saies of Dynamics AX to public seeior entitias will oontinuz under tha teims of the contrart,

Rezearch and developmak wxpanse nswasqd 10% In 2017 compaied to the prior vea pedad, mafnly dua o reseaich and develapmient
efforts relaled lu new Tyler ploduct development Inftativas, primsdly kn our gukllc safely solllons, affezl by reduced developmerd effonls
tor Microsoft Dynamiis AX. As 2 result of the Mimsoft Dynamics AX we have rede i cestain lop fesaaers
anharee funclionality on several exlsting selutions and (pest comts aie belng reeaided In cost ol revenues — seftware ¢epdeas, maintepanca
and subscdplians.

Amartization of Customer and Trade Nama intangibles

The following table sets forh acompailsen of amertization of custaimer and tade ATz Itengibles for the vears aivied December 3I:
Chioge

2§ in toosssdst aly 215 $ L]

intangibs $33.381 32 e %

cusloster and raie

Amonllraties of customer and ade name fnlangibles $atieasad due ta the [mpscl ol Intangla'es sdded with sevedat 2mall a:quishians
conpleled i 2016 and 2007

0
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Other
Thefollow:nz 1able sels forth 8 campasdson of athe: incams (exipense), ned for tis years ended Dezamber3i;

)i ol 2002 ) 1 x
K Incomq {epanea), nel §63¢ $11.999) $2.896 (]

Qibat 1coma (zagensa) s comprised of Inledest expense and noo-stage and oiher fees associated with ot revolving creal agreaniart as
well ad InlereslIncoma Mo, vested cash. Othe: Inteme {erpensal, ast Mareaced compared to the ptic: teriod s alvibuted te dguifzant;
lowar debl lavels In the cutreat peiled, as v repatd all Dairavdngs uader the ravolving flse nf <red? In larcary 2017, and carrespording.y
rlgher levels of cash lovestaerts

Incoma Yax (Besatti) Pravision
The iolicvdng lable seis dorth a coiriparson of eu: acaine tae pravislon o the vears eided Deceme 3l

207 2045 t %
b ol As fdusld
Ingorse (35 grovitlen [EAH] 2,87 §iesny (2%
Effective ot hit wle [t lez%

Thedecisase [ Tha lncome Lax provistan durdng 2017 wass piimanly dvan by the enactmar! of the Tax Act which redced the siautary U5
federal corparate Income tak @re from 55% lo 2% Tha mpact of (e sate reduction 00 our 2017 Inceme @Y provision s 2 $26.0 million (as
sdjusied) tax bunefil suo 1o the rameasiement of Gefeired lax assa's and fabRilles, Se Hels 7 = “Income Tax" for adciisial Informallon
related %o the Tax AcL The income tax prodslon s alio lower due to Lhe Incizase In (he excess lax benafits fiom sicck: oplien oxercises 13
comped le origy perficd Wa experdunced significant steek aption exercise actkity ln 2007 axd 2016 thal genelated excess 1% benefls
of $406 milBon and $23.6 milficn, sespectively.

Ihechange 1 the eFectyg Incame Iaxrate In 208 4192616 15 alse grimarly talhelrantof the fax Actand the cranges
In excess 1ax benerts relatad 1o stock opller exertlses ibalzed. Exchding the impack of the Tox Atland e axcess \ax kenafils, ou: Incoma
{ax plowmelon and elicclive bk vate In 2017 would have baen $6D.5 mifion (15 adjusted) ard 300%, respectively, Exciuding the ndcess tax
Benefits, our income Lax provislon and effactive 121 i 1n 20)€ would have baen $51 5 milkion (as adjsslet) and 38 0% 1espachyely

The effective Income tx r2las In hoth 2077 and 2016 differed from the skaiuiory United Siates fededal compotale Incame dsx rata el 35% due
1o state Incame hxes the domzstic productan aciviies daductian, s reszwch tax 2redt nen-deductitle shair-based
xERASE, ncendve stosk opal s 5, and othet ren-deditclible puslnass oxpensas
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As of ecember 31, 2018, wn had cash av cash em‘\/a'enls of 51341 miflew cempared Lo $)85.2 Mk al December 3, 2017, We abo dad
3911 Brads c21po; . municlpal bands and assot-backed secwiitles as of Uecember 31, 2018 cemparsd
12 $63.8 militon & r)ecen\bev 3], 2012 Thesz Invesime s matura belwees, 2013 thiough 2022 and we Jal2nd to hald these Investments urtil
matufty. Cash and cash sguivakerts consist of cash on daposit vwath several domestc banis arxl morey mael fuass, As of Decombap
2018, we had nc outstanding horsings and no outsianding letlass of crodi, We belleva ol sevolvirg dn2 of credil, ¢ash &
activities, cash on hand snd accass o the aedil markets prosd2 ws wih sufficlont AoxlbTily to meet ot 3ng-lerm financial needs.

oparties

The [fiaving iakla sets foilh a summary 6f cash Atas lar the yedrs snded December L

i3 it 18t Hig
Gash ow ovided (s by:
Ogertitag nelivles $19555§ 1150
Inwsling ssihllien 185,335 (50,220

i Al {iasi

ey i)
Ral s wizeoe s 1 sod ik sty ; 'alludn T Ena__ 1 el

Net cash grevtded by oparating acliviles sontinues Lo be our pdmary source of funds to inance operating needs and capltal exgendtias.
Other polentlal zapital resources nsfude cash on hand; public and privale Ssvances of debl of enolty securitles, and bank bowewings I
s nassbie that aur abkity tc access te capital and <radht markats i the FJtwa Ray be imdtec by eccriomic tondklons ay cther factos,
We cunently bellave Lhai cash provided by operathig actviLas, casl on hard and available credibave suficlent Lo fund our werklag capilal
requitemants, capltal expendiz.es, income lay, obiaaltans, and shazs repurchases for at least the next twelve months

I 2018, operatlrig activitles peovidedd cash of $250 7 milken compared Lo SR qillion 1 2017, Operating acitviles that provided cash were
pﬁmafly tomprisexf ol e Incomn of $K75 miBlen, non-+ :nsh depreciation and amnilation chavses of ssua mfiker and Gon-cash shaie-

pe £352.7 mllc, Warki By ‘h‘ S
incolyabla bosduse o. an l1u-asa In unkifed ecabal 1 g liam palos M Wby acoraines wisslable
Aty st kgt BIMEH e e el el ey neztilly dsing the pesisd Thase

Inzreases woja offzat Slighliy by the ycwlh In deferred revenue balafczs and fwming of incomp X paymenss.

I general changes in tha balance of defarred revante are cyzilzal and primarly ditven by the dnilng of ou* nialntenance aad subscriptlan
b ngs, Oui renewal dates occyr thiaughout tha year, but six Largest malnlemincs ranewal cycles ocaur in the second and founth quarars.

Days sales putstanding 15 acdorals recelvalile were I days ak Dacembel 3k 2018, compaied ta 102 days at Decoaber 3, 2012 The Increasa
In 9 052 (s malrly dto to an Incrsise b unbiller resetzables atiibuted to the thocase 1o software ficonse venua fo: which we havu
recagrrzed @¥erwe at the polnt la 0ave when LW softwara i eiade a%alfabla o tha customan, but lha Ming has act yat boar submitad
10 (he sustomer, A Incrtase 1 soflwaie seivices contiadls accounied for using p ograss-ta-comploon methad of ieverue recognition in
which the services are gerformed I one aceaunting perod, but the Bilbng ncimalty ccours subsecaently In anothar socounting perkod also
canbinwad 19 the Inzeace b DEC, Furtheimore, our ntalrtenance biling cycle typlcally peats at ts bighest teyel In Jura and sacond highes!
level lo Dusember of eaci yaxr and ks lallawed by coliecions In the subsequnt quadtes, RSO s calculaled based on quarter-and yccounls
recatiable faxciuding long-taim recelvables bul nciudlng inbliled recalvables) dvided by the quolent of ansvallzed quazlerly revees
ohided by 36C days

Invasiing actiules used cash of $238.3 millox bn 2018 compared ta 3854 miRon I 2017 We Irvested 5115.6 mFl'on and recelved $21 2 miHon
In preceeds For Invastmant grade cerporate bonds, municipal honds and asset-bacied secuniles with matudty dates :anging Yam 2008
thiough 2022, Applaximalely 5274 mlllicn vas Invesied in prape(ly and equipment, primadiy far compular equtpmenl, furnilure and fpduees In
support of intormad growth, partieulady witk iessect lo our cloud-based offedngs We pald $2 2 wifan (o the expanslon of oxfsting buildings.
Qn Dacember7, 2018, we acquiced certsin astels Ind (nteliectual proparty of ScenaDoc, I, a company thal plovidas roblle=fist, Saas field
ceporting to: taw eaforcemenl dgeadas, The latsl puichase price wes opiosmately 56 2 miltion, of which §5.4 milien vas patd n cash and
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approxiakely $759,000 accrved for a warking capiul holdback, On Colobas ), 3018, we acqulied all of the equity ncetasze of MablieEyes, &
<ompy Al dovelops flyiale LG Irpnsye pUBUS safaly by supaniukig Tre prevenlian and sapsiosvien eirsgercy respenaa, ana sbuckural
salety. Tae total purhaze piles we apprcxinata'y 5.3 mfllaa (n carh. On Ausust ¥, 2013, we acgulied all of tha assels of Caseload?RC, 7
company that provides a fuiiy fealuied prabalion case menagament sysler, Tha purchaze prlca of 03 i ilon was fald i cash, Qn Apill 39,
2013, wa asqued all of the caphaistone of Sc2rat3, a company ihat providas open oata and data-as-a-se5¢a <olthard zluding coud-
based dala Inepration, sbuaizatlon, 2nalysls, and tagorting solulions for stete and lacal govainment sgenches. The puxchase price, net of
vash acquied of $1Y i tan, was $476 miltkin p2izl (r cash. 90 At 20, 2013, we acqulied nll of the squiy Interests of Saza, a oybeisacuilty
cempany ofofing 4 sulte of sarvices that suppoils an antire clipreauilly ifkcyvie, Inciuding progiam devilogment, edication and lrairing,
Raziintzal besling, adkdsory sendzes, aad dighel lorensies, The total purchase orce was $T16 relion palo in cath These expendaures wer
fended [corr cash genesated itom oa2fallons

In 2017, wa Invasled 3538 millen and recalved $288 mmillbn In procends fram investment grada carpoiate bondh, munkepal bands and
asset-backed seq Acproximately 242 ] million was ivesled I, property ang ezuloment Ve surchased an office Bullsing In Latham,
New Yo:k fo) appsoximately $2.8 mllian and pald $2 millan for dU-idtog Impicvements. Yz patd %9 4 milan by cOnSEUCtian 14 expandaur
cifica Wi ding in Yarmouth, Malne. We a'so mada tive e smali 3cqulsitiors W1k 2 combined cash putchasa pree of 3.3 milon. The reateing
addlons ware for compuled equipment, fuinitore and fixiures In support of [ateinad growth, particulady wilh 23 ect Lo ool datd-tased
offarings. These expenditures were funded from cash generated om aperadans

Flaanelng activiles 14 2017 51 ki f savolvi=glins of fselby eofleclens of $36 9mlilas fom
stock option axertlses and amiployes steck urchase pla acitty, We aiw purchned aparoximalely 44,000 shaies of Ur cammon slock fa)
an agriegate purchaze pilce af $6.6 mililon.

IR Febuary 202, avr board cf direclars autharlzed ihe repurchase of an addidanal ] 8 milion shares of Tykar cammon si6<k, The epurch3se
progear, which was appioyed by aur board of difacto:s, was aanounced In Oftohier 2002, and was amended 2t vanous (lmes fism 2003
thiough 2018, As of Fednunry 20, 2019, we had 1erining te 1227 millco i our lack.
Our share fepurchiase progeasm atfows Us 10 tapurchase shares Bt our Giziretion, Maiket conditions ‘nftsence the Urnfng of the uvbacdks and
the m.mber af shares repurchasad, as wall as the voluine of employea stock option exerdies, Share sepuxchases aie generally lunded using
ou eskling cash balanies and dozrcvings under our cezalt faciity and may OTLUF NSUB h dpen marke: pUithases 324 bantte Hons stuclured

rrarl bankleg utllulions, privaiely and/ei sther Theie 's s enpliatlon dale spezifed fof
& agtlzation und we nlend to regsurchase slock undle the plan llonk ine to tme,

On November 16, 215, we aaterad (210 a 5300.0 milToa Cradht Ageeemant (Ihe *Crads Faclity™ with the vatkaus eraars pacty therelo and
Wells Faiga Bank, National Assoclatian, &5 Adilalstrative Adant, Tha Crecll Facl !y provides fof 2 ‘avoldag credit lina of up ko $209.0 illtan,
Inclisding a $10 O riiton sublirh for tetlers of ecedH. The Tredlt Faclity matures cn Movanbet 16, 2020. Barrowiogs ude the £:edit Facliity
may ba used foi gzners! corporate pwESses, Includine working capital requitenients, aceir'sltiens and share repuscheses. Bosiowings under
Ihe Credi; Facllity bear tlerest al a fate of ethier (1) Wells Fargo Dank's prime raie (sublect to cettals Righer e ceverm’nations) plys & magia
@0 25% 12 | GO% of (2 (he 30, 60, 30 a7 B0 day LIBOR reie plus » margin a° 125% to 200%. As of Deceriver 31, 2013, oL Taierest fate wes
5.75% Lndet lhe prime rate opilon or appicximalely 3 773 under the 30-day UACR oplian, The Ciedit Faclly ' sozured by sudslaalally all
of our assetu. The Crerllé Fanlity sequited ws sa malllaly cerlain finrncial raties aid ather Anartal oonditens aad prabibils us fo makng
ceataln Investments, advancas, cash dividends or lnans, end Pils tncurence of adational widablearans andd Kenz. At of Decegrier 31, 2013,
we wera [n conplianca with those covananla,

As of December 31, 2018, we had na outstanding borrdw igs and had unused botrowdng capacky ef $300,0 m Klon unda: the Cradlz Factly.
‘We peld Inte:es! of $770100C |n 20i8, 304,002 In 2017, av2 $19 milkion In 2016,

W pad Inceme tkes, et of reiundts tecalvad, of $6.8 :nllilon \n 2018, $35.0 miillon |2 2017, and 5362 milion In 2916 in 2018, we expeilenced
significanit stock aption exercss aglvity thal ganeralad net ax beneiils of $325 miltlon acd reduced tax paymerts accoranglv, [n 207¢ and

2016, excess lax benefila wera $40.6 inllicn avs $29.6 milion, respectively.

A L A
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Candition and Results of Operations

We anticipsta that 2019 capital spending wil; 5& betwaen $54 millian and $56 milhan, Inckidleg aoproxdnalely SI6 milton relaled 10 real
Eutats and appredmataty 36 miillen 5f capitalized sofoware developmen: We gxpect lhe malarty of the other captial spending will <enslzt of
“ompiter auipment and sattware fof [¥astusture teplacemets a4 ezparsion, Capial spencing s excested to be funded from exkting
cashbalanges and cash flaws from operalions

On fanuary 31 2019, we entered |n ta & Merger apeament to acquiie 100% of the zyully lerests of MP Helding:, Pacent, Ing, ¢ha MicioPass
MicroPacl’) {or Live anicioated puschase price of 5185 milllor, In cash at cheslng (subject o possibla adiustments zod Foldback) alrs
contigent Cansideration rotto exceed $16 mil'an. The completion of the acqulsRlon I subject ta customaly cioslng conditions, iacluding the
explation o7 the terminalion ¢f the waking per'nd unde Lhe Hait-Sectt Roaing A2 ust mprovements Act, The Federal T:ade Cormnbsien
sranted gacy eminatien of that valting perdad eifecllve February 15, 2012, The carh parlion of he mei geT Zansideration wii s tun-led rom
cash on hon and pieveeds from the ravolviag erediL facllty.

G Febroary | 2019, we acqulied ail the amels of Civiz, LLC CMyClMcY), a company thal praddes scfiwase sclallons 1o copnect
commualties. The purchasa price 15 53,7 mlliler: of whice S53& willdon was pafd In cash and approximaiely 590,000 was accrved for &

From Hime 1o time We engage i dlscussions with patentisl acquisibon candidates. In order to pusmye wch eppoioniien, which could requlre
signfiant commilmenis of capilal, we may be required 15 lecur debt of Lo Jesue addBtenal golenlislly il five vadutiies b tha uru'e, s
a5s0N <R ;an be Fiven &5 to auf Pl acqisitior and bowr such wili be finranced

We lease ofice facllties, a5 well as and othet pmenl Used 'n oup Cnder non-¢ancelable operalng lsace

Agreements exphing 2l varfous dales l‘\.oueh 2078,

Summaized in:he lable befow ez au 1 ke re payrs Lhe CiediL Fa<IRty and lease oblizallens at December 31,
2018 (i thoycands)

i 20i0 2021 e 3 Thesaalier Talal
Revoling I!ne of cred® - - b - I 31— 1 3 -
Leas chliratnes Ll s 18 L (X1 LI nan
Telal ison pe ot tp st Ha 35Ul [EEH LK [N T O TR
A5 of Uecainbar 31, 2018, we deppl hava [-bal ehcal 4 1o third-paries o malenal

exzep( (or the 0prrUNE lease commitmeals listes sbavs,

CAPITALIZATION
Al Decamber 3), 2018, our o consisted of and $43 ollllan of " equlty.

QUANTITATIVE AHD QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUY MARKET RISK.
MNarkst dek apeesante e tlsk of |oss (hnk imay affecl Us dus to adversa changes Tn finandal marke| pites and Inletest rales

[ 2018, ur 2ffective ayerags [nterest rata for botiowtngs Was 5,22%. As of Decembet 31, 2019, out Intarest ia was 5.75% under the pe rata
option o appioxiralely 3,77% under the 30-day LISOR optlon. The Creit FaciBly s secured by substantally all of cur assats, Leans under

1k Cradit Faclity Bear Interst, at Tyler's oplion, 3t a per arawim (ateef ehes (1) Iha Walls =amo Bank piime iale (subiect o celatn higher rata
determinarions) plus a marsin of 025% ¢ 1L0G% o (2) the IO, 60, 90 ar 180 -day UBOR fate plus a macgin of *25% Lo 2,00%.

Ag ol December 11, 20i8, we had no oulstanding borowings under ths Ciodd Facility aad theiefere are not subject 1o any Interest sk,

TYLER TECHNGLOGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES,

Evalualion ol Disclosurs Comrmls and Procedurés — We ma'htain dislesire conliols anc praxed=ies (1t <afined In kuls 13a-12e) of 1o
Seauilties Exchange Acl) deslgned to provide sersonabile assurnce thvd the aforrtian lequired ta ke discios2d By 03 In 1he 19pols wa
Rl ci wbmit ulor U Ex: Aclis rucordud, prosussed, summatzed srd seperted salply e Ure pereds spreiind i Use 2
«uins and forms, Thawe [neluds ecntrols and procdures destaned o answre that s infoumation 5 accumulated as4 commynicated to
o rr.ma;rmm. Inchuding a0 chlef axeculbve affcer and ¢hel finantlal cificer, as anproprale b ailow imely dadtslons icgarding remilred

with the pavlici; 1 of Lhe chief exs offica and crief finan 1t eficr, pvaksaled the offa Stivaaass of our
dhsclosiste conf.rols and pieceduies as af December 3, 2518 Based on this e Lian, the chief execullve clfiver and <hict figanelal effizer
have concfuded Lhat our disclostin canlfois anc piocadurss were efleciive a3 of Dacamber 31, 2014,

Manag=rrent's Report on Inlewnal Conlol Over Financlal Repotiing — Tyler's maragamedt Is sespansible 126 e2(ab jching 2nd malrtaiplng
effactiva inlernal cenlrel wvar Arancial repallhig 23 denud ln Securtios Exchange Act Rule 135150, Tylkr's IMerral 2nalrol ever finas
@E2sting 15 sieslgnad to provide revconable assutance Lo Tyler's managemeat a1d bosrd of alieciois regandlag (hs grepaiation ans
presantaticn ot hed hoancial staterrents.

Recause of s ieharenl imitztlons, Inlerna’ contes over frandxl /aoorilnp may net prevenl sl Jetect misstatemants. 1hereiore, aven those
sytlains detsmmimac ta ba aflective can provige orly feascaahla assumnce Witn respect Lo firanclzl stalzmant prepavaion ond Diesenlaian

Monagemen| assessed Ihe sifectiveness of Tyler's Wilemal control ax'r finardlaliepeilng as of Decernoed 31, 2018.in A1aHA (7ls ass2zsment,
ranageme "Lused Lhe cillarta sat foth by the Comnilles of Spoasailae Grganizaticns ef the Timabway Corminisslon RO( lramewerid (the
GOS0 cltea), Sasesy On 0 Assessinenl, we conxivded thal, 35 of Dacembe: 2, 3018, Tylar's Infemal conlred ever Rranclal reporting was
eRfective based onthora nilleila,

Tyler's Intemal canltol over Avarclal raporsing as of Decembar 31, 2098 has been audied oy Emst 4 Youra LLE, tha Independent 1eglslered
Public accounting fi'm wha al=n sudlled Tyler's Anancial statameals. £:nsL & Young s ates’alien fepadton “Yler's Inletnal copticl aver fivandsl
18p1ting appears on page 42 hereaf.

Change4 Inintemal Coateal Qvet Flnancial Reportiag — Durlng the quarnar encled Dacember 31, 20i8, there wera o changes In oux internal
contrl ave: Snancial eperling, #5 defined In Secudles Excharke At Rule M3a-I5(). \hat malerady atieclad, o are reazonakly likely |
materaly aff 3ct, our lntemal eaatrel svar iaanclal reportng,

:
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Report of ndependent Registered Fublic Accounting Firm

To the Sharsholders and (he Board of Directors of Trler Yactmologhers, b,
Oplalon on the Financiad Stalements

Vén tava duoed (g acccnlp«nvlng :or\aol)dmd balance shopts of Ter Technaloglas, Inc. (he Campany) b3 of Dacember 3, 2018 and
200/, 'he relsled ive [ncome, cash flows and shatehaldess' equity (3¢ each of the thies yeats Inthe

bei 31, 2018, and Lhe relalad not interod 108 the lal ). In vt cpinten, the
consollalad finandal slalements presek [ally, n all material vespects, tha fmandial pesllion of the Compary at Dacember 3), 2GI8 and 2017,
and the resulls of Iis. opelatlons and tts cash fows for each of he thres years In he perad ead 31,208, cmity whh US
geneialy accepted accountiag prraciples,

We alss hava atidited, In accordance with (ke standaids of the Pubfls Company Accounting Owerslght Roasd {lnited Stadzs) (PCAOR), the
Company's Inteinal conlrol ovar financial reperting as of December I, 2018, Rased oa Gltella 25tblished In (niainal Corerct-integratad
Framreivolk Issued by the Commbtes of Spoasatng Organizatians of the Tiesdway Comlssiun (2013 fiamewoik) and our report daled
TFebiuaiy 20, 2019 vxpressed an unqualfiza apinion Lhereon

As dlseussed In Note 1o tne conse [datedd finandsl stalements, tve Company changed ils methad of accalinting tor ieverme In 2016 due
15 the addpien of Axound'ng Standards Update (ASU} Ne, 2¢14-09, Revenua fiom Coatracls with uslomens {Tople G06), and 1he telaled
aT.enimenls.

Rasis for Opinion

h W e i1ty o the Cumpary's Our Wty is ta ey opiniun arthe Company's
rman:ul statornents bazed on ery auits We ase a puble sccounting & m 1egisketad with the PCAOB and are joquized L be independent
with rezpect 1o ihe Company In accordence with the U S, fadera’ securkles laws and L and regulztions of the Seaurklss and
Exclvnge Commissian and tha PC4OB,

We copducted or audlts In atcorclance wih she slandards of tha PCAOS, Those standatds redutia that we plan and paform the audit to
oblajn masonable assurance abes: witelher the financial slatemants ace fiee of material miss\alamar:, whether dde W aror or feaue. Cur
audils Inchude perfatming procedures le assess iha risks ol [URICES nissulenenlov the financiat statements, whelher due ta ear o fraud,
arvd prfemiag thate s Sk pded 5o atei bale sviderce megsd e the anali

s My Dueauits alss ncluded evaluntinz b2 accounting principles usedand stanifizant 2atmales made
By meanagement, a8 well as evalvating the overall presentation of the finandzl stalements. We beliave that cuj audils p/ovida a resonable

basfs loz ot opinkon,
ém’t v

We have se:ved as the Compary's auchor since 1966,

Oallas, Texas
Februaly 20,2019
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Ta the Shareholders and lhe Board of Directors of Tyler Yechnologias, Ix.

Opinion on Imernal Control over Financlal Reporting

Ve have audltad Tylér Tethnelogle: 6 lnleinat conlrot over finaneial re:mllnq 3¢ ¢l Ogcomaed 3), 2013, basedd on colte:ls astabizhed In
Intevnal Coatict-Inteytated Framewcii issved Ly the Commiitee of of she Teeadway Commission (203

{the CE0 2riter'a). In oL oplXior, Tyler Tachno!sgles, Inc. (the Company) ms nla.'tad. in ail matenizl raspe<is, effeclive Intamnal ¢ontrol avar
fingr<lal iapotting ds o Decwimbar Ji, 2019, Baseo an the COSO Gllein,

We alsa haye audltzd, In accordanzz with the stawdeids of the Public Company Accountlzg Crersight Goand (United States) (PLAQBY,
canso¥daled balanca sheats of the Company a3 of Decembar 3, 26:8 ana 2017, tie related cansolldated slalements of comp:eheasive
Income, shatehaiders' aqulty and cash fcws for each of the thisa years n the perlcd anded Dacember 21, 20(2, and the ralated nates and our
1epoct daled February 20, 208 explested anunqualdied cpinlan theteon.

Basis far Opinkan

The Comnpany’s mansgement |s resgcislste far mantalring effectva Intsrnal contiel ever hnandlal roparting and o+ s 2a3813meet of lhe
eifecUyenessof litema) conlrol over nardairepeniig lrciuded tn The accompanying Maréaement's Ponall on Infefral Conliol Gver Flanslal
Feoating Sur responsitity is t3 expiess an opfnlon on ine Conipary’s Inke:na; ccntist nancial jecarting bazad on cur sudit, We are
u priblic secouniisg firm reg'stesed wilh the PCAOB and are racvired Lo beindepandent with respect to the Corrpasy liy acgurd anen with the
US. federa seanliles laws and the applicabla 1ies and meutations of the Secuiltles and Exchanga Cominksstan and the £CA08

Wa conducted our audlt In accordante with the standads of the PCAOS. Those stacdauds reguie 1 wa plan and perform (ha audlt 1o
oblain reasorablo assuiancn aboul whelier efocle Internal conuol inet financlal sapoiting was minlaineLtn al malarial mspecte

Qur poit eludad obtaining s imdatstancing of lte:nal canirol Svar finandhtizporing, nssessing o dsk {hal 1 mateiia! weakneat axdsts,
{esting and svalualing the design and cpenllag siiacivaness of lterull consal sed on tha asoessed risk, and gedlerming such oiber
procedus a3 vie considened recessay I the clicumuances. We betleve thal our audit provides a 1easenable basls for oui ap¥aken.

Cafnkion and Umitaliohs of Inierhal Coniral Over Financlal Reporting

A company's inlenal conkol ovar porllgls a process desi) i o pravide b garding Ihe reflabilty a! financlal
tepoebing and the preparaton of financial statereals fo7 exloinal purpases in accesdang? viith gengmlly Atepled 2ccaunling orinciples. A
company'd Inleinal conlroi svar inancial reponing Inchedos tise patlclas and procadyies that ) pejlan P the masntenarce of (ecosds
thsl, ir, reasopatio defall, scaralely and faiy reftzcl )he bansaction: ard dispostions of \he asiety of the company: (2} provide reascnatle
asswiance Hhal lransactons aye fecarded as aecessay Lo peimi tion of francl n whh geaeilly accopled
accounting pindoles, and that recelpts and expondiiuies of the compary ane aaln,; raade om; |ﬁvmm ek, uniw‘n':u nt
management and diraciors of tha corapany; ond () ziovde maly d
acquisitien, uss, af dispasiion of he compary's sssals that could have a maleral atfect on the nnandai slnlemen-'s

Becawse of 113 Inharent Frdlatlons, Internal conlcl over fnancal repo:Ung may ncl pravery. of delect misstalements, Alo, pedjeciions of any
evaluallon of elfectiveness te fUiur pezlot’s are sunject to tha rak that cortroly may becema nadequate Because of changes In conditiang,

orihal the degres of with \he policles o/ Ny de
é««wﬂt v MLL?

Datias, Texas
Febay 20,2000
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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JYLER TECHNOLOGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Notes to Consolidated Financlal Statements

(Tahles in thoasands, excenl pef thaie daln)

(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACGOUNTING POLICIES

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Wea provide Rlagralad software syst=ims and wlsted sendces K7 ihe public sector, with 2 focus on tocal severnments. We develap and magkat
abroad line of softwara colutlnns ang services to address tha Information leckralegy (1T7) peedis 2f <INes, cotntias, sshoaks and alher loeai
goverament enttles. i additicn, ve provide prafesstonal:T sendces, Jackading soNtware and hardware Instatlaten, daia conversion, gainlng,
and [of certalp suctomels, ploduct inodificaons, aleng with continul1g malntenance and soppelt 1ol cusiomers Using out systems. We alse
provide tubacrprion-based sepvices such as soltware as a sendee (SaaS”) arrangemeats, which piimart y villlze the Tyl prvate dovd, and
electranic dozument iiling selulioas Ce-fing?. In 2ddiBon, we proviie prope:ly appralsal outscurcing senvices tor tadlip [urtsatictions

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The z | ] Sribdinra g ahleh e whlld-semed AR figaticant Intadcormpany
balapces and transachlons have keen afm/raled in consolidation, Comptghentive Income 13 defned 3¢ ks thange In ¢4Lly o1 3 business
enterpilse duilng & cetod fism Uansacians, and olher events and d:cumsianees fom non-owrer sauces and lacludes ell compaients ¢f
net Income (10s) and other compirhersive Income Qoss) \We had o ltoms of athar caTiprehens've 'ncome {Joss) Gurlng Ihe yexs endad
Dacamber 31, 2015, 2017 and 20'C,

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Zash!nexcess cf that necessarvfor Mehly figuld, I -produdagl

U, nilgmal matugties of thiee manths o1 tss are elasstiied a5 rash azd rash equivalents, which pimadly cansst & cash an deposit willy
several baths and money markel funds, Cash snd <ash equlvalents e sdated ab cost, which appraxmatss marked value,

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Nature of Products and Services

We eain evenir fram software licenses, rovolties, subscrpion-based scrrices, softviaie semdzes, pest-contiact customer suppoit (“PCS™
or “rrainterance”), hardware, and apivakeal sevices. Raverue (s mroanlzed upon lransfer of conliof of promised producls or sendces o
cwstomes fn an emoimt that raftects Ihe cons'derstion e exoect lo receive in exchange foi thosa products of sarvces, Wa datermirs
revenue ecognlifon Ibrouhthe foliowing steps:

« Idenlification of Lhe cont'adl, of eentiacls, with 4 custol
BT of lhe bigalons in lne contracl

v Detzimizadon of the lansacibon price

» Alincal'on of (he Uranzactina price to the peiformance ob.gations I the contract
»  Fecogniilon of zevenue when, ot as, 4¢ satish' & pailormance cbligation

Mast of our schiware arraigements with o ia mullipte 2 2 it that range lror softwvaie licerses, Installaticr,
tralnlng. and capsuling Lo 2otlwars modification and custemlzallante imeet i cAc GuRlomr nveds serieas), hostnm, and PCS Forhase
contiacts, we ancount fof Individual peifemance chligations separaely when they are distingt. We evaluate whether separale performance
abligatlons can be distinzt or shouid be accounted for as one parfornance sbiigadun. vrangemenss that Includa softwaie servites, such
a¢ Leataing o7 tnstallation, are cvaluated 1o delermine whethar Ihose se-vices are highly lataidependent a1 Interelated 1o the ploduct's
lup cllonality. The Wansaction oz Is &located Lo (ha distinet an a elative standafone salllng pilce 5P basls,
We deteimine the 55P based on our avenl( piiing otjeciives, taking int¢ conslderatinn markes condivans and other facco:s, Including tha
value of our canlracts, the oppltikatlens sold, customer demographies, and the number snd types at users wilhln cur conhaets. Ravanue
Is rezngnized net el al owances for sales adlssmenls and any taes collected ficm customd whizh ars subsaquently iemitterd to
govainmanlz] suthorites,
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Saltware Asrangenents;
Saottware Licenses and Royaltles

Many of cur seftware arangements Invelve *cfi-lhe-shell* softwale. We recognizs the re veitue allozable (0 “a4-the~<kall* softwars lcenses
and spacfied upgrades at a pointin lims when conlrol al iha soflware license liensters to the cuslomer, unless le soliware [s pel cops derad
distnee Yo censider Sff-l; hall software Lo he ILear 52 added 1 vdlh Mt changsz in the Lrderlylng code,
1\ zan be Used byha zuttame) for Lhe cusiomer's Suipese upos. tpskaiailon, and renalnlng sevicss such as talning a-e not consjdered HeHly
Ineeraependent i Intenelaled Lo the product’s funciionalty,

Feramangernents that[wwo.v2 darificant producion, nadificatiac o cuslamization of (ke seliwars, o whare saftwate sanices ae oihpiwise

ol 1 1 2 re bymeasirng pregl rellon We maasuee progrezs-le campletlon p:l Hadky
wikg lator kowrs Incured oz I\ bait depins e trans’er of <enliol 12 the cusiomer which azcurs as we Incir cosis on out conlracls, Thesa
e ofler ling ovar wed pernd and 1ar§dre Us I vedie alal cost eslimatas, Amouats tacognlsd,

rales, Changsy
<onttacts are

In réveaue are eslalaled uslng the progress-la-complelorn meazuremenl a'ter ghdng effect 1o a7y changes In oul cosl estl
15 10lai estimeted contrast costs, I any. ar¢ recordud in the beiiod they are determinad, Estiraled fosces on o ng!
meanrded i Ihe ratkod In whicr we firstdelerming Ihat 2 loss i appareat

Softwara llcersa faes ajo bliled in accordance Wil the contretl lems, Typha Yy, 4 malodly of (" 'se | dus whan access to tha scfvare
llcenise Is rada avatlside to the customes and the ramelrde: of the (e due oves a passaga of Une siputsted <ontiad, We recard
amnunts that have besn lwolcad Inaccatsls recelvable and in deraried lavenue o1 rewenues, depending ca whesha: the reverue rezopn'tion
aillek have baen et

'We recagnize royalty everile when the sale becurs undey azms of put third- rayalty ar2nzemasis. Cutraetly, our thld-party royaitfes
are recognlzcaf on ar: estimated basls ard zse tued Wp when we rscelve nbdlee of amoun:s we arz enlitled 1o mesive We dplcally recalve
notwe of iayally revarves vic ae eatilied to 2nd blled 04 & quarerly batls In e qualat Irandiately lellowing the rovalty reperting Fariad,

Softwara Servicos

As naled shove, fome ol ol soltvaie awadgsemenls 'neuds sevices onsideced higbly aaidepaidert ar hizhy interreleled or 1eaulre
slgnificant auistorzalion to mesl M2 cuslomers desied funciionalny, For Ihase sofware aiangemsns, belh he sditware lIzenses and
related softwarz serdees revenue s not disiict and are recogalzed over Uma uslrg Lhe progress-le-complellon methos, We measlye
pioeres s-{(n-campletion pdmad y Lslng l2Bor haurs ncuired as it ke st de okats the Lansfer ofeonuol (o the cuzlomer which acculs as we iclr
cosls an aus zontrazis Contracl le¢s are typ! blil=d o a mmil2stone basis as defined within cot tact lerms We tecoid amounis that have
been [nvokced Inaccouns raceivabia and ln efer:ea revepue cr -evemees, depanding on whelher tha rzvenue recopnltian crkefz have been
met. When saftware seréres are distinct, the fee allocabln 10 tha rervice elemond |5 (6703nize:d over the \ne we pesform tha sapdcas apd {:
Eifted en a tme and matedal bas's,

Poat-Conbract Customer Suppert

Our ausiemers genedally enter Iita PCS agreements whin ey purchasa our software licenses PCS Includas telsnhone suppan, Big fves,
and rights o uparades on d Wwhen-and-ff avllable Sssks, 2T 1 considered d siinct when, pyrchasad wih 2u1 $ajtwara licenses, Qur PCE
agremenis ore typlcally enowatle annualy, 205 f roagnized over Hme on 8 shiaight-line basls ovee ihe pedod tha s o:ovided All
sIgnican) costs ard expenses assoc’atad wilh PCS ala expensed as Incured

Camputer Hardware Equipment

Revenua aliocablz to compiier hardware equipment ' recogrived az & polnl in time wher contre? of the 2guiptnent % tianstened to
Ihe customer
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Subscriplion-Based Servcas)

Fabirpipd d A M ciMea the Tyler private cioud, and elscironk:
filng Jansictions, Rovanue lram stbsedpbion-dased servicas |5 gans’ally racognized aver I'm2 on 3 fateble basts evec the canlidct barm,
beglnning on tha daia thatour serdee 5 made avallabla wo (ke custiomer Cur subserption contacts are Zenaidy thise lo Fez yeats or longa
Iryéenath, blled annualy In advance, and non-zancakzole.

For Saa% arangenrents, we evaksate vihether the custemer has the conlzactual ilght to take possezslon af our software at any tme during
Iha hoyling rer:z«S without slgnlicant panaily 3ivd whethar tha cusiome: can feaslbly malnla'n tha software o5, the cusiamer's hardware of
erter nte anothe) aTangament wip a third-datty ta host lhe sultware. We alipeale conlrart vaue 16 each gaiformanca cblzatien of the
afrangemant fhat qualties for realment 35 a distazt element based on estmated SSP, Wren 1t s delzrmined thal sclcw2re [s disting!, and
Ihe customer has tha abkity 1o taka control of the saftwald, wa 1ecognize revsnui allorabls ta the ioftware (lcanse fee whad access lo the
saftware ence ks made avallable 1o the zustomer, We recernize hosting services miably ovar the tezm o the arrargemen, which range
fram oae 15 ten years hu are typlcally [3t a pettod of Uuae tafive yeals. For software senvices assodated witn cerlaln Saas azangements, we
have concluded 1hat the sewvces ar pol distlrcl and we 160> 30122 tae revenue Jatably over the remalothg contructtal peifod a~ve wa have
arovded The custemeraccess to the soRware, \We record 3-aunts that have been ryolzad In accaunis recelvable and In defersad evenda or
javanuas, depend'ng on whethe: the cavanile iecagaitkan silteria have been mat,

Elacirane Aling transaction faes pronarily porlaln Lo duumerts Sed vith tha cowls by ntlorheys ard ather thlrd-partes wa o 4
supvizes and reuleval of Dl docornts via rm afcnss seavtens Sor cach documentdled wilh a cedrl, the fter genarally poys a Liansaclic
sk d the ifna fea Lo (e cousl nvenue the lmnsaclion fes,
white the portion of the tmnsa'llon few rem ed 1o (he couns 5 racordad as casiof sales a5 wa afe acling as a pring'pal In the arangement,
Court fling faas coMlcledd on beh3ll ol the cewsts dnd remilled 1 \he cobrs ar2 pacorded an a pel basis apd thus do ol affect the slatement
af comprenensive lcome, En e=[Ting Iransaciton leas, we have Lhe dght 1o tharge the cusiomm(an amount ihat direclly correspands with fhe
vajus 1o the cugkamer of our pefaimaace L9 dale, Thetefers we r2cogniretavenie o chese serizes over ime basad on the amount bi(able
\c the custemar in actordancs wilh he ‘as Involee ' praclical expedientd s ASC 626-10-55-18 fn some (3s¢s, we are pald ona ired lee bus's
and recognlze ha cevenue salably over the contracius, pedad.

Costs of pasfarming suvices under subscripran-dased apangements ace axpansad at Indned, sxcept ol carlaln direct and ‘ncremental
roptact ofgirdtion and sec-up costs sesocdated with Saas Sueh i ect ard i enlal costs ais cagliaiized ana anordzed
tatably a2 the usalul e,

Appraisal Services:
For our prepeity eppialial prolects, we Iecogilze (avenus using the progess-lo-commplerdan method since many of (heza piojecis 2ra
implemanted over one la thiee-year petkdls 2rid sonsist of va i lque activides, Appralsal seivk Na asignficant teve! of

and Inteidependency with varous Individuzl sewi<e compenents; theiefore, the service components aie ok consldered disdnct. Apprasal
cervices are [ecoghl¥ed ovér lims &/ MBasudng pmgrss-to-complation primaaty uskng labor ivaurs Incuired as i bast deabts the ransfer of
conTolta the cusiomer which eeeuts aswalncur casly an QUr coriadls, These anangaiments aja eftenlmplementad over an extended pedod
and occasionally fequlre Us 10 4152 tolal cost edimatas. Amsunts recognized in ievenyp ar caladated ushng the progress-1o-compledon
measurernanl afler giving efect o any ¢hangss in our cost sstimalas, Changes Lo tofal estimated contiact sosts, I any, aig (earded In the
perlod Lhey aie deteimined. Esbmaled 103595 on uncompleled cartitacts aré tecerded in the veriod In winch we firsl delermbie thataloss is
apoarent Conliaci faas ana typleally bitiad ana smilestone basks as dsnadwithin conltazttsrms. W rezord 2oty thal haye been Invelced
It aceounts lecebie and tn daferrad reveni= orievénues, depending on whathet the evenue recogaition citerfa have bzen met
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signlficant Judgmants:

Qur ¢anlsots with cuslomers afien Indude muillple prifeiman:e ablgstons o a cestamen, Whea s saftwere s'magement (leanse or
<ubserpian) Incjude: both roftymin lizensas and sefvaie sorees, [udgment Is movirzd e delermilna whelkar tha software tkense ks
cansidered distacl and accobntedd for saparately, or no’ ditinct arvl azcounted for logether with the softwate serdces ang recosalzed
e Hme,

The Wansacton pikce Is aitcated Lo the sepaiale performance whligatiors on .elatlye SSP basls, e defectrire the SSP hased om our eyerall
pricng abjactives, taklng Into corsideration maiket conditoay, ard other lactols, 'nelud'ng the valiie of cur contia<ls, the apalications sold,
cusiomer demogiphiss, and the ~umbsr and types: af users whhis ou1 Conlracts. We tse a range of amouals (o asitma’e £3P when we sell
each of ihe pradu: 13 arl sevices sepazalely and meed (@ delziming whelber there s 3 diccount Lo be allocaled based cn Whe relahye 559
of he varlous preduwzds and services. In Irslances where 352 i not dlraclly observabie, suzh as when we do ao! s2ll tite prosus or serize
separalely, we deteirilne 350 uilng (he axpected cost-ph's marein approach,

Fol simngemends lhal lnvohve slgntficatt piaduciien, modidcation > custorizallen of the sottware, br whare software sarvices olkerwise
cannel be constieind disinel, wo 1ecognize @varue as conticl I transfened to UR (Usicner over ﬂme Using 0roRigss-lo-camsleten

methady Depend!ng o 1ht R ct W M0astre plogress-to-compleron oimardy Us'ne laboi houisd alde sddad, Th e

to~complation methcd genetally resuts i the racogniion of 1easonably cetsistent predit margirs svar the life of a colract bersuse:
provida roazenably dependable esunater 9! contact billigs and conticl cosia We Uso tha lava! of grafit marpl: Bt e Mostikely 1o o
iy a zanbmet. If e inest Prely profit margin cannct be peecisaly delerminzd, tae lowast arabobile Laved of piefil mahn 'n ihe sess of
estimaes is used VA the 3Uis saa be estimated nore cracisely. Thase s-rangemenss ae atten implact
ranod anu occaslonally tequliz LS 1o ravie total ¢asl stlnales. Amounls \azopnized [ 1ovaruz 212 Alzd uslog
complelion medsurement aflee ghing zliect to any changes ln o’ ost eslimatas Ziankes 1¢ intal estmated conliacl coul
recaided ka the pellod they are qelerrined,
datermine that a[3ss IS apparent.

eatad over an extendud dire
L cpless-to-
s, ¥ ang. afe

5

ilmaled (0s42¢ an uncompleted conlrazis ars recards In the perlad in which wea 7

Typlzaly, the slncture of aur anangemenls dees nol give fise 10 varlable consideatian, Howevey, in thaze Instances whe:eby' v labie
cansdeiation gidits, walnzhida In our estln dies addiiorai reverue forvailakle considerallon whan we balleve wa hoye an 2réolesak: e Aght,
tho amourk zan be esdmated afanky and s 1eallzsion (s piobable

Refor 20 Huta 16 .« O1saggregatlon of Reveruse fof lurtha: Isfatitation, lnciuding tha ecenorn’c faclers Ihal aifect the nature. arvolnt, thving,
and uaseniaiohy ¢f eeverrie and cath flows ol gur varcus (everaie seisgolles

Contract Balancest

Accounts recelvable and allowance for doubtful accounts

Timina o! jevesviazcanition may dilfer liarnlhea timlng of invelcing t farecorda billed le wi

o toinveking, or defezied ievenve when revenue Is tecogrized subsequent aklrg, Far multi-yea: agreements, we genaias -\ Ir.ure
custamers 2ualy al the heghning of 2ach annuai coverage peiled, We r2co:d anunblied recelvanle ielalad o rever<e racogalzed fer on-
premices fcenses as we have an uncanditoaal 1Ighe 10 Ivolce ardl recele B3/tment I tha Arture r2ated Lo hsse llceayes.

We maleta'n allzwanees fo+ doubiful azcounts, which ace provided At the Ue the reveaue I5 racopnlzed. Siaca mostef our customiegs ofe
domastl governmencai enlllies,we rarely tnews a 1252 resulilng fiom the Inaolty of a cusierer ta rake 1eaL'red p3ymenls. Evenls orchanges
In clicumstasces that Indficale Ihe carylag amount foi tha 3 lawancas ‘o douztiul accounts Inay requ'e tevislon ‘nclade, bat 1re Aot Vinliey
te, deledoratian of a cuslomer s finandlal conditien, faliire to manaaa our tustonter’s axpetialions 19geiding e scopn of e s2ivless io be
delvered, ard dalacis oF arys In new vars'ans of enhancements of oUf safvare prod, s,




TYLER TECHNOQLOGIES ANNUAL REFORT 2018

Notes ta Consolidated Financial Statements

The tolfowing tabds summailzes the changes In the alswinoit e doobiful Fecousts 40 walet afurments

Yes i Beotmber 31, i 141 2
Ba'amon 3 begining ot st } $435 $ 140
Provhions o ke - ot eoriras 4110 ey

Calseqlion ¢ acemtnly previainly witien off

Ducooelime by yeimts theiged oM @ 1080 lunged 2
Ealustw af md ol may BT

The allowanco lor doubtiul accounts reflects oot best aslimabn ot probable (s<5es fnherentin the accounls receivable Solance. Wa delermine
the ajiowanca bazed on Xaown Lisubied acccunls, histodcal axperience, and eihe: currently avallable svidence.

[n connection with nur appralsal services contracrs and costaln soflware saidees contracls, wa may sedsim work pile 16 wen the sofiware
and servlces are dliabla and/or payable pyisuant to the conliact. Unblied revenue i not bilfable at the balancs sheet ddte but & (atoverable
over the iamaining (e of e ontzacd thinwgh blllings mada 'n wRh i inatlen clauses fa gost ef
Qur cenl:acts provida for the payment foi the value of procucls duliverad o) serices pevormed in the exent of enily lemilaation, Wa have
Ristedeally recorded such unbitied rerevablag (costs and astimaled profit 'n e4ass of Elfngs) [n connection w/th (b papeny sazrakal
senvices comrenls accouniad for using progress-le-comiierien maliad of ravenue recagnlion sk labor houis as @ measure of prajress
lewards campl2ifon In which v serviier ais perfmad la ong accobnling pedod but the bRlkng no:mally occurs tubsequerlly aid may spac
analher aceounling perlod; (2) softwate sérvicas contrazhs acccuntad forvelng picmess-lo-campladan mathad of reverae ecopalttsn sslag
Isbar haurs a4 & measure of prograss iowaids comp.etion kyvwhkch she seqvlces are parfermed In one accounting peiled but the dlling for the
software wenlent of tre ray be port he sperlfic phage of Iy @} software (evanue fo which we have
recognized inverdid a1 the paint [n Ume when the sofiware Is mads avsliable Lo tha customar bul the Eiling has nel yet baen subnitiad to
the cuslomer; (4} some of bur contiacis which provide for 3 amounl to ba vithhed frox a piogress dllilag {generally butwesn 5% and 20%
1etantion ontll il agie satisfariory pryect complatlon | achwevid; 4nd (3] In alintied aumber of cases, extey apment ‘eimns, which may
be granted i costomirs with whom we panarally have a long-tem b forship and faveestls collaction htstaty.

Tre opening balance of caneat and loag term arcauns recelvable, net of allowance far doubtful accounts, vias $226.8 mill'on (as adiusied)
a5 of janeay |, 2007,

&g af December 31, 2018, 21d Dacemoer 31, 201 tatal cument and Irag-term accounts rieelvabila, nel of a%mwanc tr deubtiul aceounte,
was §314.9 mElion and $258.3 nlllon (as adjusied), tespoctivaly. We have recordad umllled mealya'ilis of SI04.2 wllllan and $G4.6 milsa
(as adfusied) at Deceiaber W, 2018, axs| December 1), 2017, jespectively, Included In unkllled ecaivables are retenifsa recelvabies of
$12.2 mBlon and §7.2 milkan al Decetpbwr 3, 2018, and Becerber 3L, 2017, respavely, whizh become payable upan the zomplellan of
& <onhiacl o comipallon of out fiekdwoik and [ormal hearings. unblllod recalvablas ezpecled to be qullecled within one year have been
ludad with accours recelvabla, ujrent annion kx the accompanying consofidaled balawe sheels. Unblled jzcaivables and etention
ecelvables expected 10 Do olacted pist one year have aen Inckrded with accobnts jecebvaile, long-tetm portion In Ihe éccompanying
<cansoldatod balence sheers

Payment lemns and canchilens vary by cardiact ype, SiloUgh ims geneally include a requimment of pagment wihin 30 to 60 days. 1
Instances whera lhe biring of reventls recogition differs frem Yhe tming of Invekdng, wa hava deiermlined our comiacts ganerally Jo nul
Inciude a sianificant finandng componient The primary gurpose of euriavoking terms 15 W provide customeys wilh simplified and predtctable
ways of purchasing eur producls and senvices, not lr |=c=Ive finaccng fram atr cuslomers of 1o provide cuslomers wilh finsncling. Examples
2f the corliact perod, and nw-year 2a-premises

Inclus 2 at )13 fecegnlzed:

teim |Lemes lhal are!mo{(ed annually with revenur recognized upfrart.
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Doferrad Revenue

Tha majorly of deferad revarue conshis ol delerred makiteaance tevaene that has vean bllied hased on contactual tarms*n e unudedying
=ua*zemen' wl'h Lhe remaining bafance corrlmna of paymels iecekred 51 advanice of revawe belng pamez undet SnAWIR Izenslng,

o raschin b el ¢ Nate |6 — Cafarred Revenue and Performanca
Oblizatlons for fupthe fndormallon, inchidlng defenad revenue by sepment and changes n defermd ravanue during (he peyert.

25, sofwal

Balberred Commtakom

Salas cemmissions earped by ous sales forte a‘e ;i land tecc eratile of oblaidng a copliact with 4 cusismer, Sales
<ormisslans ot tritlal conlracls are defeded and Wen amatized on 4 slalght-Yne basls wer a perded of benefl that we have daterined
L2 b Utvea {a seven years We wolized tha perfclia appiosch’ praztical expediant In ASC 606-16-12-3, wh'ch allows eatitas to apply the
Eukdance t2 a pasticile of contracks with slmilaf chaaciaiisics because the effacts on the Antacla) slatements of s appieach wouid Aol
diifer matzrally from 3ppiying the guisan<e lo Individual corbacts. Using the ‘parifelic appleazh, we deleimined the netlod of panshit by
taHng Inta corsideration nur custemar cotrcls, our kechinglagy bfe-cycle and other factors. Sales commbston; Jo: (enewal contracls e
eneraly nel eeid i connactton wich the renewal of o contiact. Ip e small umber of itstances whem 3 camarsslon 's pakd on a ranewal,
Ik not comerensinale with the cemmlssion pad on the 'ritlal sale and s ‘ecagnized cver (he tarm o' sanewal, Witch & generalty one
year, Arortzatlon eypense related te deferrsd comintsslons s Inzhided In self g, zenetal and aamin stiztive ecpenses tn the accampanylrg
consalldaied sialariants of kzcing, Refei 1o Note 17 — Dalenes Commissiors for fucther Infe-madon.

ald i othe: O rantassess Inchide diiect aad InGiemienlal coata suk a3 frrahicy
rae..dejs(oznhiﬂn bai b deferred, Suchcasss ata expensad at tha ime 1na elaled revemus b meognicad

USE OF ESTIMATES

Tivo prapasation of our inancisl stalernents 1 coniormifiy with accounting prindples genealy scceptedin lhe Unlled Flates "GAAPY regqustes
Us to onake =slimates and assyriptions Ihataftect the reporled amaunrs of assets and Iabliitles and discinsue of 2onlingent dssals and
dabilies al the cale of e Fnewal daterasnts a6 e rexated ancunls of revenues and expansas dutiig lpa raporlley pailed. Slznicant
flams sublecitosuch dnnhgarsaticaclion af sayformance
cbligations, and detam'reng ihe S5P of pe‘aimance ubruadlx\s varkable coxskerllen, and othe obligaifons such a reluw =nd rafusids;
loss cantingendlas; the ast'matad usalul lfa of dalarad conurdselans; he Carrviag amount and esrraated uselul Ives of langbie assets;
determintng share-based cempensation eypense; the valation alkswanca a1 recelvables; ana deleminng the porentla; oulcome of future
o consequdnces of events that hava been onout dated finandlal o 3k telums Achuad (esulls could &ffur
‘rem estimates.

PROPERTY AND EQUIFMENT, NET

Propeity, equipment amd purchasad softwase a8 tecotdad at odginet cost and increasad by [he cost of emy stgnifcanl impeavernents alzer
purchase, We expense melnfenznce and repalie when Incuried. Depieciaticn and amartizalton Is caleuialed Lsh the stralght-line matha2
wier Ihe shorier of the asiel’s estimated wsaful ife or tieteim of the lease 4 the caza of leasshold Laprevemenls, Far licome tax purposes,
We use acceiemled deprecintion metheds as allowad by tax faws,

RESEAACH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
We expensed (zseaith znd develesinent cosls of 3633 milkan in 2018, 347.3 avlon fn 2817, and 342 2 miltian 1n 2016,

-—r—

[
i
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INCOME TAXES

Ireane laxes aie accounied for uader she assetand Yabsilly methed, Deluifed laXas rrise borause of differer trealment Seiwesrn fnanclal
statament accounting and B accounting, fnown 15 “lampoiary diferences” We (acord Lhe tax eldacl of hess lemonzary diferences as
“delrred titasses” (genrrallyllems thal can be used asadax deducllan of credil In the future perlodst and *deferred Lax lab"ltes” (ganaally
Items (has we macelved 4 <ax dedtucdon for, whirh have nol yat been recavded In b Income stalement), The defered tax asses and RablliGes
are prsasiac using araclad Lax nites ana lows that are axpacted Lo ba In offect whien the lampolaiy differtnces are expected lo ke jecovatad
or seltled. A valuatan akowac2 wauld ba establizhed (0 aduce deferred tax assats 't Is more Viely than pot thal a deforod 1ax exsat wilt
not be “1zaltzed” On Jecemiae: 22, 2017, tha Tay Culs and jobs Act Che “Tax 4c(") was enscied Ifto law. Tho Taz Act amends 4be Inte:nal
Reveave Code (o feduvs Lax rates and Modlly colc'es, gledits and deductions fa1 Inaviuals and businesses, Foi buslresces, tho Tag Act
radutes U ttile L el {35 o a e 18 rate a~d tsrvhes from awarlcdwide tax systein tc a tenltodal
tex syslem um.\\r.'uomm TRy, G 39805 Of CRMIEE 3 30 L AN 2 Al Lioks 30w b 00aieh B Perined i iR NG oot Seignao o,
I8 moactacl See Neta 7+~ “ncomie T tor iuther ciscusshon elatad to the Tax Ac.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Wa hava 4 tha e-based award plan Ihat prevides 107 Iha irant of stock opro-ts, reslited stock unts, and paiformance share un'ls 1o key
empioyaes, directars and non-emplayes consulanis, Stock opttons genetally vest altet theae to shoveats of contlayus selca fierm e date
f prart ard have a conleacteal term 9F 0 vears, Pesticiedszek unk grants generalty vast iatably over threa 1 fve yeaus of conbinous service
from tre date of grant. £ach pe Jormance snare Unlt r2presents the ('Fhito 1edetve sne thare ol our comm=n siock based en oui arhleversent
of Lo hnancal periimanee Lsigels dunng apcileable porlor nante per We account lor share-based compensation uilboag the laic
Yafu2 recognkion pursvant 10 ASC 718, Stack Compensabion. See Nole 8 — “Share- B ed Coripensatiza® fen fuithed Information,

GOUDWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Goodwil repiesents he cxcees o! the puicrase prce prer the [Hr wiue ol net dssels acqulred, Including [denlifabia intanyible asseus, In
canneslion wilh @ business cembinallons tzon sr.-1u!§|lk-n, gacdwillIs azcigned (@ the repatling udil thai Is uxpacted Yo benweit from the
symreqghes af the businass comblratian, which I8 the ispaiilig Wl 15 which che selaled degutied iethiedogy I avgged. A repordng unll is
tha pperating segment, or 2 business unll ane levsd befaw thiat eperallng segment, for shich disacte Bnantal Inainaticn b prepared snd
tagvlarly reviawad by execulive manazement

We assess gooill for lompalimenl anaually as of Api: Ist, or mole frequently whenever evanls o chapgas In clrcemsiances Indicata jls
<arrying valve may nat be ble. We bzglawith the qualisat of whethet it | tikety tha Aoz thaz a reporling uoil's fal
valuels [ess than lls catrying value helfore 20p ¥ ng ths quantkative assessnvent desatbad balow, IF i s datermined thicugh the avakeaton of
exonis of drasmstances that Lhe canving Yalus may ot be recoveradls, we paitorn a compaiizon of (e estimated {ah value o! the reporting
Unlt to viblch the osdwill has b aunlg=ad b Ui sn of the caiiylog vahas of (e Seely and Babiiies of that unil I thw s of e
<arryig valve of the zaszls and Jabiks of ampanting 1wl tnceads the «38mated ol value of that reparting unk, th2 canying value of the
1epertng unlt's goodwill 1s re Jucad 1o Rs 2l value through aa adiusmant 1o th° oauwlll baiance, fesulting In an mpaliment charge, The fa
yvatuescaliylatled I ous Impalment lsste ae wlng 19d2ls (M olng several assumEliong. e assumpisns
Vhal are used are hased upan what we balleve a hypothelleal mabelplace Mlldpant would use I astinatng falr value, We evaluate the
(easonablankss of he fair whra ca'culalons of our ceporllng Unks oy comparing the tatal of ihe falr value of all a! our i8poItng unlts ke our
retal market capitatizatisn.

We did nat record any geoawlll impaliment charges for the yoars onded Decamber 31, 205 and 2017, S=2¢ Mote 4 — Goadwll ard Other
Intanglble Assets, for ndditional tafe, mation.
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Other {ntangible Assats

We make Judgmenl sabeut the of purchasen lbangiole a2 sets ather than "RMIEVEL 2VRTIE Of Charges th cacum:tances
Tadlcale thal an Impal men may extst, Customas base and acquired software sazh com pilse spprovimaely hall of ewr purchased Wanstbla
assaki ather than gondwill we ravlaw our cuslamel turaayer sach year ar Indical‘ons of Imaalmient. Dur cuslamer turnaver has Nstorleally
bezn very low, | Inclcalions of impaliment Qe eai@rralaed i BT, we measire e jecaverasiiry +f assels by & ccmpariaon of e ¢ aiyirg
amounl of the assel ¢ tho ostimalod Lidiscounted fawure cash Nlows expoctsS to ba ganeralcd oy lite ateet | the camying amoynt of the
assets exceads helr oslirnaled fulvre cazit fiows, 3 Inpaitment charge 15 racognlzed lor *he amount by which the camylng amount of he
accele excands the (27 vaiue o Lhe 3srets There have been ta signlicanl imaaliments of intaaglLle aesets In any of the pefods presented

(MPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIYED ASSETS

We gerloutcally evaluate whsthar cunient facts of crcumstances indicate Ihal the cagying va uz of cur propesty and equépment or other
leng-itred assets 5 be held ard usedd may act be secoverabie, I 2.¢3 drcumtances ame Jetermined to 271l we massui (e recoverablity
of assels te e el ant used by a compatzan ol tha caryiag 2aotinl of the aszel o aapzopiizte gloupling of wsels and (ha 95timaled
undlizsinted luane cash Nows itpacles to be 3eneraled by e assels. ff the cajnd~g amounl of the assels excords (helr estmatad! futuie
cashloves, an lmpalimeri chatge Is (e cogawed fpr the amount by whish fie camying am-unt oA (he assets exceeds the falr valud of the assets,
As32t3 10 ba dlspasad o woid be sepaialaly presented 1 the balance sheal end repaitad at e lower 5f the earrying ankual of lalr vaiue
Tess costs 1o sell, and weuld ne long2e b di ted The ass#12 and liablfies of 3 dispotad greup clesalfied ns held for sale would be
oresented sepatately 14 the appoopdate assel and Yability sections of 1¢ bakzace sheet. There have been no slg ficant tirpaltiveAls of Jong-
Ined asseicfn any of (he pednds prasented

COSTS OF COMPUTER SOFTWARE

Wa capltalze sofware Pi cosls upan the el of Lo cal leastbiihy and pr1o7 1o chr uvallaliticy of the pragiuct for
geridl release lo customers Saltwa'e develupmenl cosls primarily consist of sz nel costsand renl (or relsted officr tpace, W tegin o
Amyicee cap1alned cont whin & praduci is available for seneral lense to v, A actiation i s dete sl o & pea -
by-pleduct hasls ata fate ant less [hon straight-line dasks ove: the produrd”s reinalning estlm ated econoinic lile, Wa have nol caphalized any
faternal seitware deve.npmant cesls inany af 1h2 o¢lods presented.

FAIR YALUE OF FINAMCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Cash and rash equivalents, aczounts recelables, aescams payables, shert-tory ehilgatiens and cartain ather assets 2t cosl approxinge
falr value bezause atthe thad maludty of these fastruments, The “ak value of cur revolving inz ol eeed!t would appodmats hook value
a5 of Decembe: 31, 2318, bezause ou tnterast fates resel appraximaloly cvely 30 days of kess, 3ee Note 6 - "Revpivtng Live of Credil™ fer
{fuither discussion.

As o' Davembar ¥, 201, we have $97.7 milifon In invesient grade zofporate eonds, munidpa: Sands sad assat-backed securiles with
matulty dates canglre (ram 2018 through 2922 We Inlend (e held Ihese bend. tunty and have classiiied them: as ruch 'Wa beltayo ost
approdimates fall value hesause of (he refatively shozt duratton of thess tnvestments Tha falr 7aluas of these et rities are considaad Level
1 a5 shey ae hazed en inpuls fem quetad pileed 'no markets that a2 nol aclve o from ather 96 maikel data These

Inchsded Inshait-teim eils and non-curent and other 2ssats,

A3 of Dezember 31, 2018, wa have §I5.0 milkion Iwesred In converdble preeited ek repesenting & 20% Iatarest In Reca:d Holelags Sly
Limited, a pilvatcly held Austallar campasy speclalizing In digldzng the sprken word In court and legsl procaadings, Tha ‘reestment le
<onvetibla profened 13 accounled under Ihe cost mathed hacause we de nol have the abillly Lo exescise Hgatficant Inlueace over the
Irvestas and the sazudties de nol have readily deternrae fale values, OU; avestovent is caulid at sostleis anv Impa' ent v
Annua'ly, aur cos| mathed lovestnients ar2 assessed fer Impaimanl Wa do not taaseesa the fals value of coss maihod asting it @
are no fdentified evenls of changes Irdrcsinsiances that muy have a tgticanl 2dverce efact on e falr value of the Invesimenls. There has
Bogn na Impaiment of oo cost method lavastmant for the peifeds prasented. rive fs Inchudedin antlavestmen’s and
othe asseis in the accampanylag consolidaied beance sheats,
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CQONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

Financial l1sumenls thal potentlally wilect U4 16 Sgailcaal concenliallons of cied't flsk cons!et pAacipsily ol cish aad ¢ash equivaten's,
accounts ecdvable from tiede custome:s, and bovestments Ir inakelalle secuxliss, Que cash and cash equlvalentd pikmadly cangtst of
npeialing ¥eeatint Lalances and money markal [unds, which ta mantained it sevnist major damastic izncial Insliulions und the bances
olisn excead lnsurad amovnts, As o] Decembar H, 2018, w2 had ¢asn a1 cash equivalents of $134.3 mlzlon Ws pasfonn parlodk: evalvadons
of tha credtt standing o thaze financlal 'pstilions

Concenbations of credt (lsk it respect ta secelvables are imiied due 1o the size and geographlaal diversty ¢f cur cusiomer base,
Histoiicaly: our credll 10gses have ol been shnificast As 2 readl, we da nat believe we have any signlficant concanlrations of cred.d g as
of Oeqesbier 33, 2018

We malntan allowances ‘ot doubliul acecunis, which e provided at the iime the 1evense ks retognized. Slice mozt of v customeds 2ra
domest=govainmertal entillas, we raedy Ineur 2 1053 resuiling from the ‘Aabliity of a cusiomer to maka requirad payments, Bvenls of chariges.
In drcumstances [4at Indlcatz (e carying amount fer Lhe allowanees for doublu] accourds may requi-e ravislen ‘nciude, bK aie not lipifed
to, delenaration of a custormer's finanda’ conditior, fallura jo mansge our pustame's pxpeclations regasding the scope of the seivices to he
delivered, and dofecls or errors |e paw verslons or ephancamerits of our so‘twate groducis.

INDEMNIFICATION

Mo of gur solty ¥ Y Wit ovand that the saftware sold Infdgas upen the 'nleleswal proparty
ikghis of @ thing-party, Thase agieemaiis typlcaly provide that Tn sudh averk we vaill elthe: modify o1 replsze the sotware sa {hat || becones
non-#lilaging ot procute fur the cusiomer ihe ilght to use Ihe seitwaia. e have acoidad o labtily d wih (hese

A1 WA a8 o4 awara of any pending o Lhreatuitad fiingmnent a<tons thas are pessibla pisas. Wa belleve tha astimaled falt vakia of these
InteRectual prepavly Tndemalfication clgases s minifial

Wea hays alio agreed totndemniy ot oficeisand board members ¥ hed ase B thy 4 o ot it a3 B ey

by 12as00 of the (3ct thal they acled In such capacity. We msndaln deestor and officars” 'ziliity Insurancs toverage Lo pratest sgalnst

ony stch losses We havo ¢catdod no liaktiily associalod with thase [2dsmnifications Becauze of our InsUrance mvcrags, wo believa |nc
Nyt oy vk of I ik i

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Litatn AMounsis for previols yaars kv been teclassiniosd 1 confoim to (hs qupent yoar prassentibion.

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Revenue ltom Canlracts with Cuslomers, In May 2014, Ihe Financlal Accounting Standards Board CIAS37) 1hued ASU No, 2014 94, fevanue
from Contrects with Customers. ASU Ho, 201=C9 the rvenue in ing Standards Cecllficalon
{"ASC*) Taplc 605, Revene Revopnidon, and retuines the recodnitian of ravenue whan premised Goocs of seivizes are tianslered Lo
customers | rilhat afzcts the 16 Wich the enlity exgects to e entlled 1o In exchange tar (hage goods of services

This madal hvolves o fve-step provess that 'ncudes [denlliving the contract with the cuztomer, Idantitylng lhe pedosmarice sollgabicns tn
the coattact, dete:mining U transaction prits, aliscating the ton prles to the th ‘radt andrecogrizing
reverue when (or as) the entity satisfies Ie perdsrnance oblizations Topic 06 also lhckedas Subtonls 34040 Othar Assats and Deferred
Cests — Comracts with uslormers, vibich requnas the daferml of Inciemantal casts of oblalning a conliacl Wich a cusicmer. Collactively, wa
refat to ASU ho, 2014-09 and Subzoplc 340-4G as thn "n&y slandard?
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Wa atopled the requitama it of the new standacd &s of lanuary 1, 2015, ulllzing be fut retiospecilve method of karshfon. Adoptian of Iha
Aei stancard iesidted ' changes 19 o sccaundng policles for revenve ecogritlon, iade and GinG; meakadlaz, and dalerred comnisslan)
asdelalled balow We apolied 1an naw !ng 5 praciizal expes IFe i el 1o Ihe ramalning peiiomaace
ollgataNs or Em el £ whem e eopnt wrilre (hal pancaurs 31 ivvecue for all iepoiing serous precenied betar the dale of
the In™Mat applicatian s nct d'sclosed,

Tha Impact of aasping ASY No, 214-08 on ouc tola rewenues ‘e 2017 and 2016 wai ot Matelal Tha lmpact of adopitig the ew
standard on our retalned 2arniings axd deferred conmissions ls maleilal The mest slamificart “meact ef the new stardard el les b our
aceoUnting *or softwase lleense revénile, Spec'fizally, urdel the new standard, softwars licensa fess undas perpeiya! ageaments Ak no
lange: subject to (00% discount aitozatlans om cther perfarrance obligallons In the cantact, D'acounts I arangements e alloeaied
acioss ail pecformance obi'gatlans Inzreasing Ueensz ¢avenues and decieastg sevenves ailozaied lo ofec pedormante abiipatians n
addiuon, [n /0 st 24sas, ne Feanse fees Ratal license fees fess any allotated discey:ts} are recogaized at the polnt 'n Hite whan ¢o21:el ei
e £afiwu s flemate taanles be She Lo et Wi Gur 'egacy po ¢y of ecagritzing revenue ugon dabvery and anly t the exlent bllable
per the contracteal Leems. ader tie new Gandaid, ¥me-based license lees are no lorger recopnlzed aver the conlractual perod of 1ha
licanse andare Inwlezd recoprized at the patnl 'n Bme wher tha conl o} of the saftware lesnse tansters Lo the customer, Revenuses relaled
to our PCS renewals, 5aas offedngs and appralsal senvizes remaln substantialy unchseasd, Dut 1 the compleiar 3¢ Gaidaln <onlracts,
1he aclal ravenue racognllon brealmenl sequired under lhe naw stanard s dependent or. contiact speciic \rme and may vasy In seme
{nstirces Itom Secogaition at the tme af billing.

Adapilon of the naw standara reciites Bt Inciamanal costs dlractly ielaled ta cbtalning a conitract (typically sa'et cammiasionsy mist ba
reccenlzed as an asset and kpENs2 O & systentatlc kxtsts 1hal 135 conslslent vith the tursler 1a \he (ustame: of the gaods and oes
o which tha assal alatas, ualees that e Is Less thad one year, Piled 1o adoplicn o she aws standard, we dafaied satos commlssions and
recopnlead axpense over the ielavant Inttf contiactual Leim. which was cenarally one to two yewss, Under the naw standand, we amaliza
thexe ensls nver a perlad af benaiX thal we have detarmined Lo be ihree to sevan yes

W adiusied ot canselideted franciaf slalements ficin amounis sraviously reported due 1 Ine adaplion of the new slandyd. Scloct
Unatdited condensed conscidaled stalemant of ncams line iterrs, which (s0ecl the adostion of (he new slanda:d, zie as follows (r,
thousancs, ex:ept per shace dala);

Mensbar 3%, K47 Deesmiee 3, 2046
— ——
4 e A 3
fapated jintrents At Regsted Alsimais  \drelsd
— —
Sialereat ¢i Income:
Saftwaie ilzenses arc mystles $ 756M 316,542 § 74505 § 347 $ 92338
Subsariplians ke L [Sr#p [L0] R
Software wivkes RLIATES {3,589 174,504 1,156} STLME
Meigiansacs KL 2,250 35 1% iLgth
Appralsel sevvisen 24,00 b 25025 26241 -
Fardwam and oihwe Ny {281 177 490 “ig
Taisl remmes 4,680 ur 4039 736,042 37
SRz, seneral and adainiglrziiva maias thiH) (.03 176514 el LS
Beweelization of cuatomer and [13de name wlpazlbes 3912 i JERAT 529
Dpaiating lneso 145%0 112¢ 131,308 628t
Inzams tan therwrk) yeoyisien i (38 (L) s 250
Mel oo §164,845 § 5626 $169.571 $03,857 § A
Eaealngs per commar, syt
Lida 4 44 B dsh i !gﬂ 3 D

Diloed 3 418 $ 132 $ 287 oy

hiow i
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Seleat condmizad reissoliaaled balance sheel line itons, whvch reflecl tho &)

cplon of the new siendand, are as follow (I thausardsk

Oacerbar 11, 7000
A M
m ﬂl A
Balazez Skeels
Acoouets recelsable i DAl L ki
Prepak expmsas 7% 4354 328
Recoerls movinth, jong-iem 780 457 17167
Other inlangliies, mt e .en 2381
Talal assels 1,583,592 41789 1811361
Deferred revanve. 303,61 (192433 palXiE]
Daferted lpcgpa | w3 1#E #.079
Rebaled eam'ngs Hiil REH 62448

Talaillbilifen anc shaishe dey’ squaly $),583,492 $ 21,153 SISILIsE
Out adeptior of ASU No 2G14-09 had no linpacl on our ricl cask: provided by of used In speiallng. I vesling o fraodrg acthitles fof any of
the pedcds tepoited

Recen| Lac legrdation. On Dacember 22, 1017, the Tax Cuts andf Jobs Act (*Fax AL was erazted Inlo jaw. The Tax Act amends the Internal
Revenue Cade to leduce lax rates and moaty pollcles, iedits and deductions fos buslnessas and wals, For buslnegses, the Tax Act
tedices tha U S, coiporate ledeial Income tzx rate frem A maximunof 35% (o a fiat 21% rate and lansitons am a woildwide Lax system s
a teqdtorial (ax systern The Yax A¢l alse adds many naw g.ovislaas incluciing changas @ bonus depradation, the deducdon for execullve
eofpeasalicy and ntaw on plotol Inlangible fow-taxed ihcome (LT, The maztslgnificanbipact of the Tox Azt 2o us Is Uye reduction in the
U.S. fedeial corporata inzame la<iate. Refer Lo Note 7 — Incoma Tax Piovislon ‘er fusther |atommatlon.

NEW ACCQUNTING PRONQUNCEMENTS

Recer Accounting Guldarke not yet Adopled

Leases (m Febivary 25, 2016, lhe FASE isaued Rs now fnase accourtng gukiaace 1o ASH No, 2016-02, Leases (“Topk BA27} Uniedor tha new
culvang he e torerogiize the foll i all {eases ydih tha excepiton of short-16m [eases) st tha commencement date:

4 lease lisblity, which < a lessee™s obligallon te make [2ase payments arlslog fiem 2 [sase, maasuiad a a discounted basls; and
» Adiphl-of-yse 255¢E which s an asset thal rapresents (he lessee’s ight to use, of controt the use of, a specified assel 'or thz lease lenn

Tople 842 15 effeclive for fiscal years beglrning arler Decsimber 15, 203, includirg Istemm oépods thecein. Saly application 1 permitiad for
all business entitles upoa 145UsNCe. Upen acoplion, entiies vall be raquired Lo Lse B medified ratiospective spproach vt an eption \c use
cefa's practicel expedients. We expect (o adopt ASU 2015-02 when ¢Hective, Lsing (he lransition Nethad thal allows us 16 I1tially apply
the guidarce al Lhe adoplion dale of January 1, 2019, aad secoghize a qurvdlative-efect adusiment lo e epening balance cf retzined
earnings In 1he perlod cladoplion We sxpact to uss Ihe package of praztkal expedients that ollows us o nol reassess: () faage <lass featon
jor any expired of axisting leases and (2) Inlihal difect costs for a1y exprad or e¥tsting leases, We expecl ASL! 2016-22 wil Impact our
consefidaled finanaal stalemenis ad jelated disciosures. We are cuiventy evaiuating the extenial the Impact and expecl thal most of cw
lease commiiments wil be subfect ¢ the usdaled guidance 3 ressgnized a3 @asa Laldties and rate-of-use astets on Gur Lonzalidatad
baltance sheets upan adaptlon, Based an ouw current poitfallo of leases, we estmate a ranee of 513.5 riftion 2 $T28 mililon of fease asszls
anc ISIERS i ba jezopnized on cur batanca shaal, pilmarily zelating to offce lacites,
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{2) cquisiTions
2018

On Datenber 7, 2018, we acqulied cetaln astels and Intellectud] propery of Scenelag, Inz ("Scensdoc®). o campary that pravides mo=lle-
{irat, 5848 Held feponing lor 1aw enforcement agendes. Tae lotal purchase gilce wak apprawimately $52 i Hop, of whica 534 milfen was paid
Incastiand apsroximsle y $759.600 atciued iof a woiking capital hodbac, sublect o cartaln post-—cloring adjustuents,

On Oclokad |, 2618, Ae acqulied al) f the 2q:'ty Ineiests of TadeMaste, Ine. dbz Mabfedyes (MobllsEyas™), & compary that develops
3aa€ software la ‘mprova pukblic salety by suppartd«g fire prevendon and tupprassion, emelgency (esponse, and sluciual safety, The tolsl
purchase pie was azproximataty 35.2 millen Incash.

©n August 21, 2018, we azgulied all of the assets of CaseleadPRO, L &, & company thet sievides a fully ‘estured Saas prakatlo” ¢ase
MaMIgImRn! syslem The pueshdte price of $3 3 milidawas paldin tash.

On April 20, 2018, wa auguleed 3k ¢f 126 capilai stock nf Souata, IneSec:ala’y, a compary that proddes spen gzt and daj-as-a-semce
selutions Incleding chivd -ated Jal A wtallzaties, e, stk for 3late ena lacal grveinment agenches, The
purchasz pilce, aetof cash acquirad of $1.7 milllan, wds S 75 milkzn pzid I cash,

We kave pedormeda valiation analysls ot he Jak maskel value of Soziata's sssens andikebbites, The fzlicwing table sum matlzes Lhe sflacaton
ol tha parehass price as f the acqlzillon dols:

In thousands

fan

Acomias recwivabie

Mhar comam] asials

Olher natourel pialy
Dofesrid am sk, aed
Tdenlifabbe Iranglble ss%ls
Goodwil

Acsouels gayable

Jgsroed dapeasay

e irmenn

Tald] s i ilion ENEEE

I connection wih Liv's transaction, we acaulred total tanglblz assets o 375 allion and sisumad IabiRL¢ of approdmately $8.8 mRza, We
recorded az-dwll of 75 7 erillon, rone of whith Is exgected 1o be deducita Jor tax puiposes, and ulhe {deqbiiable nlanalie a3ats of
approsinately $75.0 milfien. The $73.0 mlllon a! tatangible ass=ls are stinbiezble o crstomet elatianships, acqued software, ard Wave
rama and will ba 4 lieed a welghtad dvetage perod of 4 Yews, We rean'ded dele red tax 5, et of approximalely
$20,000 refared 1o esttraled i value sfccations. Sociste’s solloasacea diecl zoinpipmant 19 our curmant eferlngs Ara sk povide m aev
and Irportant addiLanal wevez shieam. By offeripg Sodjata wilkdn virtualy evary Tylar praduet sisla, sui cllants will Rave Lha opeoilunity
ic ke Lhalr exdsting daia scaveabhe, ussble and actlonabie, but more inpcilenty, poterdally lnviude data o oiher apences and
Sursdictions to make analysls even mare pawertul and meantigrul Thereivee, the goodwill of $75.7 miklon atkstag frem s atauisilion Is
oprmarlly attbuted ie sur abilky to Inles@e Soziati's sotutions with <ur exstirg peittollo and o generate Inzaaced revendas, eain'res
2nd cash flow by laveraging our salzs rg2ources and dlant base. Our final valuation of the 'ay marke| value of Soc'ata’s assels and lis!Hes
resulled 'n adjusments lo e prelirhay opaning halance theet, These adjustme: ralared 10 2 ra¢fuction In Gelerrad ‘neome laxes and
accrued expeases G I net decrease to goadwil of approxinalely $3.3 ellan. Wa ahe Inwuticd ‘ees of approul maiely €578,30C ‘o
firanclzl avvisery, legnl, accounting, due dillgence, valuziion and ather vafous services necassary to 2ompisie lhe acquision Thosa fegs
ware experied 10 2018 ard an Inclodad In salling, ganeral 209 adninistalla expanses,

i
]
1
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The fcllowing wnaud'ted pro loras inl: (e of the d iesulls of ops have baen prepared as if the Socrata azaulsiion
Rad oeeuired atjamay 1, 2077 alles pidng effaclia cartatn , Ichding zation of 3l “nlerest, Lansaclion wsts and
lax affects.

Tt et Eode) Bncrbis )1,

Revenon

ot tnom.

Gasto parmings par shua
Biluled sin'ngs por shace

Pre fotma infaimatton above daes aat inciide acqulsidans (hiat zre 53 considered materal to 21 rosults of eperatiens. The pro forma
Information deat nat pistp=n 39 Ay Eeg whal oul revdis of opestian actuslly welld have been had sysh tansacilan or eveni orcuiced
on the datss spechied, o to praject ow resulls of operatinna for any ftiny perlod,

On Apill 20, 2018, we acqulted all of the a@udlylalerests of Saga Dala Sasurly, [.-C{*Sagr), a cybersec.rity campany olferng a suite of seryices.
[hat suppeils 2n enllre cybarsecunity ffecycle, ncluding pragram develepment, educatan and lraling, technical tosidne, adviscry seivices,
and digital torensles, The totel pikchasa prize was SILE millen pakd & cash. Tyiar has periormeda valustion apalysls of the faif matka® value nf
Sage's assats and labfilties. As azeeu]l, vz ac 25 0 ly St millkx and [Kfes of apy
5730,600. We have rezoided iotal gocdwlil of approdkmately $3.5 rlltan, all of which ks expected to be deductitle for lax purposes, and
other Wangkbie asseis of approdmately 52.¢ millaa The $7.0 milllon of Mtanglble assas |5 aekdulabla fo customa: Ww:atenships, acautad
software and trade name and will be ano:tzed over & welghted bverape pettod of approximalely M yeass,

As ol Dacgraber 31, 208, the purchase pitce allocations for Sage, Sctrata, CaseloadPio, snd MobllEyes ate comptate. As of Decembar 31,
018, the purchase price allocallon lor ScenaDoc 13 not yal complels, theiafare the prefiminiacy vatliallon est'males of sl value asswmed at
the acquisldan dale for fnlarzlble assets, recehables and deterred reveaue and iented deferred tases are subject to change as valvations
are finalized,

The opeating 1esws of all 2018 acquishions ara icluded with tha opesetlng resilts of the Enlziprise Sofiware segmant slivce thek data of
seyuklion. Revenugk fron Socrata Inchadan In Tder 5 wesulis of opazaliens lataled approdmalely $13.9 mitlon and tha net los was §li5
milfoa (s the Lwebe months snclsd Decembier 3, 2018, The linpazt of he Sage, La: PRO, and SceneDos eed; ,
Inelividuaky 2nd Jn dha aggiegate, oc our oparadne meults, assess and lablfitles & nat malerkl

O tajanca sheet a3 o! Decernber 31, 2019, refizcls the alacaion of the purchase piica 1o tha assels acauied hazed on ther: fair value at the
date of ench azquisition, Tha fak vaue oF the a43eis ard llabllies acqulies ace based oy valvations using LavedIil, ynobservabl uts (hat
are supponed by litile o ne markel activity and that are significant Lo e fav vakie of e assets of flablliyes

2017

On Noveraber 29, 2017, we acquiind aulo and digital lwn-way mdio cammunleallors Ischaolegy and ralater assets lrom Radio 10-33, (L
The tota durchiase price was $1.4 midkony o'l of whith was pa'd t4 cash.

On Appust 2, 20°, we acquled suhstantially ali of the assets ard assumed certaln V'abilides of Digial Heaith Depanment, Inc. (DHD, a
company that provides evllanmental health sollware, ofsilng a $a23 soiution for public health complaarz and kiipectons procasses, The
{otal puschase price, Aet of debt assumad, was $3.9 miton, all o which was pald In cash,

On Maty 50, 2007, wa aculied all of the caplial stockof Mndria com, Ing, 2 company (hat spaciiizes I onling cispute resslutionicr gavernmer
and cominezclal entities, The Latal purchaze price, nat of ok assimed, wae $2.0 oniliian, of which $6 Intllionwas 031d1n cash amd 3800000
was aceuad ¥ of Dacenber 31, 2017,

Tha apaadag results of these acquisiion aie Inchsdad In gur iasulls of operations of tha Enlerprise Softwan sagment from thelr respecyye
dbtes of acquiskion, The ‘mpact ol lhese acqulsitions, individually and © the agaragate, on our coersling rescls, 2ssets and lLablilies Is
not materal
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2016

at May 2, 2016, we acquirad all ol the caphiai siock of ExzeuTima Softwars, (1€, b ledtling provtder of tire, attendance, and advanced
scheduling saftware seluions, The wotal purchase price, ne: of dabt ass |, weas 574 milllc Tha flr valug of (he assets anc #abithes
Acquired aig Bazad onvatuallons using Leval ), undbservable [nputs thatare suppailed by litle of no markst acivity and that are ¢lznidecant
1o the fab vaue of the asséts of llabililes, The operaling resulls of thit acquisitlot are frcluded o our esulls of opeations of (e Enterprea
Software segment iom the dala of the acquistien The mpact of tis acqUsRidh 0 SUF dgeraling 10sults s nol matafal,

=

(5) PROPEATY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Propesty and @gulpineal, net constsls of the fal nwing a [gce voer 31

Yol thm iyt

Tané -
Suldtng an¢ 142 WHC lapreverrents 1
Compute squipment annd patehased sohiary 35
Furritm and firiaces §
Mattelyilon el med 5
Semanlied o iitin sl stiaton

Mulﬂ wirl, Wi

Dep:eclsthon expersse vias $212 millar i 2018, 3171 @fiicn th 2017, and 3154 millkon 'n 2015
[n 2018, wa pald 52,2 mkl'on for the expenson of existg dulillaps,

Ir 2007, we purchased an office Hlding in Lathare, New Yok far approximalely $2.9 mioa ane pard $2 | millon far (mpovemanis 2o thal
bullding #e alto patd 313 4 mllla fzr canstruclion 19 expand out 2ffiza bilaing in Yarmeuth, Malne.

Wa ovwn olfice butings 1 Basgar, Falmouth and Yarmouth, Mafne; Lubbockand Plano, Tovas; Troy, iichign: Lalkam, New York, and bcralne
Ohlo, Wa lease 9pace In some ol these buldings 10 tivid-daily lenants Thega Jeases eyalre betwesn 2013 and 2625 and are experted jo
oiovide ‘ental incarieof approxiinztely $t3 aullion i 2013, 513 MiNar 2020, 513 mlilcnIn 2021 $14 il [6 2022, 5i 4 mitlon In 2023, and
$2.4 million thereatar, Renla Incoms dici Thitd-paity tenants was 3t 2 milica i 2018, $1.5 mbl(an In 2612, and SL7 railior: In 2016,

(4) G00DWILL ANG OTHER INTANGIBLE ASIETS
Olher niangible assec: and relaled axumulaled amatizavon <onslas of Ine fallow’ng &t D2eember 31
0
Pl nu‘nmmn_n: LAt
Carin waiiog Ml o1 pogd KTk g T
LCustamer selaled Intangibles

equired wflware
Tade amm

Ly sopted
ety doaifalie.

Jobil rvagitim, o B EARSE

Total amantlzadon exparise fo1 Wianglbles was 3396 millon in 20°5, SEE5 million (2¢ adjusced; Iy 2017, and $35.8 milon (as adjusted)
néng 2016,
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The alla¢ation of acquisiian Intangble assels fs summartzed |n the fflowing tabler

Decxwer 1, 1514 ecenber 31, 2017
Pielded
Caryiny ‘Mﬁmlll‘l« S wad
Pakd
Non-amrituable Infanziblag:
Copdn’l . § -
Amorilizle Inlangibies:

[orwer whalod [nlangibles 1§ yeirs &2
Aoyired mfipie o 1640
Tordenamin M yoars k]
[ETTH T 10 yenis 525

.

Tha changet [ tha canying amount of goodwlll for (e twa years eeded December 3, Z0IB are as follows:

Tetpdsy Aypaliad
Saitware. 1T Tolnd

Balanoe 13 ol L2IBL2Y1E §645,520 $5,887 $e50,281

2wt sceitties L L]
Vlapew st o AT

Qadwii] scquined related *a iba purchase of Sactsln

Gantat] azga v g olher et iben
alred ot d 1AL

Estimated annual amorlizatlon axpunsa elalad to acq-rad [aasas whl ba racoidad 3s a ieduciion (o hardwara and nihar sverue and Is
expetted to be 5372000 In 2019, 511,07010 2020, 312,000 In 201, §32,000 In 2072, 532,000 In 2023 and $723,600 theeahes, Sithnaled
anAud’ ameitzaton expense celated w acyuision Stanglbtas, 1n¢0dng acquiead softwsie, for which the amoldzadan expasce is recorded
28 costof revenues, Is o3 folwws:

palt) @
2020 140
i3 KX
an 3499
2023 1539
Thuaaltar RT3
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(%) ACCRUED LIABILITEES
Accrued labililas conzlstaf Lne fol.owl g a1 Decambar 31;

213
Reciued wepes, bemiags and commiuions $43,88¢
oy wtred b1 oy
5

(4) REVOLYING LINE OF CREDIT

G November 16, 2015, wa srtered Tita a $300.0 mtlion Ciadr Agreemant fhe *Ciadit Faziily*) with the variis lerders uty thereta and
We is Faigo Sank, NallemlAssotlatlon, as AdmiaBl:ative Aganl The Ciedll Facllity provldes lor arevolving credil fne of up 1o $330.2 m[Blan,
fnclucing a 510 0 midlan ublimit ‘o¢ lewers of cracil. Tha Credil Facllty maturee on Novemba: 6, 2020, Betiowins Lader Lhe Credt Fasllity
may ba used Ior geneal co:porate pusposas, bwludi>g wardng caphal raqulreaients, acquiikions a~d share repuchazes

Tthe raditf tacate af elther (I3 Wetis Fargo 3anks piime ;e (sublectte zavaln higher :aiedela minalors)
plus a mangln of 025% ta 100% ¢i 2) the 30, G0, 9C ar i60-day LISCS iate plus o matgh of 125% 16 200%. As of Dezawibey 31, 2018, s
Inerest ke was £.73% undes the pilme mte opl’sn er approxiately 3,774 undler the 30-day LIBOR opron Tre Credi Fastly i
by subetanlally aft et asaeis Tho Crait Facilty reaulres Us lo maintaln cerlaln financlel iatios and claer financlal cond;
s from making tetiain Investments, sovances, cach dividands or kaans, 37d fimRs 15curienze of addincnal indebitednets aad lane.
December 31, 209, we wyere I+ conpHatce with (hose covenanis,

As of Decaibier 3, 2018, we had e cutstanding bantai=ge Asd rad Gouned borowt=g Jepacdie of §3000 nlllon undey the Cred®t Fachity.
In additon, as af Dacember 3', 2018, we had 0c oustantng feler of credil,

We pakl liuerest of $7/0,000 L 2018, 5804,000 In 1017, and 419 millon In2016.

(7) INGOME TAX
The Income Lax p {beneny) on Incorne fiom conslets ef ik fallowlng:
k214 alr 231
Towis e d Judiindir 1), Ay Al
Sunenl
Tedan) LIS
£t i4td
i
Bidennd ALK
§ 10357
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Recacilatlon of fig US, stalutory Incomo tax rale 1o our electe nceme bix expense fate for pparations (ollows

me  ow  me
Tuws Ended Des st 31, ha Alided
Frderal Incomd [ apnss 2 sixuliey 1ale 132203 § 0480
State lwome fax, ne. af Reeral fneome 1ax beareft 4 5,091
Damesiic produstivn aciiidtles deducikn 281 Q9D
Exceas 131 benefils rmialed 12 SioX aption peervlsey (32 [Fe kN
Tan Al adjuslmenty {25,492 —
Yax ey 1351 —
Non oaducdlols butiness enpenies 4m 2374
LA i

By
\-KSE!-_‘ 3 it LR

©On Cacember 22, 3017, the lax Act was enacted inta kiw, Thp Yay Act amends Lhe lnlernal Revenue Code to mduze (ax rles amf modily
palldes, credits and deductions for ndfviduals and buslnesses For sus'aesses, the Tav Act jedyces the 1S, coraotale federal tax rate frem
& masimin of 12% 1o a Rat 11% rale and Cansitions from a woildwide Lax system to & ier'tortal lax system, The Tax A<t also adds many new
provilens ncluding chasges to banus depreciation, the daductan for execuisie comaensatior and a tsy en dlobal INangita low-tarred
Incoqie {EILTN. The fmostsigrthcant lnpuct oF His Tax Act lo ua is the reduztion In the UE, fedural casgarale trcome tax tate rom 36% Lo 2%,
Tha impact of the tale reducton on 2uf 2017 incoms Lax provislon was a $26.0 millior: (as adjuslad) 1ax be:elit due Yo the eceasummert
of deferad tax assels and solNes, We razorded an addllional $1.8 midlon tak benafit in 2018 ajtor aur 2017 ia¥ rahums were Snillzed The
accounting foi lire ey tax sRecls of tha Tax Actwas camplated during the foctlh quarter of 2018, Overal he changes dus ta the Tay Atk
will favorably affer L nsoma ¢ expensa and fulure LS. eanings

Tha Lox offcgts of the majo: iems tecorded s defoirod Lax assols and flabiliies as of decembe? Slave:

Dafensd income ax sasela:
Qgeratlpg oxptasas Mol turrenlly Sriclbi
Stowkogtion ard bt amphoree Henefl pladi
Enn ol ool atiylorwd it

Tulaf daferrm e Lt LK
NVihaslon ilkpe e
Bet ot e g Lo e, o ) Rl ok

Dafened imgn g oy [ e
Tntangible pasety
Prepeny and eqelpeent
Pregiid mpensen
Chfoited v

el deberml bare s Len Ll
Al drlwend Socama i !

The abore 017 batancas iafact an $8.0 allilon delesred lax labllily raiated o the recognillon of revaaua 2 parl af the adspllen ¢f
ASU o, 2014-03,
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Durlrg 2018, wa asquied federai and stala reb oerallng loss and iay aadlt caryicivards Wstadng 518 ¢ milllsy In zcnneclion with the
acgulsition af Socrata, The ladusl wad ate nal Gymosating rss 2ndd 1 ¢ edk canylorvarls Wi aaplee I vaitous years baginatag In 2023, It
A WPV T il DA SRS e T b i) cammpfiwa e 408 subect to an znnual limRator: but ans expected 1o be realizey
with the 2icepton of fa0ain state el opeaing 45 carryle ds. Tha val allowanca Mieeloeed N the latie above felales Le wata pet
ope:aling “asses not llkely to by r2alizad, We believe 18 s mora fkely than nat tihat &% other deferred L asels wil be realized, Howeve , the
Aamount ol he delatted lax assel cora'dered npalizavle ¢ould be adusied i lhe foture Il estimales of reveising lavatle lemperaiy difetencas
ate taviced.

In connectan wilh the acquisitian -l Socrita In 2949, we recarded a $1.9 miilon fabllity for an azaqialn \ax s llen associated whhacqulied
tax ¢redil carrylatwards, The Lnrecognlred tax benefts are Inciuded 12 delened [ncome Yxes i our conselidiated balance sheety and s
isfiected Indhe opening balance sheet of Socala The entre amounL. f iecogn'zed wou'd affact the effe: laX mle

The agwregale changas In the palanca of uniecognlzed Lax benafits were as follaws:

Baiarce 2 begnnlag ¢f oy k
Sacanatad o B i TR 10 4 Ll
umu-ﬂ?‘g: SR

G3sed on the nlouration cumently avatlable, wa de nolanticipale a sianificant increase oy decrease to ot ke cenlingencles fs these lssuey
foi the neat)z menths,

We arg soblecl o VS federal lax, as wall 25 'nzoma 1ax of muliple state, local and fxefga kadsdictions. Wa aie routinaly subjact tatecore.
B exaninations Dy these g jurludicllony, bt we 3o nal have a Wistory of,nor do we expect ary malalal ayAmants as a rasut ¢f these
examinations, Omlng 2612, the Ioternal fReveaus Sewiea Bssued 3 “ad changa™ 2ier dpan complatian o thel: pxamnation ol ou* 2012 4
year, WRh (aw exceptions, mafor U5, iedeial, state, local ant! foretyn julsdiCilens ar2 no langer sublect e exantination for years hefara 204
Asof Eablyary 20,2018, no vignificanLadjusimeals havs boeo preposad by any loxlzs fursiction

‘Wa pald ncon' e taxas, et of relynds recalivad, of §5 8 nYion In 2912, 536.C m3an Ir 201/, and $30.2 miilion In 20',

{8) SHAREHOLOERS" EQUITY
The fellowing table delails acthity ous zommen dack

Yehrs Ended Docyimbar 31,
?¢_17 DI
Shores Aot Shams AR
Suock aptlon mescises L §dssls 2?7 $2552)
Archive o spnmen sk oy (361 &8 (12,6891
Empioyes dlock plen pusaasn Si Pt & 4238

As of Febwary 20, 7019, we Fod autharization irem v board of diteclors Lo sepurchass up Ao 2.7 millo: adkiticnat shases of ot~ comivn stack.
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() SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION -

Share-Based Compensation Plan

In M2y 2018, weckholdes apmoved (he Tyles Tochnologie:
& Frles Technologlas, Ing. 2080 Stock Ootlon Plan (*
Bvalable for granl unded the 2010 Plaa were adziad 1o the shaces suthorlrea sl grantunder tha 2034 Plan. Additl asally, any a7emiis previously
franted under the 2010 Plan hat ey o1 afe Pafolted i e nadac o the shant allncdoed b the 2013 Plan,

irez. 2016 Stock Inceni'e Plas (ke 2018 Flax"»which amencied and restaied the

a 2010 Plan’y. Upon siotkholder approval e) the 2018 Plan, tha ‘emaining shais

Curlng Ascal year 2013, wa granted Stock swatds undtay the 2018 Flan in the form of stock aations, rastricled stock units and perormanca
shase uplls, Siack cpiions genarlly vosy a’tes teas (0§ eats of confpuous senfce fiom She date of graal and have & tantractual term
of 10 years. Once apiiens bezame axerisable. the employise can puichase shares of our cammon sleck ol the maiket pifce of the daia we
granted ihe opticn. Resiizled stack Unit zian's ganezally wael rataoly over three tu fiva years of continuss sarvica from the data cf grant,
Bach peiformanca shere ualk repsesants te iight to receive cne shae of sur cannoiL 525k hassd on aur achlevement of cartaln Anardial
pe:totmance largats durng applicabie periormance perods We aceount for shase based cempensailsn uthlzing Ihe (atr value recogntion
pursuant te ASC N4, Stock Compensation,

As af Pecember 34 2018, there were 38 milllon thaes avatlable for Juture pents under tha plas fiom the 229 milllon thates previousty
appreved by the shaizhoiders,

Falr Value of Stack C:
Valualion and Amortization Method. We esttmate ihe falr valie of slock cpdon awards prarted using the Black-Scheles sptien vohiat'on
model For rastrcled slezk ynit and padormante stock Unk awards, we amorlize the falr value of all awards on a stralehi-Fne basls cvar the
requlsta sevice perlads, witch ate genemlly Lhe vesting pdods,

Expected Lile, The expected lile of Bwards manted mpesenls she pedod of me (hat Lhey are expacted (o be nuittanding The expecied
{ife raprasants the welghted-avarae parled tha stock options are expreted to b outsiaading based pimaily on ife oplions” vesting lams,
remoining cantiactual e and the empioyess' expacma inecise based on historleal pail¢rris.

Expacted Volaiility, Using tha Glazk-Schols del, we astimate y o OUr < the data of
on Ihe histoilcal volatifty of ow cammon stozk,

Risk-Free [niares| Rala We base the risk-Trew alerest raie used i L Black-Scholes estlon rahalion madel on the Implied ylekd currently
avallabie on WS, Treasury. coupon fseies with an agui teamn oqial ts the expecled (e of the award.

Extpecled Clvidend Yiedd, Wz have ot pald any cash dividends on our common steck I mora than ten years and Wa o not anticipate
adying a2y cash dvdenwts @ the foreseealia utwie, Conseduantly, wa use an axpedted dividend yletd of zero !n the Black-Scheles optian
wiluallon model.

Expaected Forfetllures, We wie hisiorlcal dala Lo astimate pre-vesting option lorritines, We recard shae-dased corrpensation only for those
awiuds thal ain expocted lovest.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The followirg welghled aveisne asampiionswaie used fof epilots gamed:

Yeare [aded Decombar 1), 217 N6

gl Ele (A Man] 60 &

Frjmted wriallily )% 83%

Wik v et pale e 18%

Enpochid efladion 12te % s

Share-Rased Award Activity

The fokowng lable semmanzes restiiclad stoc'unliand peiformanta ttock un' activily duilng fiacal year 2018 (3hares in (housandsy;
Ferhed

Uneiind ol Loscany 4. 2018

Gl

L

Porfedee

Rameaid o deseaber 31, 2010

QOptions granied, exerclsad, (oieited and axplied are summanzed as foliaws

Wlatied wcary
Welrhie] Remblag  Agyapole
Jombez of Aetiny Lonkiach Ut irtrianc
Shares Emmise Frie i) Yalw
Qutslandng 21 Geserober 31, 2115 EALE] T
Grarled 3. 12.25
Exersived G X
Fodrilid a3 1Y
Outstandrg al Deswaber 31, 2C18 415 K
Gianied s e
Exmeisad (15241] W
Facieiing ] 13483
Ouictancing al Dooamber 3, 2377 [ATH Al
Same e L
Ereicizad
It
ulshinding it waaier 31, 1104

Exigtistble al ecwnber JF, 208

Wehad unvesled oplions i purchasa 12 milllon shares with 4 welehied aveiaaa areat dete exerclsa prica of £69 2 a3 of December 3), 2048,
and raveste oplions Lo purchese 24 mi o shates With 2 walghie Haveiage gizal dale euarcise psle of $136 5 as of Cevember 31, 201,

i
i
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Notes ta Consolidated Financlal Statements

«Clher In‘ormaiton pegtainlng lo optloa sivity was as joliows during tha twrelve mart™s ended Decenber 5l

2011 100t
Welghted sversgy grasl-Cala falr valu of stk sytions granted $ 5558 $ 48
elal Iolresk vaket o stock opibas esticlasd ] 103,701

Share-Based Compensation Expense
The foFowing lanls sunmarizas shans-basad compensation expacse celated 16 shase-based award's which ¥ acided] In the statements af
zompsahdnstva fncoma:

Years Ended Deci aber 31 217 1015
Sorst el ol wane v, mplalanimn sad kil oy o
Sniling, ponaland sdndniirlhe mpenan 1N i
Belal s Lasd ismrribon peem. EEETT] uMr
Tin By iy {itlss
o e 114 [cindae ' et inocens. § 1 3 lEu
As of becember 3, 2003, we bad $137.6 milion of ietal 4 lated d o & resurictedl sceckunls,

net ¢f expected foifelluies, which % exprstad o be amortized over a welghled avmiage amoriration peded of dyenrs.

Emplayee Stock Purchase Plan

Under our Employee Slock Purchase Plan CESPPT prarticlpants may confritirle up (o 5% of thelr anvsal compansation 10 pUichate comman
shacas ol Tylon The puizhsse krika wf 1hs sharee le vqual le 8% of tha clusing price of Tyfar sharos of: Uio 1351 day of 2ach: quartedy uforing
perlod. As of December 31, 207, there were 749,000 shares avallabie [af fulure granis under the ESPP from the 2,0 mEllea shares prexdsusky
appioved by the sncknolders.

{10) EARNINGS PER SHARE
Saske eardogs and culed earalans per shane data weie compried as folays:

2 bt M
Yeary Euke) Ducempar 31 hr htanted
Narseiatos bt daste atd difoled earles per char:

el oo pICAIH pIIEYH
Penoa'ati,

Waighted-aveiage badc common thases d0lsieediag am b X )
A sutned oonversdon of dilulive weuriles:

[Fron g thoen. _Il_uz LR
Soewera Jor Lied abimingt por et~ Adri'ed we e awras tharkt 3 EE]
Tain'gn pov tomrscn than

i L] oA

i L $ L5t
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Kates ta Cansolidated Financial Statements
Sfware-based awauds lepresanting the bt Lo puichase common stack of B38,0C0 shares la 2012, 343,600 shaies Ir 201, and 766,000

shaies i 2016 were aal ingluded ‘a the computallon o! diluled earings per shate because thelr ixkiskon would have hed an anll-
il cifecl

(31) LEASES

We iease office facihiaz lor use in our lons, a5 well 4s i7n dr athar Mot of out 'eases are non-cancalible
<ceerating lease agreements ad they explee at vartous dales theough 1026, fa additton ta rent, (he lsases gensrty tequiieus to pay tayes,
WA 40 tardn oty g wEp AL

Aent expense was appraximately $8,0 millen in 2018, 6.4 mitlen e ZOW, and $6.7 mllllon In 2015, which included rent expense asscdatsd
wilh relsted party tease agresments of 350,000 | 2042, and §320,000 Iy, 2016, Wa had a2 rakates party lease sgreements *n 2048,

Fybzra minlmuim lease paymaris urzar all non-cancelable leaset al Decambaer 3L 20'6 are as llews:

Taws Epiéee OvcemberJ1,

%19 8 ss
uN (ALY
€2l 3818
am 1525
s L
e i
=hl I

(12) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

‘We provkk a definad codlsulien plan fo; Hie insjorily of i airployaus masling winknicr service eagsieivants., Bllglbin einpleyess can
conlilang up to 30% ¢F thelr cunem compensition 1@ the plan subdect 1o ceviels slajulety Ymilakons, We certilbite up to 3 masim.m
0! 3% of an employew's campensation to Lhe plan Wa mad zantibutdons Lo the plan and chazgesd opatating 1esuits 53 2 sllion tn 2003,
$10wilnn ko 2047, and $6.9 millon 1 2016,

(13} COMMITMENTS AND COH TINGENCIEY

Other Lthan routine litigaddon Incldemal to our business, there are 7o matenai legal proceedlngs pendng 1o whith weare parly orte which any
of our piopecties are subject

0

S
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Notes ta Consalidated Financlal Statements
(14} SEGMENT AND RELATED INFORMATION
We piovide Ir:legrased Informeton macdgement salullans and sesvices for tha piabllr. s2ccen, with @ focus on local gavemments,

We arovide 2ur softwate syslems and services and oppraisal serdces though fve husiness unlls, which focus on the lollowlag pradusls:

frznclal anegement education and plonning, regulalory and malatenance software solutions;

Hnandal 1, muakipal courts, planaing, r2g snd land andvilal record ilware sok.Alons:
couils and Justie and public salely software solultons;

dala and lasinhts se'utlens; nd

appiskal and tax saltwd,a salullons and property 1ppralsal services

fu zecordance WA ASC 280710, Seament Seucrting, the fnanchi merngomerd, oducation andl plaaning, Jegulalery and nulntensnce
wiftwae solutions Jalty Rrancisl canagement, imun'dpl coveds and had and VI ey management softwaes sulutions Lt azd tha
tourls and jstkn aad puble safely sofiwac soiulions unlt mei Wha cdieda for agaregation and are pieseni2d In one rep 21table segmant,
Enlgipdsa Software (€57 Tha ES Segmient povides muntdpal and vouny gavernineits and school: with icftwa.e sy2tems add senvices
ta meat thefl and needs for m's -Htlexl “bark-office” funekons such as doén<lal management and
coutts and jusiice and publc salely processer, The Apprmlsal ard Tax I'«AT’) sugmur prevides sysiem: and software (iat actamata the
uppralial and assessment of reat and parsonal propeity as well as properly appisai cutsdUCing sevioas Jor louil pOVRINmENts and taxing
atuthotlles. P:oparty appralsal oulsou:cing sanicos Include; the paysieal insoectior of cenmercil and residents ies; datd colleclion
and prexessing! coiripuzer analysls for property vakeation; f Ly rollz; 2 education; and asbitratfon delween tavpaycrs
and Lhe assessing jodstlztior.

Wa avalvale performanca based ob saveri facteis, of which the primary Rnanclal measure s business segment opedatng incoma, Yie
defing ssgmonl opemting Incoite for oUt businets unlls as Inceme before ioncach amertization of (ntanglble aseels assoclated with thelr

T Iveres| edp nd Income taxes. Seymeat o pevatkie ncoma Tachudas teidty of Intercaipany
fansactions 1elata to comtracts Irveiving mose than ene unit and e valued based on the nOhl’:Lﬁ.’E‘ am:ﬂaerrnm Segmem cperaliag
acema lor carposata prmarly coslals of eompersalion cosls for the execulive earandeaitaln

statt and share-based compensattan expense for the entire company. Corporate seenient Gpsiitiee ‘oo sho I adet seam tues Al
3xpenses erated to 3 company-wide Lser capferance, The accounting policles of Ihe ripaqtakie sasmunit ary the same at (hose desetibed
Iy Note 1, “Sumrrary of Signifitant Accounting Policles.”

Sagme assels Include net accounts iecelvalile, prpald axpenses and alher curfent assets dnd nei piopeny and equipment Carporale
aisals conslst af ¢ush anet . prapaid tnsuzanc lated with dzleriad Income ta4es and pRL HODeITy
ard equipmeiv malnly rehated o urallocated infermiation ansl technology assels,

ES sagment capital expendkusss tncluded 52.2 mibien th 2018 and 5244 inikion In 2017 for the expanclan of exlsting brldings end purchases
of bulldings and and

o
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Bramns

Settwues [Ressas and myation
Nbdsriptint

Sottwita sarvices
Nartenance

Appintanl serdlogy

Hardware and albey

ot wcony

il rmwnny

Degeeelatlon snd amr(1alion sxpensa
Segamen! operaling Inoows

Capai tepend s

Sagmei] sisels

P Py s Do 31, 3003 0 Ml

Revenieg

Soitwacs lfeanset 104 ropalies
Sabserigtions

Sofiwite ervkes
Malnlsnancs

Appraisz| ssrdoes

Hadmae and cleg
Elrmam

FREFTS
B
6,245
LI

L
Copeclation and ameriizlion erpense
Bagrenl operaking income

Cagial expend Biwes.

Segment as1els

i o ] O 31, Sk At At

¥
(R
PO
22900
2.0%
§365315

g
i

13
R

oA
LELL)
ELBY
e
$L198335

o't

5w
72l
180,453
1318
5683
781
eI
898
1455
15ils
81311360

Reveaurt

SLefware licrnsas and ryaiion
Suaeeriplhons

Suftwato serkes
Mulalonace.

Appraisal sevicis

Hardwam and olher
oy

$ 78201
136489
185,222
2,403

Halirein

Deprzc'ation snd amorlira lion expense
Sapmal opalig nvome

Cailal aupondiiores

Sepoen| usees

Bgpinis
i

§ 5462
AT
18326
5%

15471
2
g8

3l D.»,EL

&IM!)M
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Nates to Consalidated Financial Statements

Yews Cnded Decembey 1],

2218 207 20ik
ey A Azl
Tolu] sgmen] operaiing Sncoma Sl $023:09)
Ansrlitalon of sequied 1ofimare 2Hm: 121,36) (22,238}
Wanpih T .2
" 1L L

Eal] "
LTI T 1Y 13 Jnies

(15) DASAGAREBATION OF REYENVE

The tables bafow show dlsagsgation of revaie Ino categorias thal reflact how aconoimic dactols affact the nalure, amount, Hnving. and
ungedalnty of caveriue and cast {lows,

Timing of Ravanua Recogaltion

Timing of revanua rzconlifon by reverue catepoty . 1ing the pedlod | as icllgws:

Pk el

T
For Tt e vt 10, 2010 o v it
Jeveaue
Soliweze loesen amd remllien $ 125 $ 944l
Subseriptions 7380 2050
Softwaze warvkos 191,258 181,265
Malnlenypos e ag4821
Appratssd sarvieas 284 234
Hit Bt nad i L - 1A
o [ T T T
e R

Froducts snd

Gk

Fundemd
P T oadek Gt J1 110 M Ailelt i Temt Tds
Revenoes
Solivare lisemtes 2nc reyaRlos. § s $ a2
Sabser plions BT V2.8
Software eandor 80450 130459
Malmemance 88318 #3319
Lopratial surions 18023 E¥oL]
lppmio i vt = [1£2)
kil SIHLET 1R
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Notes to Consalldated Financial Statements

Rexurring Revenue

he mix of i Eaanue | pilsed ¢ tacuiling e and subzedzilo %3, Viruauy sllof our oy lses soRware
2lieiyts contral with us jer msiiteranes and suppoll, whlch provides uz with a tignificant scurce of recuring reveaue “Ma goperally pes dde
nrenance and supportfor ous oin-premtes ullants unuer annuial, o1 kyseme eases, mril-year contracts, The cardzace terms fox subscription
artangements ringa {ram one ta [0 years Mk aie typicaliy conlzaciad far kY prinds of troz to Bva yesis: peviding A dgiilleant scares of
I2LyIng ravenves ana, wal basls Narriecu:ng rarenyes ars dedved fot al! olhes revenua catagodes,

Recurring revent nen~reeUring tevanyes during the perled are ag fokows:

s wal
wiin Lot Telx

NE  Sacribes 31 X1
Koeotitng Hyenuss
Hob riuariog rewron
ol SL]

Tetal iparnny

o tho yeur anded Deewbar 21, 2017 41 Afranies)

Recurring revenues 662418 -zl § - $8314%
Yot qecUr ng (evonins 282650 a0z 4,512 13940
Ilirc gy L34} (g =
lal iriwos [T (I HCKIE] [T

{18) DEFERRED AEVENUE AND PERFORMANCE OBLIQATIONS
Total chstarced ravanue, Including loag-ea, by segment i 05 follows:

i w3
Daceabt I, s Adjaited
Enlrigrise Software 4273,1%8
Appralsal and Tax 2,187
Cingtaly
il
—

T opening balance of Wl dalaited reve wa, Indul g lorg-tarm, was 5230, rifion (a achusiad as of lanuay i, 2012,

Changes In ic1d; doferred ieteatte, \ncjuding Jong-tarm, weiz &5 follws;

Bakance 11 bagianiar of yeus As Adjusled)

Detena” ol evnoe A
Brtiga o dfanl oo 1=
e E o EEATY

c2
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Notes to Consolidated Financlal Statements

Perjormancs Obligatians

lon Price All d ta |he

The agpregate amnunt of transaction prea wlorated 1o the roralnlag peformance ob¥patiens iepresents conkrazied revinue that has aatyal
Leonewgnized Rackiog™), whidh includan dafusrg d 1svayva and 1hatyl L belnveked and gnlzavi as reveaisa n fulure perlods.
Backlog as of Decamber 31, 2018 was 5125 bifllon, of which we expect o eeogrize appreximately S0% as itvenue aver the rext 2 manths
ariel the simalades theneafier.

{17) DEFERRED COMMMSIDNS

Sales commissions Barned by cur sales force ara consfdesed [ncremental and recoverable costs of oblaliing a canleast vath & wustamer.
Safes comints¢lons for Inital contracts are delerred and then amertlzed commensuiat2 Witk tha recognlllan of asseclaled ravenus ovar
a peiiod af benefit thal wa have detemined 1o e thea 16 3¢ven years, Deferred commisstoss werd 5219 milian and $19.3 miléen (as
adjuslec) as of Decumbar 3), 2058, and Decamber 3, 2017, respattively, Amoriization exosnse was SI5.5 1l2om far the taeive nonlls ended
December 31, 2018 and $11 2 milfion (a3 adjusted) for tha tyelye month s ended December 3, 2017, iespecthvly. Thars were 40 ndicators of
Ircaslinget Ly polathot 13 the ot gl Crd Bk Uve s oty piidir dend miu mi lwmm M\e heen 'nanhhl th n'ebakt emenqs
ity v Aete saling, g

adminisitaive .)‘pense! !nthe accampanylrg copsolfdated = Iateﬂ'enh af income.

(18) SUBSEQUENT EVENTY
The foliowing evenls and Baseseth el 4 Li6s Decenbar 1, 20i8:

Cn Jawany 1, 2019, () Tvier Techaoloules, Iw., a Delaviate corporalion {"Parent™, (I} TME Substdary, Inc, & Delanare cotperailor: and a
Wholly swnad sebsidiary of Paren: CMergar Swh?), 13 MO Foldings Parent, e, dba MicioPacl. a Delaware co:pacatio CWiciopact™, and
(k) Aitaglon Capitsl Pateas ), L B, 3 Deiaware imited Hp '), sried &0 A and AN of Mecges {(1hs “Maniar
hg:aement).

The Hergar Azrevmerd piovides fos the merer of Mergen Sub with gnc lato MicsaPact on the terms and subject ta the canditions set fonh I~
the Merger Aaraemant, with MicjoPa:t as tha surving campa »y and a whally ovined, direct subsidiary of Pazem.

Puicuant 10 the Merger Agreement Parend will pay Micre?acl's shatohaldors apgragate merper cansldertlon of appiovimarely $:85.0 mbian
n cash, which siall Hickode an amouk equal 1o MicoPacl’s :ia.l-\gdua working capllal and be subfect to 3 posi-closing Working caplta’
acliustrenl as dezcribed I lhe Mergel A il 4 diberadion of up to S0 midien based on cataln fiscai 2019
EBITDA Ihresholds, Tho merger conskderaiion wdll be luadéd Irom cash on hetad and proceers (mm he ravolving credil facinty.

‘The Merger and the Meszer Afieemeat hava baan approved by the baards of directors oI both Mitielac, Parent and Mesger Sub, The
Mergec Agreemaat conlales wslomary repiesentatiams, wanarties, and covenants ¢f MizroPacl, Parant and kleger 3ub. The covenants
Include, aronyg others, a vorilzatlen on behalf of MictoPact o oparata [ts business In the oidinary saure untilthe Merga’ s consurmmated,
and ['milarons on the #ght of RisioPact L sollck cr engage In tegarding alte:nail proposals dulng the pre
Closlng period

Thy ped (5 T i
ihe Hult-Geall-Redina Antiaust Impinvements AQ The Federal Tiade Comvnlsston granted early temilnalien of Ihakwa'llng period offecive
Febaany 15, 2018. Cuslamary closlig candilens also Inciude each party's satisfacion of the appicable iepreseniations and warraities, and

compllance b Al matertal respucts wilh Its apglieable covenants, Consummallan of the Merge? te nol suilect ta @ financing condition

The Morgar Apreement may be leridnated prioi o <losing Under cartaln enumeraled thaumstances, Iacivding i the Merger Is no(
consumimated oy May 1, 2019, Termination ifghts a:e held by Parenl, MlcroFacl, and [ ding on the
fise fo tha terrthalion

MizroPacl k¢ @ leading provider of commercial oH-tha=shell (COTS) solitions, including er . a low-code appt
platform for case manazement and husiress process management weed exianstly n the public seclor,
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Notes ta Consalldated Financial Statements

On iFebivary 1, 2015, we acqu'red all Lhe assals of Civlg, LLC "MyCric™), & company thal provides saltvae sotulions (o conpeck
commurities, The purchase price Is $3.7 mibon of whizh $2€ miMon was palif I cash 3¢ approdkmaiaty 339,000 was acquid fo: a
viosking ¢apltal heldback

(1) QUARTERLY FINANCEAL JKFORNATION (UNAUOFTED}

The follewing ahle contalns seiecled ftom uriavdiled ol Inzome o7 gach quarter of 2012 and 2017
Caiite.s Ervbed
A e
e
Fevenues FE A S I HERE )
Goms peofil %503 94535
Incera befars [ocavs lame 37, lﬂl BEl
Mt some 2764
Eamings pa ditvted shawy 4 o

Shazes saad in computing dilAed

eATags pér She LR RERIE naw

{8} Tha s of 2007 Y udos v dficamd b A of g aiszctant of Who (22 Asl Fhe most Sgrificant impact of the Tox Act 1303 13 lhe cocuslion 1 U
UK. federed carpora’s Lo 1 ke ‘ram 35% Lo 3%, The Imaast of o rata rackictua an ot 2017 lacaea W pavsion |5 a $26.0 mi xa Lax beaet 2gs 10
#e tumeaseriment of defenad s 21icts aou Habibes, Nelzr b Nole 7 —“trapira Tas® fon ziher Sheusslon on the fugmal the Tax A,

e

P v R




TYLER TECHNOLOGIES ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Perfarmance Graph
Tl Jojomng tabls cornpares Lakal sharefiaider relurns far Tylor oves tha last five yaars 12 the Standard and 1'oer's 50U Slock Iradex and L
Stardaid aiwi Poor's 600 Infoxnaticn e hnslagy Indsx assuming a $K00 Invasimanl made o December 31, 2013, Fach of the threa meazuraz

of cumulatlve (oval Ietia 2ssumes rednvestmant of dividends. The stack per'armiancs shivn on the graph below is nel aecassarlly Indicallwe
of Julure pilce pesformance.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN

200

L) —

pulk] e £ e mir 018
- 9118 s L339 HEN 6L
- (0 J33] lis% 1845 wa 1831
@ 100 ma pILE) 1583c 1601 e

- st TSI bR b
—a— SUP L) Sk Mfer
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PARTI

ITEM L. BUSINESS.
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Tyler Technologies, Inc. (“Tylet™) is a major provider of integrated information management solutions and services for the public sector, with a focus on local
govemments, We partner with clients to make government mol'e accessible to the public, more responsive to the needs of citizens and tore efficient in its
operations. We have a broad lins of software solutions and services to address the information technology (“TT") needs of major areas of operations for cities,
counties, schocls and other government entities. Most of our clients have our software installed in-house. For clients who prefer not to physically acquire the
software and hardware, most of our software applications ¢an be delivered as software as a service ("San8”), which primarily utilize the Tyler private cloud.
We provide professional I'T services to our clients, including soflware and hardware mstallation, data conversion, training and, at times, product modifications.
In addition, we arc the nation’s largest provider of outsourced property appraisal services for taxing jurisdictions. We also provide ceontinuing client support
services to ensure product performance and reliability, which provides us with long-term client relationships and a significant base of recurring maintenance
revetwo. In addition, we provide electronic document filing (“e-filing") solutions, which sitplify the filing and management of court documents.

Tyler was founded in 1966, Prior to 1998, we operated as a diversified industiial conglomerate, with operations in various industrial, retni? and distribution
businesses, all of which have been divested. In 1997, we embarked on a mubki-phase growth plan focused on serving the specialized information management
needs of local governments nationwide. We entered the local government IT market through a series of strategic acquisitions in 1998 and 1999,

MARKET OVERVIEW

The state and local government market ks one of the lacgest and most decentralized IT markets in the country, consisting of all 50 states, approximately 3,000
counties, 36,000 cities and towns and 13,900 school districts, This market s also comprised of approximately 37,000 special districts and other agencies, each
with specialized delegated responsibilities and unique information management requirements.

Traditionally, local government bodics and agencies performed state-mandated duties, including property assessment, record keepiig, road maintenance, law
enforcement, administration of election and judicial functions, and the provision of welfare assistance. Today, a host of emerging and urgent issues are
confronting local governments, each of which demaixls a service response. These areas inclide criminal justice and carrections, adminisiration and finance,
public safety, heallh and human services, phnning, regulatory and maintenance and records and doenment management. Transfess of responsibility from the
federal nnd state governments to connty and municipal governments and agencies in these and other areas also place additional service and fmancial
requirements on these local govermument units, In addition, constitients of local govermnments are increasingly demanding improved service and beltor aceess to
information from public entities. As a result, lecal governments recognize the increasing value of information management systems and services to, among
other things, improve revenue collection, provide increased access to mformation, and streamline delivery of services to their constituents. Local government
bodics are now recoguizing that “e-government™ is an additional responsibility for comnwmity development. From infegrated fax systems to integrated civil and
criminal justice information systems, many connties and citics have benefited significantly from the implementation of jurisdiction-wide systems that allow
ditferent agencics or governnient offices to share data awd provide a more comprebensive approach to information management. Many city and county
governmental agencies also have unique indivicual information management requirements, which must be tailored to the specilic functions of cach particular
office,

Many Iocal governinents also have difficulties attracting and retaining the stafl necessary to support their IT functions. As a tesul, they seck to cstablish long-
term relationships with relinble providers of high quality IT products and services such as Tyler,

Although local governments often face budgetary constraints in their operations, their primary revemue sources are usually property taxes, and to a lesser
extent, utility billugs and other fees, which historically tend to be relatively stable. In addition, the acquisition of new technology typically enables local
governments to operate more efficiently, and olten provides a measurable return on investment that justifies the purchase of software and related services.

Gartner, Ine., a keading information technology research and advisory company, estimates that state and local government application and vertical specific
software spending will grow from $16,1 billion in 2019 to $19.6 billion in 2022, The professtonal scrvices and support segments of the matket are expected to
expand from $31.6 billion in 2019 to $35.2 billion in 2022. Application and vertical specific soflware sales in the primary and secondary education segments of
the macket is expected to oxpand from $2.8 billion in 2019 to $3.6 billion in 2022 whiks professional services and support are expected to grow from $1.9 billion
in 2019 o $2.2 billion in 2022.




PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

We provide a comprehensive and flexible suite of products and services that addresses the information technology needs of cities, cotmties, schools and other
local government entities. We derive ow revenues from five primary sources:

+  Sales of software licenses and royalties

+  Subscription-based arrangements

+  Software services

¢« Maintenance and support

»  Appraisal services

‘We design, develop, market and support a broad range of software somtions to serve mission-critical “back-office” functions of local governments. Many of

our softwate applications include Internet-accessible sofutions that allow for real-time public access to a variety of information or that allow the public to
transact buginess with local governments via the Internet, Our software solutions and services are generally grouped in seven major areas;

+  Financial Management and Education

«  Courts and Justice

= Public Safety

*  Property Appraisal and Tax

* Planning, Regulatory and Maintenance

+  Land and Vital Records Management

= Data and Insights

Each of out core software systems consists of several fully integrated applications. For clients who acquire software for use on premises, we generally license
our systems under standard perpelual license agreements that provide the client with a fully paid, nonexclusive, nontransferable right to use the software. In

some of the product areas, such as financial management and education and property appraisal and tax, we offer multiple solutions desigued to meot the needs
of difforont sized governments.

We also offer Spa$ arrangements, which generally utilize the Tyler private cloud, for clients who do not wish to maintain, update and operate these systems or
te male up-front capital expenditures to implement these advanced technologies. For these clients, the software and client data are hosted at our data centers
or at third-party locations, and clients lypically sigh multi-year contracts for these subscription-based services.

Historically, we have had a greater proportion of our annual revenues in the second half of our fiscal year duo to governmental budget and spending cycles and
the timing of system implementations for clients desiring to “go live” at the beginning of the calendar year.

A description of our suites of products and services follows;
oflware Lice
Financial Management and Education

Our financial management and education solutions are entetprise resource planning systems for local governmenis, which integrate information across all
facots of a client organization. Our financial management solulions include modular fund accounting systems that can be tailored to meet the needs of virtually
any government agency or not-for-protit entity. Qur financial management systems include modules for general ledger, budget preparation, fixed assets,
requisitions, purchase orders, bid management, accounts payable, contract management, accounts receivable, nvestment management, inventory control,
project and grant a¢counting, work orders, job costing, GASB reporting, payroll and hurnzn resoucces. All of our financial management systems are intended to
conform to government auditing and financial reporting requitements and generally accepted accounting principles.
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We sell utility billing systerms that support the billing and collection of metered and non-metered services, along with multiple billing cycles. Our Web-enabled
utility billing solutions allow clients to access information online such as average consumption and transaction history. Tn addition, owr systems can accept
secured Internet payments via credit cards and checks,

We also offer specinlized products that autotnate mumerous city and county functions, including municipal courts, parking tickets, equipment and project costing,
animal licenses, business ficenses, permiis and inspections, code enforcement, citizen complaint tracking, ambulance billing, fleet maintenance, and cemetery
records management.

In addition to providing financial management systems to K-12 schools, we sell student information systeins for K~12 schools, which manage such activities as
scheduling, grades and attendance. We also offer student transportation solutions to mana ge school bus routing optimization, fleet management, field trips and
other related fimetions.

Tyler’s financia] management and education solutions include Web components that enhance local governments” setvice capabilities by facililating online
aceess to information for both employees and citizens and enabling online (ransactions.

Courts and Justice

We offer a complete, fully integrated suite of judicial solutions designed to handle complex, multi-jurisdictional county or statewide implementations as well as
single county systerns. Our solutions help eliminate duplicate data entry, promote more effective business procedures and improve efficiency actoss the entire
justice process.

Ouwr unified court case management system is designed to automate the tracking and management of joformation involved in all case types, including criminal,
traffic, civil, family, probate and juvenile cowrts. It also tracks the status of cases, processes fines and fees and gonerales the specialized judgment and
sentencing documents, notices and forms required in the court process. Documents received by the cont can be scanned into the electronic case file and easily
reltieved for viewing, Documents generated by the court can be electronically signed and automatically attached to the electronic case file. Additional madules
avtomate the management of court calendars, coordinate judges’ schedules and generate court dockets. Our targeted courtroom technologies allow coucts to
rapidly review calendars, cases and view documents in Ui courtroom. Courts may ako take advantage of our related jury management system.

Our court and law enforcemnent systeras allow the public to access, via the Internet, a vatiety of information, including non-confidential criminal and civil court
records, jail booking and release information, bond and bondsmen information, and court calendars and dockets. In addition, our systems allow cities and
counties to aceept payments for traffic and parking tickets over the Infernet, with a seamless and automatic interface to back-office justice and financial
aystems.

Out prosecutor system enables state attorney offices to track and manage criminal cases, inchiding detailed victim information and private case notes.
Investigative reparts and charging instrument documents can be generated and stored for later viewing, Prosecutors can schedule and record the outcome of
grand jury hearings, When integrated with the court system, prosecutors can view the electronic case file and related documents, as well as mmnage witness
lists and subpoenas needed for court hearings.

Our supervision systom allows pre-trial and probation offices to manage offender caseloads. Supervision officers can track contact schedules, risk/necds
assessments and reassessments, detailed drug test results, employment histories, compliance with conditions and payments of foes and restitution, Documents
and formns, lke pre-sentence investigations or revocation orders, can be generated and stored for easy viewing. When fntegrated with the jail and cout systems,
supervision officets obtain easy access and quick notitication of offenders that have court hearings scheduled, are arrested locally, and have new watrants
issued.

We also offer a court case managemeat solution that automates and ttacks all aspects of municipal courts and offices. It is a fully integrated, graphical
application that provides effective case managerent, document procossing and cash/bond management. This system complies with all state reporting and
conviotion reports and includes electronic reporting and also integrates with certain of our financial management solitions and public safety solutions.
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Public Safety

Our public safety software is a fully unified and comprehensive solution for law enforcement, fire and EMS, including 911 / computer aided dispatch (“CAD”),
records management, mobile computing, corrections management, Web-bascd information sharing and decision support. The modules are fully inteprated,
utilizing & common database and providing full functionality between modules, reducing data enity. The soflware provides fast, efficient dispatching, and quick
nceess (o records, reports and actionable information from an agency’s database,

Our 911/ CAD solutions provide toal-time, critical responsc dispatch functions in either single- or myltijurisdictional environments, When integrated with our
records management software, a vital link exists between disputch and the most comprehensive records database available. Within seconds, the dispatch
operator and the officer in the field can access critical information, such as prior incidents and oulstandig warants, increasing officer knowledge and safety.
The solutions offer strong geographic information systems integration to help dispatchers quickly locate and send the best response during an smergency.
Tyler’s 911 / CAD solutions dramatically improve petformance, response time and unit safety,

Our records maragement solutions for law enforcoment and fire track statistical, operational, investigative and management data for inquiry and reporting. The
systems create an officient case processing workflow end help solve crimes with an accessible database that maintains centeal flles on people, places, property,
vehicles and criminal activity. Tyler's public safety records management solitions enable easy aceess (o information and simplify reporting.

Our mobilo computing solutions for law enforcement and fire provide instant access to loca), state, regional and foderal databases via mobile devices, Officers
and firefighters can experience the benefits of obinining critical, reaktime information in the field, while saving time by preparing reports directly in their
vehicks.

Our jail management systems document and menage information that meets the requirements of a modern Jail facility. This icludes the booking and housing of
persons in custody, supervising defendants on a pre-trinl release, maintaining offenders sentenced to local incarceration and billing other agencies for housing
inmates. Searching, reporting and tracking featares are integrated, allowing reliable, up-to-date aceess to current arrest and incarceration data, including digital
mug shats. Our systems also provide wartant checks for visitors or book-ins, inmte clssification and risk assessment, commissary, property and medical
processing, automation of statistics, and state and federal reporting, .'

Our civil processing solutions manage civil process needs from docursent receipt through service, payment process and final closeout, We also have o mobile
elechonic citation solution through which law enforcement officers can easily enter citation information in a mobile device, which is automatically uploaded into
the court or public safety records management systems; rather than hand-wriling citations that must be re-entered into the systems,

Property Appraisal and Tax

We provide systems and software that autormate the apprakal and assessment of real and porsonal property, chiding record keeping, mass appraisal, inquiry
and protest tracking, appraisal and tax roll generation, tax statement processing, and electronic state-level reporting. These systoms are imepe and video-
cnabled to facilitate the storage of and access (o the many property-related documents and for the online storage of digital photographs of properties for use in
defonding values in protest situations. Other related fax applications nre available for agencies that bill and collect taxes, inchuding cities, counties, school tax
offices, and special taxing and collection agencies. Those systems support billing, collections, lock box operations, mortgage company elecironic payments, and
various reporting requirements.

SR S p—

Planning, Regulatory and Maintenance

Our planning, regulatory and mainisnance software solutions are designed for public sector agencies such as community development, plinning, building, code
enforcement, tax and revenues, public works, transporlation, land control, environmental, fire salely, storm waler managoment, regulatory controls and
engincering, These solutions help public sector agencics betler manage their day-to-day business functions while streamlining and automating the many aspects
of their land mamgement, permitting and planning systems. Our mobile solutions extend automation to the tield and Web access brings online services to
citizens 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.




Land and Vital Records Management

We also offer & number of specialized software applications designed to help local goveramenis enhance and automate operations involving records and
document management. These systems record, scan and index information for the many documents maintained by local governments, such as deeds,
mortgages, lisns, UCC financing statements and vital records (birth, death and marriage certificates}). These applications include fully ntegrated imaging
systems with batch and scan processing capabilities and fully integrated receipting and cashiering systems, as well as Web-enabled public access.

Our content management solutions allow state and local governments and school districts to capture, deliver, manage and archive clectronic information, These
solutions streamline the flow of digital information throughout the organization to increase efficiency by transforming paper forms and documents into electronic
images that drive key business processes.

Data and Insights

Our dato and insights solutions make existing government data discoverable, usable, and actionable for government workers and the people they serve. The
data and insights solution includes a data-as-a-service platform and cloud epplications for open dala and citizen engagement, exclusively for city, county, state,
and federal govetnment organizations. Our data and insights solutions allow government to analyze, visualize, and securely share data across multiple
departments and programns. These solutions deliver data~driven innovation and cost-savings by bringing together disparate systems and leveraging the cloud to
dramatically enhance the offectiveness of government programs, to improve quality of life for residents, to positively impact local econornies, and to achieve
excellence in governiment operations.

Subscription-Based Servi

Subseription-based revenue is primatily detived from our Saa$ arrangements, which generally utilize the Tyler private cloud, as well as our transaction-based
offerings such as e-filing solutions.

We are able to provide the majority of our software products through our SaaS model, The clients who choose this model typically do not wish (o maintein,
update and operate these systems or make up-front capilal expenditures to implement these advanced technologies. The coniract lerins for these arrungements
range from one to 10 years but are typically contracted for initial perfods of three Lo five years. The majority of our Saa$ or hosting arrangements include
additional professional services as well as malatenance and suppott services. In certain arcangements. the client may also acquire a license to the software.

As part of our subscription-based setvices, we provide e-filing solutions that simplify the filing and management of court related documents for courts and law
offices. Revenues for e-filing are included in subscription-based revenues and are derived from transaction fees and in some cases, fixed fee arrangements,

Software Scrvices

We provide a varicty of professional IT setvices to clients who utilizc our software products. Virtually all of our clients contract with us for installation, training,
and data conversion services in connection with theit implementation of Tyler’s software solutions. The complote implementation process for a typical system
includes planning, design, data conversion, set-up and testing. At the culmination of the implementation process, 2 data implementation team is generally onsite

at the client’s facility to ensure the smooth go-live with the new system. Implomentation fees are charged separately to clients on either 2 fixed-fee or hourly
charge basis, depending on the contract.

Both i connoction with the installation of new systems and on an ongoing basis, we provide extensive (raining services and programs related to our products
and services. Training can bo provided it our training centers, onsite at clients” Jocations, or at meetings and conferences and can be customized to mect
clients® requirements. The vast majority of our clients contract with us for training services, both to improve their employees® proticiency and productivity and
to fully utflize the functionality of our systems. Training services are generally billed on an hourly or daily basis, along with travel and other oxpenses,

Mainenange and Support

Following the implementalion of our software systems, we provide ongoing soflware support services o assist our clients in operating the systerns and to
periodically update the software. Support is provided to clionts over the phone or via the Web through help desks stafTed by our cliont supporl representatives.
For mtore complicated issucs, our staff, with the clients' permission, can log en o olicnts’ systems remotely. We maintain our clients” soflware largely through

releases that contain fmprovements and mcremental additions of features and functionality, along with updates necessary beeause of legislative or repulatory
changes.




Victually all of our software clients contract with us for maintenance and supporl; which provides us with a significant source of recurring revenue. We
generally provide maintenance and support for our on-premises clients under annual, or in some cases, mulli-year conlracts, with & Lypical fee based on a
percentage of the software product’s license fee. These fees can generally be increased on renewel and may also increase as new license fees increase.
Maintenance and support fees are generally paid annally in advance. Most maintenance contracts automatically rensw unless the client or Tyler gives notice
of termination priot to expiration. Similar support is provided to our SeaS clients and i included in their subscription fees, which are classified as subscription-
based revenues.

We are the nation’s largest provider of property appraisal outsourcing servicss for local government taxing authorities. These gervices include
«  The physical inspection of commereial and residential properties

«  Data collection and processing

+  Sophisticated computer enalyses for property valuation

»  Preparation of tax rolls

»  Community education regarding the assessment process

= Arbitration between taxpayers and the assessing jurisdiction

Local government taxing authoritics normally reappraise propertios from time to time to update values for tax assessiment puposes and to maintain equity in the
tnxing process. In some jurisdictions, law mandates reassessment cycles; in others, they are disoretionary. While some taxing jurisdictions perform reappraisals
in-house, many local governments outsource this function because of its cyclical nature and because of the specialized lowledge and expertise requirements
associated with it. Our appraisal services business unit has been in this business since 1938,

In some instatices, we also sell property tax andfor appraisal software products in connection with appraisal outsourcing projects, while other clients may only
engage us to provide appraisal services. Appraisal outsourcing services are somewhat seasonal in nature to the extent that winter weather conditions reduce
the productivity of data collection activities in connection with those: projects.

STRATEGY

Our objective is to gtow our revenue and earnings organically, supplemented by focused strategic acquisitions. The key components of our business strategy
are (o

= Provide high quality. valie-added products and services lo our elients, We compete on the basis of, among other things, delivering to clients our deep

domain expettiss in bcal government operations through the highest value products and setvices in the market. We believe we have achieved a reputation as 2
premium product and service provider to the local government market.

«  Continue to expand our product and servive offeriips. While we already have what we believe to be the broadest line of software products for local

governments, we continually upgrade our core software applications and expand our complementary product and service offerings to respond to technological
advancements and the changing needs of our clients. (n 2010, we began providing e-filing for courts and law offices, which simplities the filing and
management of court related docurnents. We believe revenue from e-iling solutions will continue to grow over time as more local and state governments
mandate eleotronic document filings. We also offer solutions that allow the public to access data and conduct transactions with local governments, such as
paying traffic tickets, property taxes and utility bills online, We believe that the addition of such featuros crbances the market appeal of our core products. We
have also broadened our offerings of consulting and business process reengincering services, In November 2015, we significantly expanded our presence in the
public safety software market through the acquisition of New World Systems Corporation,
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«  Bxpand our client base. We seek to establish long-term relationships with new clients primarily through our sales and marketing effotts. Whils we
currently have clients in all 50 states, Canada, the Catibbean, the United Kingdon, Australia, and other international locations, not all of our golutions have
achieved nationwide geographic penetration. We intend to continue to expand into new geographic markets by adding sales staff and targeting markeling
efforts by solutions in those arcas. We also intend to continue to expand aur customer base to include more large governments. While our traditional market
focus has primarily been on small and mid-sized governments, our increased size and market presence, together with the technological advances and improved
scalability of certai of our solutions, are allowing us to achieve increasing suceess in selling to larger clients. We also expect to expand our presence in
international markets by leveragiog our leadership position in the United States through the disciplined pursuit of selected opportunities in other countries,

. Expand our existing clint relationships. Our existing customer base offers significant opportunities for additional sales of solutions and services that we
currently offer, but that existing clients do not tully utilize. Add-on sales to existing clients typically involve lower sales and marketing expenses than salos to
new clients.

. Grow recurring revenues. We have a large recurring revenue base from maintenance and support and subscription-based services, which generated
revenues of $605.1 million, or 65% of total revermes, in 2018. We have historically experienced vety low customer turnover (approximately 2% annually) and
recurting revenues continue to grow as the installed customer base increases. Subscription-based revenues have been our fastest growing revenue catogory
ovet tho past five years, increasing from $87.8 million in 2014 to $220.5 million in 2018.

Z s of suak ke advantage of financial leverage in o siness. We seck to build and maintain a larger client base to create
economies of scale, enabling s to provide valug-added products and services to our clients while expanding owr gperating margins. Because we sell primarity
“oft-the-shelf” software, increased saks of the same solutions result in incrementally higher gross margins. In addition, we believe that we have a marketing
and administrative infrastructure in place that can be leveraged to accominodate significant long-term growth without proportionately increasing selling, general

and administrative expenses,

«  Attenot and retain highly qualified employees. We believe that the depth and quality of our management and sta ff is one of our significant strengths, and
that the ability to retain such employses i crucial to our continued growth and success. We believe that our stable management teatn, financiat strength and
growth opportunities, as well as our leadership position in the local government market, enbance our attractivencss as an employer for highly skillad employees.

«  Pursue selected strategic acquisitions. While we expect to primarily grow internally, from time to time we selectively pursue strategic acquisitions that
provide us with one or more of the following:

+ New products and services to complement owr existing offerings
»  PBntry into new markets related to the public sector

»  New clients and/or geographic expansion
SALES, MARKETING, AND CLIENTS

We market our products and servicos through divect sales and marketing personnol located fhroughout the United States. Other in-house sales staff focus on
add-on sales, professional services and support.

Sales of new systems are typically generated from referrals from other governtment offices or departments within a county or municipality, referrals from other
local governments, relationships established between sales representatives and county or local officials, contacts at trade shows, divect mailings, and direct
contact from prospects already familiar with us. We are active in numerous national, state, county, and loeal government associations, and participate in annual
meetings, trade shows, and educational evens.

Chents consist primarily of federa), county and municipal agencies, school districts and other governmen! offives. In counttes, clients include the auditor,
treasuret, tax assessot/collector, county clork, district cletk, county and district court judges, probation officers, sheritf, and county appraiser. At municipal
government sites, clients include dircetors fiom various deparlments, inchiding administration, finance, utilities, public works, code enforcement, personnel,
purchasing, taxation, nunicipal court, and police. Contracts for software products and services are generally implementecl over perivds of threo months to one
year, although some complex implementations may span multiple years, with ansually renewing maintenavce and support update agreements thereatter.
Although either the client or we can terminate these agreements, historically nlmost all support and maintenance agreements are automatically renewed
annually, During 2018, approximately 41% of our revenue was atiributable to ongoing support and maintenance agreements.
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COMPETITION

We gompete wilh numerous local, regional, and national firms that provide or offier some or many of the same solutions and services that we provide. Many of
these competitors are smaller companies that may be able to offer less expensive solutions than ours. Many of these firms operate within a specific geographic
area and/or in & narrow product ot service niche. We also compete with national ficms, some of which have greater finatcial und technical resources than we
do, including Oracle Corporation, Infor, SAP AG, Workday, Inc., CentralSquare Technologies, Thomson Reuters Corporation, and Constellation Soltware, Inc.
[n addition, we sometimes compete with consulting and systems infegration firms, which develop custom systems, primarily for lrger governments. We aiso
eccasionally compete with central internal information service departments of local governments, which requires us to persuade the end-user department to

discontinue service by its own personnel and outsource the service to us.

We compete on & variety of factors, including price, service, name recognition, reputation, technological capabilities, and the abliity to modify existing products
and services to accommodate the individual requirements of the client. Our ability to offer an integrated system of applications for several offices or
departments is often 8 competitive advantage. Local governmental units often are required to seek competitive: proposals through a request for proposal
process and some prospective clients use consultants lo assist them with the proposal and vendor selection process,

SUPPLIERS

Substantially afl of the computers, peripherals, printers, scanners, operating system sofiware, office automation software, and other equipment necessary for the
implementation and provision of our software systems and services are presently available trom several third-party scurces, Hardware is purchased on original
equipment manufacturer or distributor terms at discounts from retail. We have not experienced any significant supply problems.

BACKLOG

At December 31, 2018, our revenue backlog was approximately $1.25 billion, compared to $1.23 billion (as adjusted) at December 31, 2017. The backlog
reprasents signed contracts under which the revenue has not been recognized as of yoat-cnd. Approximately $625.6 million, ot 50%, of the backlog is expected
to be recognized during 2019,

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, PROPRIETARY RIGHTS, AND LICENSES

We regard certain features of our internal operations, software, and documentation as confidential and proprietary and rely on a combination of contractual
restrictions, trade secret laws and other measures (o protect our proprictary intellectuel property. We generally do not rely on patents. We believe that, due to
the rapid rate of technological change in the computer software industry, trade scorets and copyright protection are less significant than factors such as
Kknowledge, ability and experience of our employees, frequent product enharcements, and timeliness and quality of support services. We typically license our
software products under non-exclusive license agreements, which are generally non-transferable and have a perpetual term.

EMPLOYEES

At December 31, 2018, we had 4,525 employess, None of our employees are tepresented by a labor union or are subject to collective bargaining agreements.
We consider our relations with our employees to be positive,

INTERNET WEBSITE AND AVAILABILITY OF PUBLIC FILINGS

We file annual, quarterly, cunrent and other reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, pursuunt lo
the Securilies Exchange Act. You may road and copy uny matcrials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-
7320330, The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains repots, proxy and ether information statements, and other information regarding issuers, including
us, that file electronically with the SEC. The address of this site is hitp//www.sec.gov.

We also maintain a website at www.tylrtech.com. We make available free of charge through this site our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reparts on
Fortn 10-Q, Forms 4 and 5, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reporls filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we ckectronically file such wraterial with, or furnish it to, the SEC. In addition, copies of our amual teport
will be made avaibble, free of charge, upon written request.

Out “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” is also available on our website. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirements regarding amendments to, or
waivers from, a provision of our Codo of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on our websile.
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ITEM 1A, RISK FACTORS.

An investment in our commou steck involves a high degree of risk. Investors evaluating our company should carefully consider the factors deseribed below and
all other information contained in this Annual Report. Any of the following factors coukl materially harm our business, opetating results, and [inancial condition.
Additional factors and uncettainties not eurrently knows to us or that we currently consider immaterial could also harm our business, operating results, and
financial condition. This section should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and related Notes and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations inclided in this Annual Report. We may make forward-looking statements from time to time, both wrilten and
oral. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revisions to these forward-looking statements. Our actual rosults may differ
materially from those projected in any such forward-kwoking statements due to a mumber of factors, inclnding those set forth betow and elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

Risks Associated with Qur Sofovare Products
Cyber-attacks and security vulnerabilities can disrupt our business and harm our competitive position.

Threats 1o 1T secwily can take a variety of forms. Individvals and groups of hackers, and sophisticated organizations including state-sponsored organizations,
may take steps that pose threals to our clients and our IT. They may develop and deploy malicious software to attack our products and services and gain
access to our netwarks and data centers, or act in a coordinated manner to launch distributed denial of service or other coordinated attacks. Cyber threats ave
constantly evolving, thereby increasing the dlifficulty of detecting and successfiuly dofending against them, Cyber threats can have cascading impacts that
unfold with increasing speed across our intermal networks and systems and those of our pavtners and clients. Breaches of our network or data security coukdl
disrupt the securily of our internal systems and business applications, impair our ability to provide services to our clients and protect the privacy of their duta,
result in product development delays, compromise confidential or technical business information harming our competitive position, result in theft or misuse of our
intellectunl property or other assets, require us to allocate more resources W improve technologies, or otherwise adversely affect out business. Our business
policies and internal security controls may not keep pace with these evolving threals.

Disclosure of personally identifiable information andfor other sensitive clent data could result in liability and harm our reputation.

We store and process icreasingly large amounts of personally identifiable and other confidential information of our clients. The continued oceurrence of high-
profile data breaches provides evidence of an extermnal environment increasingly hostile to information security, Despite our offorts to improve security controls,
it is possible our security controls over parsonal data, our training of employees on data sccurity, and other practices we follow may not prevent the imptoper
disclosure of client data that we store and manage. Disclosure of personally identifiable information aud/or other sensitive client data could result in liabiity and
harm our reputation.

Hosting seivices for some of our producls are dependent upon the uninterrupled operation of data centers.

A material portion of our business is provided through software hosting setvices. These hosting services depend on the uninterrupted operation of data centers
and the abilily to protect computer equipment and information stored in (hese data centers against damage that may be caused by natural disaster, fite, power
Joss, telecommunications or Internet failure, acts of terrorism, unauthorized intrusion, contputer viruses, and other sinilar damaging events. 1F any of our data
centers were o become inoperable for an extended poriod, we might be unable to fulfiil our contractual commitments. Although we take what we believo to be
reasonable precautions against such occurrences, we can give no assurance that damaging events such as these will not result in & prolonged interruption of our
services, which could result in client dissatisfaction, loss of revenue, and damage to our business.

We rin the risk of errors or defects with new prodhucts or enhiancements to existing products.

Our software products are complex and may contain errors or defects, especially when first introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released.
Althongh wo have not experionced matarial adverse effects from any sucl defects or errors to date, we cannot assure you that material defects and errors will
not be found in the future. Any such defects could result in s loss of revenues or dely market acceptance. Our license agreements typically contain provisions
designed to limit our exposure 1o potential liability. However, it is possible we may not alwayy sucoess fully negotiste such provisions in our clicnt contracts or
the fimitation of lbility provisions may not be effective due to existing or futwe federal, slate, or lecal lnws, ordinances, or judicial decisions. Although we
maiatain errors and omissions and general liability insurance, and we try Lo structure contracts to litmit linbility, we cannot assute you that a successful claim
could not be made or would not have a material adverse effect on our future operating results.
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We must timely respond fo technological changes to be competitive,

The matket for our products is characterized by technological change, evolving industry standards in software technology, changes in client requirements, and
frequent new product introductions and enhancements. The introduction of products embodying new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards
can rendet existing products obsolete and unmarketable. As a result, our fiture success will depend, in part, upon our abllity fo enhance existing products and
develop and introduce new products that keep pace with technological developments, satisfy increasingly sophisticated client requirements, and achieve market
acceptance. We cannot assure you that we will successfully identify new product opportunities and develop and bring new products to market in a timely and
cost-effective mamner. The products, capabilities, or technologies developed by others could also render our procucts or technologies obsolste or
noncompetitive, Our business may be adversely affected if we are unabl to develop or acquire new software products or develop cnhancements to existing
products on & timely and cost-effective basis, or if such new products or enhancements do not achieve market acceptance.

We may be unable to protect our praprietary rights.

Many of our product and service offerings incorporate proprietary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other intellectual property rights, We relyona
combination of contracts, copyrights, and trade secret laws to establish and protect out proprietary rights in our technology. We cannot be certain that we have
taken all approptiate steps to deter misappropriation of our intellectual property, Thete has also recently been an apparent evolution n the legal standards and
regulations courts and the U.S. patent office may apply in favorably evaluating software patent rights. We are not currertly involved in any material mtellectual
property lkigation; however, we may be a party to such litigation in the future to protect our proprietary information, trade secrets, know-how, and other
intellectual property rights, We cannot assure you that thicd-parties will not assert infringsment or misappropriation claims against us with respect to current or
future products, Any claims or litigation, with or without merit, could be time-consuming, costly, and a divetsion to management, Any such clims and litigation
could also cause product shipment delays or require Us to enter into royalty or licensing arrangernents. Such royalty or licensing arrangements, if required, may
not be available on terms acceptable to s, if at all. Therefore, litigation to defend and enforce our intellectual property rights could have a material adverse
effect on our business, regardless of the final outcome of such litigation.

Clients may elect to terminate our maintenance contracts and manage operafions internally.

It is possible that out clients may elect to net renew maintenance contracts for our software, trying instead to maintain and operate the sofiware themselves
using their perpetual license rights (excluding software applications that we provide on a hosted or cloud basis). This could adversely affect our revenues and
profits. Additionally, they may inadvertently allow our intellectual property or olher information to fall into the hands of third-parties, inchiding our cotmpetitors,
which could adversely affect our business.

Material portions of our business require the Internet infrastructure to be further developed or adequately maintained.

Part of our future success depends on the use of the Internet as a imeans to access public information and perform transactions electronically, including, for
oxample, electronic fiting of court documents. This in part requires the further development and maintenance of the Internet infrastructure, Among other things,
this further development and maintenance will require » reliable netwotk backbono with the necessary speed, data capacity, security, and tinely development
of complementary products for providing relable Internet access and services. If this inftastructurc fails to be further developed or be adequately maintained,
our business would be harmed because users may not be able to access our government portals.
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Risks Associnted with Selling Produets and Services into the Public Sector Markelplace
Selling products and services into the public sector poses unigue challenges.

We derive substantially all of our revenues from sales of software and services to state, county, and city governments, other municipal egencies, and other
public entitics. We expect that sales to public sector clients will continue to account for substantially all of our revenues in the future. We face many risks and
challenges associated with contracting with governmental entities, including

«  Resource liniiations caused by budgetary constraints, which may provide for a termination of executed contracts due to a lack of fiture funding
+  Long and complex sales cycles

+  Confract payments at times being subject to achieving implementation milestones, and we may have differences with clients as to whether milestones have
been achieved

«  Political resistance to the concept of contracting with third~partics to provide 1T solutions

»  Legisltive changes affecting a local government's autherity to contract with third-parties

*  Varying bid procedures and tenal processes for bid acceptance

»  Various other political factors, including changes in governmental administrations and personnel

Ench of these risks is outside our control, If we fail ko adequately adapt to these risks and uncertainties, our financial performance could be adversely affected.
A prolonged economic slowdown could harm our operations.

A prolonged economic slowdown or recession could reduce demand for our software products and services. Governments may face financial pressures that
could in turn affect our growth rate and profitability in the future. There is no assurance that government spending levels will be unaffected by declining or

stagnant genetal ecanomic conditions, and if budget shortfall cocur, they may negatively inpact government 1T spending and could adversely affect our
business.

The open bidding process creates uncertainty in predicting future contract awards.

Many governmental agencies purchase products and services through an open bidding process. Generally, a governmental entity will publish an established list
of requitements requesting potential vendors to propose solutions for the established requirements, To respond successtully to these requests for proposals, we
must accurately estimate our cost structure for servicing a proposed contract, the time required to establish operations for the proposed client, and the likely
terms of any other third-party proposals submitted. We camnot guarantee that we will win any bids in the future through the request for proposal process, or
that any winning bids will ultimately result in contracts on favorable terms. Qur failure to secure contracts through the open bidding process, or to secure such
contracts on favorable terms, may adversely affect our revenue and gross margios.

We face significant competition from other vendors and potental new entrants into our markels.

We believe we ate a leading provider of integrated solutions for the public sector. However, we face competition from a variety of soflware vendors that offer
products and services similar to those offered by us, as well ag from companies offeting to develop custom software. We compete based on a number of
tactors, including

+  The attractiveness of our “evergroen” business strategy

+  The breadth, depth, and quality of out product and service offerings

+  The ability to modify our offerings to accommodate particular clients’ needs
= Technological innovation

«  Name recognition, reputation and reforences
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«  DPrice
»  Our financial strength and stability

We believe our market is highly fragmented with & large number of competitors that vary i size, product platform, and product scope. Our competitors include
consulting firms, publicly held companies that focus on selected segments of the public sector market, and a significant number of smaller, privately hekl
companics. Certain competitors have greater technical, murkeling, and financial resources than we do. We cannot assure you that such competitors will not
develop products or offer services that are superior to our products or services or that achieve greater market acceptance.

We also compete with internial, centralized IT departments of governmental entitics, which requires us to persvade the end-user to stop the interna! servive and
outsotiree to us. n addition, our clients and prospective clients coukd elect to provide information management services internally through new or existing
departments, which could reduce the market for our setvices,

We coukl face additional competition as other established and emerging companies enter the public sector software application market and new products und
technologies are introduced. Incrensed competition could result in pricing pressure, fower client orders, reduced gross margins, and loss of market shave.
Current and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among thomselves or with third-parties, thereby
increasing the ability of their products to address the needs of our prospective clients. Tt is possible that new competitors or alliances may emerge and rapidly
gain significant market share. We cannot assure you that we will be uble to compete suceessfily against current and future competitors, and the failure to do
30 would have & material adverse effect upon our business,

Fixed-price contracts may affect our profits.

Sorme of out contracts are structured on & fixed-price basis, which can lead to various risks, including

«  The failure to accurately estimate the resources and time required for an engagement

«  The failure to effectively manage our clients” expectations regarding the scope of services delivered for a fixed fee
+  The failure to timely and satisfactorily complete fixed-price engagements within budget

If we do not adequately assess and manage these and other risks, we may be subject to cost overruns and penalties, which may harm our financial
performance,

Changes in the insurance markeis may affect our business.

Some of our clients, primarily those for our property appraisal services, requice that we sccure perfortance bonds before they will select us as their vendor. In
addition, we have in the past bees required to provide lotters of credit as seeurity for the issuance of a performance bond. We cannol guarantee that we will be
able to secure such performance bonds in the futuee on terms that are favorable to us, ifat oll, Our inability to obtain performance bonds on favorable terms or
at all could impact our future ability to win some contract awards, particularly large property appraisal services conlracls, which could negatively impact
revenues. Tn addition, the general insurance markets may experience volatility, which may lead to future increases in our general and administrative expenses
and negatively Impact our operating resuls.
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Risks Associated with Owr Periodic Resalts and Stock Price

Fluctuations in quarterly revenue could adyersely impact our operating results and stock price,

Our revenmes and operating results are ditficult to predict and may flnctuate substantially from quarter to quarter for a vatiety of reasons, including

+  Prospective clients’ contracting decisions are often made in the last few weeks of a quarter

+  The size of license transactions can vary significantly

«  Clients may unexpectedly postpone or cance] procurement processes due to changes in strategic priorities, project objectives, budget, or personnel

+  Client purchasing processes vary significantly and a client’s internal approval, expenditure authorization, and contract negotiation processes can be difficult
and time consuming to complete, even after selection of a vendor

«  The number, timing, and significance of softwate product enhancements and new software product announcements by us and our competitors may affect
purchase decisions

«  We may have to defer revenves vnder our revenue recoghition policies and GAAP

o Clie